COLLEGE STUDENT PERSPECTIVES OF FOOD INSECURITY DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC: A PHOTO-ELICITATION NARRATIVE INQUIRY

A Dissertation

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Educational Leadership

Sam Houston State University

In Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

by

Kathleen Crowley Gilbert

August 2021

COLLEGE STUDENT PERSPECTIVES OF FOOD INSECURITY DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC: A PHOTO-ELICITATION NARRATIVE INQUIRY

by

Kathleen Crowley Gilbert

APPROVED:

Paul Eaton, PhD Committee Director

Ricardo Montelongo, PhD Committee Member

Jennifer Bunn, PhD Committee Member

Stacey L. Edmonson, EdD Dean, College of Education

ABSTRACT

Gilbert, Kathleen Crowley, *College student perspectives of food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic: A photo-elicitation narrative inquiry.* Doctor of Education (Higher Education Leadership), August 2021, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas.

Food insecurity is a phenomenon with vast and deep implications on a college student's personal and academic experience. In the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, some college students faced exacerbated food insecurity due to campus closings, fluctuating hours and availability of food options on campus, shifting living arrangements (e.g., limited or no on campus housing), and a global economic recession. Previous scholarship has primarily focused research from the perspective of the student at one point in time without consideration of social identities within political and historical contexts. Employing narrative inquiry and photo elicitation through the lens of intersectionality theory, this study will examine marginalized college student experiences with food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic. Specifically, the inquiry seeks to explore how intersecting social identities of students influenced internal and external campus support systems, perceptions of food insecurity on academic performance, and higher education's general response to the twin crises of a global pandemic and college student food insecurity. This research will extend existing knowledge of the lived experiences of food insecure college students and provide insight on the inequities encountered through higher education's power systems, policies, and practices during the pandemic.

KEY WORDS: Food insecurity, College student, Higher education, Pandemic, Food secure, COVID-19, Economic recession.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I wish to thank my dissertation committee. Without their guidance, I would not have made it. Dr. Paul Eaton, my chair, whose expertise was invaluable in formulating the research questions and methodology. You went above and beyond in assisting me complete this work and taught me so much more about the profession and leadership. Dr. Ricardo Montelongo, and Dr. Jennifer Bunn, served as committee members, and provided me with the insightful feedback that I needed to choose the right direction and successfully complete my dissertation. Additionally, I want to thank Dr. Rodney Runyan for supporting my efforts and always challenging me to bring my work to a higher level.

To my husband, Chris, and children, Colton and Jakson, you were with me every step of the journey, and believed in me when I didn't believe in myself. I love you three more than you will ever know. I would also like to acknowledge my sister, thank you for being my hero, always. To my parents, thank you for always showing me I could go as far as I chose to go in life. To my colleagues and work family, you were my sound board and cheerleaders and I am so grateful to you. Team Awesome, thank you for keeping me motivated, as getting through this degree was made possible sharing laughs, tears, and painstaking long nights, with some of the most talented researchers and best friends a person could ask for. This work was completed in the loving memory of Brian Hanson, you are missed deeply, and know I kept my promise. I thank each of you for making this possible for me. It really takes a village to make dreams become a reality, and I for one never completed this journey alone. This is for everyone, who loved, supported, and believed in me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ABSTRACTiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTSv
LIST OF TABLESviii
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION
Statement of Problem
Purpose Statement
Significance of the Study4
Definition of Terms
Theoretical Framework
Research Questions
Limitations 12
Delimitations
Assumptions
Organization of the Study
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE
Food Insecurity in the United States and Higher Education Prior to the Pandemic 15
Higher Education Food Insecurity Due to the Pandemic
Student Demographics and Risk Factors for Food Insecurity
Student Support Systems and Barriers to Access of Resources

	Student Food Insecurity and Academic Outcomes	35
	Intersectionality, Higher Education, and Food Insecurity	39
	Narrative Inquiry, Photo Elicitation, and Food Insecurity	43
	Conclusion	44
СН	APTER III: RESEARCH METHODS	46
	Review of Research Questions	46
	Qualitative Research Design	47
	Methodology: Narrative Inquiry	48
	Theoretical Framework: Intersectionality	50
	Research Paradigm	52
	Participants and Setting	53
	Data Collection	56
	Verification	63
	Data Analysis	64
	Trustworthiness	66
	Threats to Internal Credibility	68
	Threats to External Credibility	69
	Role of the Researcher	70
	Conclusion	71
СН	APTER IV: ANALYSIS OF DATA	72
	Colette	75
	Juan	88
		1.0.1

Adrian	110
Xiomara	125
Cross Cutting Narrative Themes	133
Conclusion	146
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION, IMPLICATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	147
Discussion of Findings	148
Food Insecurity during the COVID-19 Pandemic	149
Intersecting Oppression Related to Food Insecurity during the COVID-19	
Pandemic	150
Intuitional Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic	152
Limitations	153
Higher Education Policy and Practice Implications	154
Theoretical Implications	160
Future Research	161
Conclusion	162
REFERENCES	163
APPENDIX A	208
APPENDIX B	210
APPENDIX C	215
APPENDIX D	217
APPENDIX E	220
APPENDIX F	221
VIT A	224

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Pre-Interview Self-Identified Participant Demographics and Profiles	74

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Figure Pa	
1	Apartment Pantry	84
2	Ramen and Rice	86
3	Groceries	87
4	All I Have	98
5	Rationing	99
6	Essential Work	. 100
7	Efficient Meals	. 107
8	Abuelita's Home Cooking	. 108
9	Campus Pantry Items	. 109
10	A Weeks' Worth of Groceries	. 120
11	Get-Well	. 122
12	Not What You Think	. 124
13	Dad's Fridge	. 130
14	Mom's Cooking	. 132

CHAPTER I

Introduction

The World Food Program (2020) warned in their report that the health and economic threat of COVID-19 would trigger an international food security crisis.

Disruptions to food supply chains could create food shortages as the world continues grappling with a shifting virus and its impact. Further, the economy is unstable.

Unemployment has been see-sawing back and forth, reaching as high as 14.7% in the United States, with many people underemployed (U.S. Department of Labor and Statistics, 2020). By November 2020, more than 50 million individuals faced food insecurity caused or enhanced by the economic recession generated by the pandemic (Feeding America, 2020). Food is a vital provision to sustain life; it is an essential basic human right. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (United Nations, 1948) Article 25 states:

Everyone has the right to a standard of living adequate for the health and well-being of myself and of his [sic] family, including food, clothing, housing, medical care, and necessary social services, and the right to securing in the event of unemployment, sickness, disability, widowhood, old age or other lack of livelihood in circumstances beyond his [sic] control (p. 7).

The Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (FAO) distinguishes four conditions be met for an individual to be considered food secure: (a) access, (b) availability, (c) utilization, and (d) stability. If one of these conditions are not met, an individual is considered food insecure. Food insecurity is defined as inadequate or unpredictable obtainability of nutritionally sufficient and culturally appropriate foods or

lacking the means or capacity to secure provisions through socially accepted means (Anderson, 1990; Hamilton et al., 1997). It is a prominent global public health concern and matter of social justice, becoming more egregious as the pandemic continues.

Throughout the United States, various federal, state, and local organizations have established food assistance programs to provide sufficient food access to the overall and targeted sub-group populations (e.g., families and individuals low socioeconomic status, persons 65 years and older, and children and adolescents attending public schools) (Feeding America, 2020). However, these organizations have become overwhelmed and are struggling to meet the demand as thousands of individuals, many for the first time, are facing food insecurity due to the economic recession caused by the global pandemic. As reported by Feeding America (2019), in 2019 nearly 40 million individuals in the United States benefitted from free meal programs and visited over 60,000 food banks and soup kitchens. Food insecurity projections based on historic trends estimate between 4.1 million to 17.1 million more individuals will experience food insecurity as the economic recession from the pandemic continues (Feeding America, 2020).

Universities are not exempt from assisting their students as more grapple with acute or moderate food insecurity. Prior to the pandemic, several researchers (Cady, 2014; El Zein et al., 2018; Gaines et al., 2014; Freudenberg et al., 2019; Shanafelt et al., 2016) had explored food insecurity rates among college students and reported rates 12% higher than for the overall U.S. population. Reasons for significantly higher food insecurity rates among this sub-population included high college tuition costs, weak employment markets, federal and state food assistant program requirements that exclude college students, and insufficient academic and personal financial resources (Cady, 2014;

Freudenberg et al., 2019; Stettner & Novello, 2020). In a collaborative study by universities in the United Kingdom (UK) and United States (U.S.), approximately 41% of students surveyed were concerned they would not have enough food during university closures caused by the pandemic (Defeyter et al., 2020). Also noted within the study, 35% of those students reported experiencing acute or moderate levels of food insecurity (Defeyter et al., 2020).

Statement of Problem

Food insecurity within institutions of higher education has been a growing and recognized concern within higher education (Adamovic et al., 2020; Cady, 2014; Lee et al., 2018; Payne-Sturges et al., 2017). Before COVID-19, tuition costs and student loan debt were significant contributing factors to food insecurity (Gaines et al., 2014; Maynard, et al., 2018; Twill et al., 2016), and are now compounded by a volatile economy and a reduction in financial aid packages (Ochs Rosinger, 2019). Students are being confronted with substantial unmet financial needs that surpass their available resources, directly influencing their ability to address their basic needs including food and housing (Cheng et al., 2017; Morrissey, 2019; Niles et al., 2020).

Even prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, students were struggling with food insecurity. A 2018 nationwide survey jointly conducted between Temple University and the Wisconsin HOPE Lab (Goldrick-Rab, et al., 2018), identified 1 in 3 students as food insecure, described as grappling with obtaining sufficient food supply within the past 30 days. In the wake of COVID-19, university closures and mass layoffs have driven some students to experience food insecurity for the first time and amplified the distress for those already struggling with the issue. Much is still unknown as to how students have

been both directly and/or indirectly impacted due to the pandemic regarding their food security status.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative study is to gain awareness and understanding into food insecurity experienced by college students during the COVID-19 pandemic utilizing an intersectional framework. The study will examine how intersecting social identities of students influenced internal and external campus support systems, perceptions of food insecurity on academic performance, and higher education's general response to the twin crises of a global pandemic and college student food insecurity.

Significance of the Study

The significance of this study is the centering of student narratives of food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic through intersectional data collection and analytical approaches. In addition to narrative inquiry, the study harnesses photo elicitation methodology and intersectionality theory in its design. Narrative inquiry examines a participant's lived experiences and the meaning they interpret through their voice (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). Employing the use of photo elicitation will support and stimulate participants' perspectives, enhancing the narrative interviews, and allowing a greater insight into how college students experienced food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic (Latz, 2017). Through the framework of intersectionality, the study will extend existing knowledge of the lived experiences of food insecure college students and provide insight on the inequities encountered through higher education's power systems, policies, and practices during the pandemic.

Countless students rely on university housing, dining halls, and work-study programs for their primary housing, food, and income needs (Baum, 2019; Cady, 2014; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2018). Currently, no peer-reviewed research covers the topic of student food insecurity during a global pandemic and economic recession or how higher education's response impacted students (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2017). To understand this phenomenon is to examine the issue during the present time (Nord et al., 2011). By exploring the phenomena, college administrators will be able to identify the on and off campus support mechanisms students relied on during the pandemic and economic fallout to meet their basic and academic needs. Greater pressure is being placed on universities to fill the void as students and families suffering from food insecurity have risen drastically due to COVID-19 (Lowe, 2020; Wolcott, 2020). Finally, in the absence of university policies to assist food insecure students on campus, the outcomes of the study could be considered to guide administrators and legislators for permanent change to support students during future pandemics and disasters. The study has the potential to inform college and university administrators, legislators, food programs, and non-profit groups on the experiences of food insecurity during one pandemic for this specific subpopulation of college students. Insights may help inform policy, practice, and preparation.

Definition of Terms

In this section, I provide definitions for the following terms noted and defined in professional and academic scholarship for the framework of this research: food insecurity, food security, economic recession, pandemic, and novel coronavirus.

Food Security: The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) has defined as "the access by all people at all times to enough food for an active, healthy life" (USDA, 2020). Food secure individuals have the means to promptly obtain nutritionally sufficient foods and are able to obtain these provisions through socially accepted means (i.e., excluding scavenging and stealing for food) (Anderson, 1990; Nord et al., 2009).

Food Insecurity: the restricted access to nutritionally sufficient and culturally appropriate foods that can be acquired in a socially accepted manner (Anderson, 1990; Hamilton et al., 1997) and is a condition resulting from the absence of financial and physical resources (i.e., proximity to food supply chains, transportation, etc.) that in turn restricts food access (Bickel et al., 2000). Food insecurity is assessed through levels based on the responses of a survey produced by the USDA and is contingent on an individual's variation of reduced quality, assortment, or value of diet in addition to skipping meals or forgoing entire days without eating (Nord et al., 2011). The USDA classifies individuals along a continuum ranging in severity: very low food security, low food security, marginal food security, and food secure (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2020). Regarding this scale, food insecurity is classified withing low and very low food security categories.

Pandemic: defined as an outbreak and global spread of a new disease and is typically used when an outbreak is caused by a strain of influenza (CDC, 2020b). Other than strains of the flu, no other respiratory illness has been documented from its origin to community spread. However, due to the lack of understanding of COVID-19 transmission and global spread, it has been deemed a pandemic. In late January 2020 the World Health Organization (2020) declared the novel coronavirus outbreak a "public"

health emergency of international concern" (WHO, 2020), as the virus spread at rapid pace across continents. The public health crisis was deemed a pandemic on March 11, 2020, by the World Health Organization (CDC, 2020a). However, there is no actual scientific definition of what constitutes a pandemic (CDC, 2020a).

Economic Recession: is a breakdown of local, state, national, or global economies occurring during a time of crisis. Also referred to as economic recession, can occur rapidly due to unforeseen events, or over a period of time by known circumstances. An economic recession is identified as a normal part of the economic cycle, as it is decline of normal market conditions (Altman, 2009).

Novel Coronavirus: also known as COVID-19, is a virus that targets and affects cells in the respiratory system (CDC, 2020b). COVID-19 is a new and undocumented strain of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) that has the ability to cause acute respiratory distress in an individual. The virus is responsible for over 1,500,000 deaths worldwide, and over 380,000 deaths in the United States at the time of this writing (CDC, 2020b). Due to the widespread, speedy transmission of the virus, worldwide travel restrictions and economic shutdowns have occurred, resulting in many regions worldwide experiencing an economic recession (CDC, 2020a).

Theoretical Framework

This study is guided by intersectionality theory. The development of intersectionality "challenged the notion that 'gender' was the primary factor determining a woman's fate" (hooks, 2014, p. 11) The past omission of black women throughout the feminist movement in the United States inspired Black 19th and 20th-century feminists who strongly opposed their chronicled oppression to develop the theory. Intersectionality

theory formally emerged in the early 1970s during the feminist movement, as Black women were unable to associate with concerns of conventional (White) feminists (Crenshaw, 1989). Black women were confronted with sexism while contributing to the Civil Rights movement, being completely disregarded for consideration of any leadership role (McCall, 2005). The compounded perspective of encountering racism in the feminist movement and sexism within the civil rights movement propelled black women to organize a feminist framework that focused their intersectional experiences of oppression. Understanding that the types of persecution faced by White women contrasted greatly from those experienced by Black women, Black feminists investigated methods to recognize in what way gender, race, sexuality, and socioeconomic class intersected (Combahee River Collective, 1974).

Kimberlé Crenshaw popularized the term intersectionality in 1989. In her work, Crenshaw (1989) defined intersectionality as individuals existing at intersections of overlapping systems of privilege and oppression. This theoretical framework stemmed from the critiques raised by feminist and critical race theories, with postmodernism and post-structuralism as theoretical influences. Intersectionality theory emphasized how individuals' social identities (race, class, gender, sexual orientation, religion, and (dis)ability) intersect to create differential experiences of oppression. Crenshaw (1989) maintained that race-only or gender-only frameworks perpetuated partial and inadequate analyses of the social injustices that illustrated Black women's lives, and that race, gender, socioeconomic class, and sexuality all influenced Black women's lived experiences.

Intersectionality, as a theoretical framework and multidimensional lens, has evolved into a variety of approaches intended to explore previously understudied origins of identity and their correlation to unequal social outcomes (International Encyclopedia, 2015). The framework has become a prominent facet of the critical vocabularies of queer and feminist studies and is employed in the scholarship of gender, queer, and ethnic studies (Talwar, 2010). Intersectionality places emphasis on lived experiences and the examination of identity salience subjected by systems of power and privilege and the interconnecting dispositions of such systems. It operates mutually as the analysis of power inequities, and the means by which the power inequities could be abolished. Intersectionality is not a theory of difference; it is a theory of oppression. Intersectionality recognizes that an individual's converging identities (e.g., "female" and "black") codependently exists as each identity informs the other, often creating a multifaceted junction of privilege and oppression. Hankivsky (2014) noted:

As researchers who employ intersectionality theory to analyze human experience beyond single categories of difference, it has been suggested that an intersectional approach is most qualified to critically investigate the complexity of multiple group similarities and differences, allowing evaluators to gain insight in the diversity-responsiveness of research, policy, and practice. (p. 238)

Viewing a student's experience through the lens of intersectionality is valuable in exploring the perception of food insecurity because food security "is based on a political analysis that challenges power structures blocking realization of the right to food" (Spieldoch, 2007, p. 12).

Food insecurity is often researched from the perspective of the individual at one point in time without the consideration of the social, political, and historical contexts that have influenced the individual's experience of food insecurity. Understanding how overlapping privileges and oppressions lead to the experience of food insecurity in the pandemic and a student's perspective regarding food security is critical in the comprehension of intersecting contexts (Younginer et al., 2015).

As universities and campuses have placed an emphasis on diversity and inclusion, higher education has employed the use of intersectionality theory through identity-based research (Bailey-Fakhoury & Frierson, 2017; Berrington et al., 2016; Dessel, 2015; Fenwick & Edwards, 2014; Gander, 2014; Jones & Abes, 2013; Miller, 2015; Phipps, 2017), but has not yet applied this theory in effort to understand the inequalities and systemic oppression experienced under the lens of food insecure college students. Therefore, the question remains about how research efforts to date have produced a more socially just institution. Considering the application of intersectionality within higher education research, it should be understood that, Intersectionality is not a label or an identity, it is an institutional practice. An individual or institution cannot simply be intersectional, individuals and institutions must enact intersectional feminist direct action, policy, and activism by purposefully centering and amplifying marginalized voices in the development of such acts in the first place (Poisson, 2018). The analysis of intersecting privileges and oppressions will provide insight in understanding the impacts of food insecurity during the pandemic and economic recession, as individuals will navigate the university's response differently.

Through the application of intersectionality theory in this study, college students will not be assumed as a homogenous collective, offering an understanding of how forms of power and systemic oppression influence a student's food security and potential barriers to food access during the pandemic and economic recession (Lokot & Avakyan, 2020; Ryan & Ayadi, 2020). The use of intersectionality theory will challenge the narrative of college students being a uniform collective offering a broad approach in conceptualizing how power systems and systemic marginalization during the pandemic and economic recession shaped a student's life experience concerning food security. Furthermore, the use of this theory will offer a critical approach in addressing higher education power systems that perpetuate inequities. Intersectionality will provide a multifaceted lens to the inequities faced by students who are unable to meet their basic needs as they navigate an educational system not designed for them (Bešić, 2020; Cassidy & Jackson, 2007; Giroix, 2010; Goldrick-Rab, 2016). Dominguez-Whitehead (2016) noted that employing the use of a social justice framework necessitates a broader lens in which to view food concerns that negatively impact a student's learning opportunities and academic outcomes. Intersectionality employed in this study will inform higher education researchers, policy makers, and administrators seeking to understand how the pandemic and economic recession affects the lives of food insecure students, bringing to light existing inequalities in an effort to provide a socially just campus through needed student support services and restructured institutional policies and practices.

Research Questions

The research questions were formulated based upon a review of the literature, which revealed a lack of scholarship of college student food insecurity through intersectional perspectives, coupled with a pandemic and economic recession.

- 1. How did college students experience food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession?
- 2. How do college students experience of intersecting oppressions (institutional, social, and cultural) arising from their social and personal identities (i.e., age, race, gender, sexual orientation, (dis)ability, religion/religious beliefs, international students, non-US citizens, and social class/socioeconomic status) shape the experience of food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic?
- 3. How did an institution's response to the COVID-19 pandemic influence a college student's food insecurity status and shape their academic performance?

Limitations

All forms of research, qualitative and quantitative, present limitations to a study's outcomes and findings (Creswell, 2015; Ross & Zaidi, 2019). A limitation to this study is seeking participants at only one institution. A second limitation of the study is its restriction to individuals who self-select to participate. As data will be collected through semi-structured interviews with open-ended questions, the study is limited to the self-reported experience of each of the participants.

Delimitations

I decided to perform this study at one 4-year public institution in southeast Texas. Another delimitation of my research was my decision to select participants who actively received services from the selected institution's on-campus food pantry at least once since March 2020. While some participants will be discussing their experiences from a reflective perspective, most will be discussing their experiences as developing in the moment as the pandemic and institution's response is ongoing. Data collection will be conducted through two interviews to be held through an online meeting service (i.e., Zoom), in addition to photo-elicitation in which participants will provide three original photos to be submitted as part of the inquiry. The decision to host interviews and collect photos through an online method offers the safest research protocols during the pandemic for both the participants and me.

Assumptions

The key underlying assumption of my study is the belief that all the participants in my study will respond honestly and candidly during the interview process. Additionally, I am assuming that the responses provided are an accurate representation of each participant's personal experience, resulting in trustworthy data. Declining to identify these assumptions would represent data that are not reflective of the lived experiences of students.

Organization of the Study

Through this photo elicitation narrative inquiry, I will investigate students experiencing food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession.

Research questions are centered on how students make meaning of their lived

experiences with food insecurity during this unprecedented time. Intersectionality will be used as a framework in understanding experiences through interaction of social identities and how these are interconnected to produce experiences of both privilege and marginalization at the individual level. Chapter II presents a review of the literature demonstrating the complexity of food insecurity in the wake of a pandemic, encompassing literature reflecting (a) the extent of food insecurity in the U.S. and Higher Education prior to and during COVID-19; (b) student demographics and risk factors of food insecurity within higher education institutions; (c) student support mechanisms; (d) barriers to access of resources; (e) how academics are influenced by food insecurity; and (f) how narrative inquiry and photo-elicitation have been used to explore food insecurity in previous research. In Chapter III, I describe the research process (i.e., population, sampling, data collection, and procedures) and methodology. Chapter IV will provide the findings of my analysis. Lastly, in Chapter V, I will present an explanation of the experiences had by participants, provide an overview of the research conducted, summary of significant findings, implications, suggestions, and recommendations for future research.

CHAPTER II

Review of the Literature

Prior to the COVID-19 global pandemic and economic recession, the most current U.S. government reported data indicated that food insecurity affected one in seven households (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2018). A 2018 study of 43,000 students recorded 36% of college students had experienced food insecurity during some point within the past 30 days (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2018). Understanding the previously mentioned data illustrates millions of individuals face food insecurity during normal institutional and university operations. Extended university closures caused by the pandemic, or complete shutdowns due to economic factors, could place millions more at risk. There is currently no research examining how students experienced the pandemic and food insecurity. To recognize the complexity of food insecurity in the wake of a pandemic, literature reflecting the following will be examined: (a) the scope of food insecurity in the United States, and Higher Education, prior to and during COVID; (b) student demographics and risk factors of food insecurity within higher education institutions; (c) student support mechanisms and barriers to access of resources; and (d) how academics are influenced by food insecurity.

Food Insecurity in the United States and Higher Education Prior to the Pandemic

In 2019, prior to the onset of COVID-19, it was estimated more than 800 million individuals globally suffered from acute and chronic food insecurity. Armed government/civil conflicts, natural disasters, and economic shocks activate acute and chronic food insecurity, as each of these can disrupt global food supply chains and increase food price volatility. The United Nations World Food Program's (WFP) Global

Report on Food Crisis (2020) reported that 2019 had the highest number of individuals affected by any level of food insecurity since 2015. 135 million individuals in 55 countries have endured acute food crisis, with an additional 183 million on the cusp of slipping into that category (UNICEF, 2019; WFP, 2020). Worldwide it is estimated that one in three children under the age of five suffer from acute and severe food insecurity (UNICEF, 2019; WFP, 2020). Further, one in two children globally suffers from *hidden hunger* when the quality of food lacks the sufficient nutrient requirements needed for proper growth and development (Stein & Qaim, 2007).

During 2019, more than 38 million families in the United States lived in poverty, affecting more than 11 million children (Feeding America, 2020). Households experiencing poverty often report using multiple strategies and resources to ensure undisrupted food access (Feeding America, 2020). There is no single community in the United States that is immune to food insecurity, as both rural and urban communities struggle with this crisis. A nationally recognized network of 200-member food banks, known as Feeding America, has provided nutritional support to approximately 46.5 million Americans every year since its inception (Weinfield et al., 2014). Through the Feeding America network, the nation's comprehensive research study series, Hunger in America, was designed as a "series of quadrennial studies that provided comprehensive demographic profiles of people seeking food assistance through the charitable sector" (Wienfield et al., 2014, p. 155). This sixth part of the study series employed the USDA's six-item Core Food Security Module, with the survey focusing on food security and assistance. The results of the study series indicated 84% of individuals who used one of the food banks within the vast network experienced moderate to acute food insecurity.

Ten percent of the total households surveyed identified as college students (Weinfield et al., 2014).

Additionally, over 90% of public and nonprofit private schools in the United States partake in the National School Lunch Program (NSLP) and School Breakfast Program (SBP). These programs offer free or reduced meals to low socioeconomic children in K-12 grade levels in an effort to reduce food insecurity (Huang & Barnidge, 2016). For children to qualify for these programs the household earnings must be at or below 130% of the poverty level to receive meals at no charge, and earnings between 130%-180% qualify for reduced meal pricing for the 2020-2021 academic year (School Nutrition Association, 2020). These programs serve over 31 million children a year, with research findings (Gundersen et al., 2012) indicating a six percent reduction in low food security of households with children who participate in NSLP. Empirical literature (Artegag & Heflin, 2014; Bartfeld & Dunifon, 2006; Gundersen et al., 2012; Kabbani & Kmeid, 2005) has suggested households with students who participate in the free or reduced meal programs have a lower likelihood of food insecurity than households whose students do not participate. However, once a student graduates from high school there is no college equivalent to free or reduced meal programs. Students who utilized school meal programs due to lack of financial resources will experience the same constraints enrolling in college (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2017).

Food Insecurity in Higher Education

In the past decade, researchers have centered on food insecurity among college students with findings indicating a significant prevalence. A Federal Government Accountability Office (2018) report on college student food insecurity estimated a range

from nine percent to just above 50%. There have been over 650 food pantries established within higher education institutions nationally (Goldrick-Rab, 2018). This provides evidence of the growing nationwide concern among higher education institutions as more are investing significant financial and physical resources to address students' basic needs.

Multiple surveys and reports show the prevalence of food insecurity on college campuses. In May 2011, 354 students were surveyed at Western Oregon University; among those students, 59% relayed being food insecure during some point in the year prior to the survey (Patton-Lopez et al., 2014). The data was a stark contrast to findings by the U.S. Department of Agriculture (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2012) reporting 14.5% of households were food insecure. Payne-Sturges et al. (2018) surveyed 237 students at a large mid-Atlantic 4-year institution and learned 15% of student respondents experienced food insecurity, and 16% of student respondents were at-risk for food insecurity. In similar surveys, two institutions in California, University of California and California State University, reported 40% and 42% of students, respectively, experiencing moderate to severe food insecurity (Crutchfield & Maguire, 2018; Martinez et al., 2016).

Levels of food insecurity vary widely among the vast majority of college institutional type (i.e., 4-year, 2-year, and vocational). Evaluations of student food insecurity frequencies in multiple studies (Blagg et al., 2017; Crutchfield & Maguire, 2018; Martinez et al., 2017; & Goldrick-Rab et al., 2018) reported higher rates at 2-year than at 4-year institutions. Goldrick-Rab et al. (2018) performed a large, multi-institution study determining 42% of community college students responded as being food insecure in the previous 30 days, and 36% of students at 4-year colleges. Blagg et al. (2017) employed data from the Current Population Survey (CPS), denoting nationally

representative approximations of food insecurity amid college students, observing food insecurity rates of households compared to students enrolled in 4-year, and 2- year colleges were comparable, being 11.2% and 13.5%, respectively. The authors' study concluded that one out of five students enrolled in a 2-year college is food insecure in a nationally representative sample, with estimated rates higher among sub-populations of the sample.

Higher Education Food Insecurity Due to the Pandemic

During the 2019-2020 Congress legislative session, seventeen bills were proposed on the floor aiming to address college student food insecurity (Laska et al., 2020). None of the proposals moved forward, just as equally as none of the four COVID-19 stimulus bills have included stipulations to address college student food insecurity. During the onset of the pandemic, the American Council on Education (Turk et al., 2020) surveyed 192 university presidents across the country, and only 15% considered student basic needs security as a pressing concern, compared to 86% reporting summer and fall enrollment seemed a greater concern. Enrollment is a pressing issue, especially as enrollment trends show a drop in marginalized populations, specifically low-income students; yet dropout rates are related to various concerns, with food insecurity among them (Turk et al., 2020). In Goldrick-Rab et al.'s (2020) report, college student food insecurity increased from 33% in fall 2019 to 38% in spring 2020, with three in five students surveyed in spring saying they could not meet their basic needs. The WFP (2020) now includes COVID-19 to be a key driver of acute food insecurity, estimating the number of individuals suffering from acute or moderate food crisis and insecurity to double. Students already experiencing acute food crises and insecurity prior to the

pandemic are expected to degenerate significantly as students face the economic implications due to the lockdown as well as confront managing the virus itself. It has been reported by The Hope Center for College, Community, and Justice since the start of the pandemic (i.e., April 20 – May 15) that now 3 out of every 5 students surveyed experienced basic needs insecurity. The online survey completed by 38,602 students indicated 38% and 44% of students enrolled in four-year institutions and two-year colleges, respectively, experienced food insecurity enhanced or caused by the pandemic.

Economic Recession

The primary source of food insecurity in the United States is insufficient income for unrestricted food access (Huang et al., 2016; Mammon et al., 2008; Nord et al., 2011; U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2017). Fluctuations within employment sectors burden student resources, and fixed academic schedules affects students battling to access employment markets that demand time flexibility (which are also the job sectors in all probability to be accessed by working students, such as positions within the service industry). In the second quarter of 2020, approximately 38,206 students were surveyed by The Hope Center in an expanded effort to explore basic needs security among college students. Seventy-four percent of students disclosed being employed prior to the pandemic. When the pandemic began, 42% of students reported they lost their employment. Similarly, for students who had a reduction in pay or hours, 63% indicated basic needs insecurity (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020). In addition, among students who stated their employment status was not modified because of the pandemic, approximately 50% reported facing the challenge of basic needs insecurity, suggesting loss of employment simply intensified existing instabilities (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020).

In an effort to combat a crippling economy during the public health crisis in the United States, the Trump Administration injected a multi-trillion-dollar economic stimulus package providing support to business, education, and individuals (The White House, 2020). Further, the administration passed and signed into law two ad hoc social protection policies, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (2020) and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (2020). Included within the terms, the legislation strengthened food security programs through further capital spending in the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC), with funding for food banks and meal centers. Furthermore, the legislation ensured children who were reliant on free and reduced-priced meals had food available to them during school and daycare center closures.

The dramatic downturn in the United States economy, combined with stringent limitation on movement, has and will continue the increase of mass unemployment. Since the onset of the pandemic over 30 million individuals have filed for unemployment, and only 47% of those who have filed have received supplement funding (Long & Guskin, 2002; Stettner & Novello, 2020). Among the 19.3 million young adult workers between the ages 16 to 24, nearly 25% have lost their employment due to the pandemic (Pew Center, 2020; U.S. Bureau of Labor and Statistics, 2020). The loss of jobs within this age group is similar to prior recessions, as 9.2 million young adults are employed in high risks industries and service sector jobs (i.e., restaurants, hotels, retail, and transportation) (Kochhar, 2020; Kochhar & Barroso, 2020). Additionally, wages in high-risk and service sector industries are below national wage averages as workers within these industries earned an average weekly income in January 2020 of \$975. Comparatively, laborers in

food services and wine/cocktail establishments received on average \$394 per week (Kochhar, 2020; Kochhar & Barroso, 2020). Laborers in the other high-risk job sectors received an income ranging from around \$500 to \$600 per week, excluding transportation workers, who averaged an income of \$956 per week. In addition to low wages, majority of laborers in these job sectors do not have access to benefits (i.e., paid leave, telecommuting, and salary-based income), which individuals in other types of job sectors are exercising in following with social distancing guidelines (Kochhar, 2020).

According to a survey by the Kaiser Family Foundation (2020), one in four individuals reported either they or members of their household have skipped meals or have relied on charity or government funded programs during the pandemic. It is projected that the pandemic will significantly increase the number of individuals suffering from food insecurity and deepen the pre-existing food crisis as 37.2 million individuals in the United States existed in food-insecure households prior to the outbreak (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2018).

Student Demographics and Risk Factors for Food Insecurity

Demographics of students enrolled today no longer fit the description of what has historically been reflected as the traditional college student. A traditional college student is no longer the majority enrolled within intuitions, as the term is generally defined as an individual who attends college as full time student directly after completing high school, is not monetarily independent and requires support from their parents, and either is not employed or works part-time (NCES, n.d.). Today, the nontraditional student makes up most students enrolled, with the traditional college student as the ever-growing minority of students. This shift in college enrollment demographics is attributed to workforce

shifts, technology, and economic stability are just some of the factors related to this trend (CLASP, 2015; Wyatt, 2011)

In terms of financial support, students have vastly different levels. According to National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS) data, less than fifty percent of all undergraduate students attending college were deemed monetarily independent from their parents (Radwin et al., 2018). The study reported nearly 22% reported having dependent children (i.e., children between the ages of birth to 18), and 14% were single parent families. In 2016, the average age of an enrolled college student at 4-year public institutions was 26 years old and the average age of first enrolling was age 21 (Radwin et al., 2018).

Multiple researchers (Cady, 2014; El Zein et al., 2018; Freudenberg et al., 2019; Shanafelt et al., 2016) have explored food insecurity rates among college students reporting rates among this sub-population 12% higher than for the overall U.S. population. Reasons for significantly higher food insecurity rates among this sub-population included high college tuition costs, weak employment market, federal and state food assistant program requirements that exclude college students, and insufficient academic and personal financial resources (Cady, 2014; Freudenberg et al., 2019; Stettner & Novello, 2020). Student risk factors include low socioeconomic status, single parent, and marginalized populations (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2018; Kinarsky, 2017; King, 2017; Mabli et al., 2013; & Silva et al., 2017). In this section, aspects of socioeconomic status, race, ethnicity, gender, and dependent status will be described as it noted to affect a student's food security status.

Socioeconomic Status

Over the past several decades, researchers (Broton, 2017; El Zein et al., 2018; Gains et al, 2014; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2017; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2018) have reported a rising percentage of students from low socioeconomic households are enrolling and attending college. The Pell Grant, the largest source of need based federal financial aid program, was designed to provide subsidies to financially disadvantaged students in an effort to widen higher education access as well as increase affordability (Turner, 2014). When first established, the Pell Grant covered nearly 40% of a student's tuition and fees; however, presently the Pell Grant barely covers 20% of a student's tuition bill at a 4-year public institution (Diamond et al., 2019). As tuition costs rise and financial assistance decreases, financially disadvantaged students are predisposed to experiencing reduced accessibility to nutritious food options (Freudenberg et al., 2011; Patton-López et al., 2014). Accordant with NPSAS data, the percentage of undergraduates who had household net income at or below 130% of the federal poverty line climbed from 28% to 39% in twenty years (Radwin et al., 2018). Simultaneously, the percentage of college students accepting Pell Grants for financial aid has practically doubled over the same time frame. In the 1999-2000 academic year, nearly 23% of college students accepted a Pell Grant, and in 2016, this number was 40% (Radwin et al., 2018). Some researchers (Barr & McClellan, 2017; CIC, 2017; Flores & Shepard, 2014) have implied that cutbacks in federal and state monies toward higher education comparative to the mounting price tag of college tuition have combined with this particular student demographic increasing the burden of costs onto students, which reduces a student's financial ability to fund their basic needs.

A low-socioeconomic status is deemed the key risk factor to food insecurity (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2019; Coleman-Jensen et al., 2020; U.S. Government Accountability Office, 2018). Corresponding to the U.S. GAO report, the National Postsecondary Student Aid Study data indicated college enrollment as continued to increase in the number of students who are deemed low income. Federal grants offer support to students in to cover some of the costs for higher education, however, costs related with higher education have also continued to climb (U.S. Government Accountability Office, 2018). Additionally, many grants and other sources of financial aid do not cover all the costs of college attendance (Barr & Turner, 2014; Bricker et al., 2014; Broton & Goldrick-Rab, 2017; Goldrick-Rab et al, 2019). Food expenses on campuses may also be high relative to students' financial resources (Calvez et al., 2016). Students with limited income and who lack financial resources are some of the obstacles in meeting their basic needs (Gaines et al., 2014; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2017) and some must make a financial decision between buying course materials (i.e., books, calculators, or technology) or food (Dubick et al., 2016). Devoid of sufficient financial resources and stability for food, countless students go hungry (Broton & Goldrick-Rab, 2017).

Twenty-nine percent of undergraduates have reported low wages and are subjected to one or more additional risk factors contributing to food insecurity, according to the 2016 NPSAS data (Rawdin et al., 2018). Reported by Rawdin et al. (2018) nearly 14% reported low wages and one additional risk factor and 15% reported low wages and two or more additional risk factors associated with food insecurity. Risk factors correlated with food insecurity are more widespread among low-income students than the conventional student population, with 75% of low-income students encountering one or

more additional risk factors. Students enrolled at 2-year colleges and vocational programs are more likely to have multiple risk factors.

Dependents. College students who have dependents incur additional financial hardships that influence the student's food security status. Seventy-seven percent of 301 undergraduate students surveyed at two community colleges identified as single parents who were at high-risk food insecure for food insecurity (Maroto et al., 2015). Gault et al. (2016) reported 4.8 million students were parenting dependent children, as one in four students enrolled in higher education report having one or more dependents while enrolled. Seventy-one percent of all students who have dependents identify as single parents (Gault et al., 2014), with 43% of the total student parent population identifying as single and female. More dependents equate to additional financial hardships, that in turn influence a student's experience with food insecurity and how they seek how out support and resources (Resnikoff, 2014).

Marginalized Populations. High rates of food insecurity have been associated with marginalized populations (i.e., racial/ethnic minorities, LGBTQI* community, and individuals with mental and physical disabilities). Bruenig et al. (2016) estimates one-third of college students are food insecure and students with marginalized identities are most likely to suffer at increased rates due to inequitable power systems within higher education and society as a whole (Bruenig et al., 2017; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2015; Martinez-Aleman et al., 2015). Black/African American students are considered moderate or high-risk for food insecurity, statistically higher than any other race/ethnicity (Chaparro et al., 2009; Payne-Sturges et al., 2018). Fifty-seven percent of Black students responded to a survey as having to experience moderate to severe food insecurity, as

opposed to only 40% of White students surveyed (Dubick et al., 2016). Collectively, marginalized populations (i.e., BIPOC, LGBTQI*, women, and persons with a disability) reported having higher incident rates of food insecurity than the entire U.S. population (Cady, 2014; Wilson & Conron, 2020).

In the United States, Latinx, African American, and other minoritized students are predisposed to have a higher probability of food insecurity (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2016), as research has established the intersectional relationship between race/ethnicity and food insecurity being interconnected to established determinants including socioeconomic status, employment status, and household status (Kaiser et al., 2004: Kochher & Fry, 2014; Odoms-Young & Bruce, 2018). During the pandemic Goldrick-Rab et al. (2020) surveyed students from 54 colleges across the United States, with over 35,000 student respondents, and revealed 71% of Black students and 65% of Latinx students responded as lacking basic needs security, compared to White student respondents. Additionally, in the report, other ethnic populations (i.e., Indigenous, Middle Eastern, American Indian, or Pacific Islander) experienced basic needs insecurity rates 15% to 22% greater than White students.

It is estimated in 2019 that over 3 million individuals, or 27%, in the LGBTQI* community have experienced food insecurity (Wilson & Conron, 2020). Broken down into subpopulations, young adults (i.e., ages 18-34) experience a statistically significant higher rate, nearly 30%, as compared to other age groups. Regarding race and ethnicity within the LGBTQI* community, Black and Latinx LGBTQI* individuals reported food insecurity rates of 10% and 6% higher, respectively, when compared to White and Asian subpopulations (Wilson & Conron, 2020).

Several studies (Freudenberg et al., 2011; Morris et al., 2016; Niles, et al., 2020; Patton-Lopez et al., 2014; Wilson & Conron, 2020) have found disparities of food security status based on gender. Maroto et al. (2015) surveyed students at two community colleges reporting 58% of female students, as opposed to only 53% of males, were food insecure. Wilson and Conron (2020) reported three in five women, compared to one in five men, experience food insecurity within the LGBQTI* community. Finally, multiracial women are 1.8 times greater to experience food insecurity than other women (Woods et al. 2016). The variations of student backgrounds add to the complexity of the issue, but higher education institutions should be aware what students are at higher-risk and how to offer varying degrees of services (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2015).

Student Support Systems and Barriers to Access of Resources

The convergence of intersectional identities, policy, practice, law, regulation, and institutional/societal resources contribute to food insecurity among college students. Yet reasons cited for not seeking out or receiving support from on or off-campus resources include social stigma, ineligibility, lack of awareness and inadequate access prevent access for several basic financial and food assistance programs that could assist in supporting the students' needs (Koller, 2014).

In the wake of COVID-19, the United States government and higher education institutions responded through the increase or development of resources (i.e., financial and food assistance). Support services, both on and off-campus, increased students' opportunities for access to student well-being, offering financial and food assistance. Yet, as noted above, there are reasons preventing students from accessing these resources. In

this section, on and off-campus student support programs will be reviewed and barriers to access these resources.

Campus Food Pantries

The College and University Food Bank Alliance (CUFBA, 2020) is a national organization that provides more than 200 institutions with training and resources in establishing and maintaining on campus food banks (CUFBA, 2020). Institutions have responded to the concern of food insecurity among students by opening over 650 food pantries with additional pantries being developed nationally, presenting a glimpse of a developing concern and confirmation of the changing landscape of higher education in the United States well before the pandemic began. The emergence of campus food pantries is attributed to rising tuition costs, changing student demographics, lack of student transportation, and student ineligibility for federally funded food assistance programs (Bartkowiak, 2015). Furthermore, scholars (Buch et al., 2016; Farahbakhsh et al., 2015; Twill et al., 2016) have associated international students, and others who may not qualify for federal financial aid, as primary beneficiaries of campus food pantries. Yet in a survey, only 262 public and community college reported having a food pantry, and most are maintained by student groups, staff, or faculty, with no direct support from institutions themselves (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2018). The development of food banks and interventions to tackle food insecurity among college students is emerging within literature and practice.

As on campus food assistance is becoming more widely available, not all who are food insecure are utilizing this resource due to reported barriers. El Zein et al. (2018) determined a correlation between students reporting perceived barriers to the student's

food security status to college campus food pantry use. Sixty-two percent of students who registered having low or very low food security noted more barriers in using the campus pantry than students who are food secure. Primary impediments reported to using the campus pantry included 36.8% of students citing social stigma, 33.9% noting insufficient information (i.e., eligibility and procedures), 17.6% stating self-identity (i.e., internal social context that others need the service more than they do), and 11.8% stating hours of operation conflicting with their schedule. Among students who utilized food pantries, over half recorded social stigma, inadequate communication and information, and inconvenient operating hours as obstacles associated with food insecurity.

Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program

The Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program, also referred to as SNAP, is a federally funded food assistance program that provides households temporary funding benefits for the purchase of groceries. Student eligibility for the program hinges on factors including course enrollment, employment, dependents, and assistance from other state or federally funded programs (USDA; FNS, 2019). During 2019, the United States had approximately 35 million individuals enrolled in the program (USDA; FNS, 2019). GAO (2018) identified 5.5 million students as eligible for SNAP. However, among those who qualified, 57% did not participate in the program. SNAP is one of many government food assistance programs that is underutilized by college students. College students are either not eligible or are not aware that they are able to receive this type of food assistance (Diamond et al., 2019). The reported barriers described by students from seeking out and enrolling in this program have included social stigma, perception and awareness of services, application process, and language discrepancies for individuals

who speak English as their second language (Algert et al., 2006; Bhattarai et al., 2005; El Zein et al., 2018; Fong et al., 2016; Kissane, 2003).

In 2019, under the Trump administration, nearly 700,000 individuals, college students included, lost SNAP benefits due to the implementation of a new policy explicitly stating, "able-bodied adults without dependents" and working at least 20 hours a week are no longer eligible (Godoy, 2020). The rule disproportionately affects young individuals and marginalized populations. The design of SNAP already excluded the majority of students attending an institution of higher education. SNAP is designed with the 'traditional' college student in mind, which is an individual entering college directly from high school, relying on family for financial support, with no dependents, and no employment. Aiming to expand college students' access to SNAP benefits (i.e., removing the 20 hour a week work stipulation) a federal waiver was filed but ultimately denied on April 10, 2020 (USDA, 2020). Modest enrollment exceptions have been instituted, however, the income limits, immigrations status, and school enrollment standards are confusing, and a majority still do not meet the exemptions, resulting in low student eligibility rates (Price et al. 2014).

Additionally, many food assistance programs require in-person enrollments, accepted for in-store purchases only, and restrict brands and cost limits when product availability was limited (Baskin, 2020). Food insecurity is not only the lack of funding to purchase food but is the result of multiple contributing factors including unavailability of food, inability to access food resources, decline in food utilization, and volatile economic and political conditions (Niles et al., 2020; UNICEF, 2019; WFP, 2020).

With the onset of the first media reports of the pandemic, temporary unavailability of food began in the United States because of panic buying, which emptied shelves across grocery stores nationwide (Grose, 2020). In addition, food availability was compromised due to a large reduction within the supply chain. Concurrently, the cost of food increased, beginning an infrastructural foundation recession, directly influencing food accessibility (McKenzie, 2020; Nielsen, 2020; Niles et al., 2020). This involved changes in the way food assistance was distributed, the availability of public transport, and product shortages in some areas (Niles et al., 2020). Market reports also suggest that food buying behavior has also changed, pointing to reduced utilization patterns (McKenzie, 2020; Nielsen, 2020).

Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security

In March 2020, the Trump administration signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act. The CARES Act made available \$14 billion in for emergency relief funding for higher education and is the largest injection of funds from the government to higher education institutions since the 2008 recession (ARRA, 2009; & NASFAA, 2020a). The funding formula for higher education intuitions were based on enrollment of Pell-grant (e.g., 75% of total funding formula) and non-Pell-grant (e.g., 25% of total funding formula) full time equivalent students. Preliminary reports stipulated the CARES Act was generally successful in the awarding of aid to financially at-risk students (NASFAA, 2020b). Based on the U.S. Department of Education (2020) guidelines, CARES Act funding was contingent on demonstrated financial need based on the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA). The guidelines detailed exclusions, which included students who identified as international,

non-U.S. citizens (DACA), and dual credit, enrolled exclusively in an online program prior to March 13, 2020, or not considered as good Satisfactory Academic Progress status. However, institutions have reported problems with awarding students aid due insufficient guidelines (Miller, 2020), student application exemptions (Kerr, 2020), and administrative hurdles (Lustig, 2020). Students and institutions alike described the guidelines of the eligibility process as unclear, due to continuous updates to the policies and procedures and lack of guidance for the distribution of funds (EAB, 2020). Students who did not complete a FAFSA, enrolled fully online, were undocumented, and international students were rendered ineligible to access CARES Act funding, resulting in some of the most at-risk student populations ineligible to obtain needed financial support during the public health crisis (Kerr, 2020).

Zentner (2020) assessed the impact of the CARES ACT on online students compared to students in other modalities surveying 1,176 students and found students who had enrolled in fully online programs reported the highest proportionality related to essential needs (i.e., housing and food). In the study, 69% percent of students learning online reported running out of food, compared to only 17% of those learning in person or through hybrid models. Findings from this research indicate online and other student populations are equally if not more affected from the implications of the pandemic and economic recession yet were excluded from receiving CARES Act funding.

Simultaneously, with federal relief, institutions created institutional emergency student funding opportunities through private and charitable fundraising (Kerr, 2020). Institutions campaigned to donors in an effort to supplement the shortfall of eligibility to many subpopulations of students who did not qualify for CARES funding, with some

institutions, like the University of California, receiving upwards of \$900,000 (Whitford, 2020). Yet, students still faced barriers in receiving this type of financial aid, such as applications with essays, or being waitlisted due to the demand (Weissman & Schmidt, 2020). An additional issue reported in the survey by Goldrick-Rab et al. (2020) noted a third of students were unaware of emergency aid offered through their institution and 19% reported not understanding the application process for emergency aid.

Higher Education Course Instruction Transition Implemented During COVID -19

As the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic began to unfold, institutions had to rapidly adapt. A myriad of ever-changing guidelines and directives brought forth by federal, state, and local governments generated tremendous change across higher educational institutions. One of the most notable changes was delivery of instruction, as nationwide institutions were forced to shut down all traditional classrooms, moving to fully remote instruction. However, challenges associated with this transition were not equitably distributed across college student populations. One survey conducted by Means et al. (2020) revealed Latinx students reported a greater number of challenges in continued course participation compared to other student populations due to the unplanned shift from traditional learning to remote instruction. These students reported in terms of measures associated to financial issues and basic needs, as well as, inability to balance responsibilities and coursework, finding a space to be able to complete assignments, and not knowing how or where to receive assistance with coursework after going fully remote. Another point in the study noted Latinx and Black students were less likely to have technology access (i.e., hardware and software) compared to White students (Means et al., 2020).

One of faculty's primary concerns in regard to their university's response are about equity gaps. The learning equity gap heightened due to the pandemic has left 66% of faculty concerned for students of marginalized populations and disadvantaged backgrounds as they believe their university's response has disproportionately affect some students (Lederman, 2020). Some cited faculty concerns include balancing responsibilities and course load, mental health and overall wellness, student management of financial stress in the wake of COVID-19, and lack of equal access (Lederman, 2020).

Student Food Insecurity and Academic Outcomes

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic scholarship centered on the relationship between food insecurity and academic performance and outcomes. Although incidents of food insecurity in primary and secondary education are substantial, research has been limited regarding the issue in higher education. Researchers (Alaimo et al., 2001; Jyoti, et al., 2005; Winicki & Jemison, 2003) have addressed in primary and secondary educational settings the direct relationship between food insecurity and reduced academic outcomes. Additional studies (Hinton et al., 2010; Kuluis et al., 2002) noted the educational hardships experienced by a student prior to entering college will continue to progress in complexity with the individual as they move into a post-secondary setting.

Academic Progress

Researchers (Alamio et al., 2001; Bergerson, 2006; Rowan et al., 2004) who have centered their scholarship within primary education settings indicate students who experience some form of food insecurity do not perform or meet the same academic levels as their peers. Students who do not meet satisfactory academic outcomes due to food insecurity prior to transitioning into post-secondary education are expected to

remain on the same academic trajectory (Pallas, 2002). Additional adverse outcomes related to food insecurity include lower academic achievement in STEM courses (Alaimo et al., 2001; Ashiabi, 2006; Jyoti et al., 2005), behavioral challenges (Murphy et al., 1998), and reduced memory function (Evans & Chambert, 2009).

In a survey conducted by University of Massachusetts, Boston, 80% of students responded food insecurity negatively impacted their academic performance, and 55% of those respondents reported food insecurity compromised course attendance. Researchers, (El Zein et al., 2018) determined students who did not have access to adequate food "showed significantly higher perceived stress and disordered eating behaviors and lower sleep quality" (p. 2) and those students also were more likely to have GPAs below a 3.0. Furthermore, students who were food insecure were two times as likely to report maintaining a GPA below 3.0 contrasted to food secure students.

Additional scholarship (Marotoa et al, 2014; Morris et al., 2016; & Patton-Lopex et al., 2014) established similar conclusions, indicating satisfactory academic performance (i.e., GPA above 3.0) was directly correlated with food security. Food secure students reported a higher GPA. Researchers (El Zein et al., 2019; Morris et al., 2016) observed a distinguishable relationship concerning food security and GPA in which students who held a GPA within a higher range (≥ 3.00) were more food-secure than students who reported a GPA below the 3.0 range.

Perhaps one of the most comprehensive studies, Dubick et al. (2016) investigated college student food insecurity surveying 3,765 students in 12 states and 34 institutions. In alignment with similar literature, 48% of participants at four-year institutions noted experiencing food insecurity in the previous 30 days. Also noted within the study,

approximately 32% of students who identified as being food insecure believed their lack of food resources had adversely affected their academic performance (Dubick et al., 2016). Among students who reported an effect of their academic performance, 81% of students suggested food insecurity resulted in negative academic outcomes. Fifty-five percent of students reported their food insecurity caused them not to purchase a required textbook, 54% did not attend optional or required study sessions, and 53% did not attend class at least once (Dubick et al., 2016). Findings of this study elucidate how college students who struggle with food insecurity experience various ramifications that negatively influence students' academic performance and outcomes.

Food insecurity amongst college students has gained a greater national focus in recent years as a potential negative influence on college retention and graduation rates (Broton & Goldrick-Rab, 2017; Cady, 2014; Gallegos et al., 2014; Silva et al., 2017; Maguire et al., 2016). According to Goldrick-Rab et al. (2020), in the wake of the pandemic, retention rates of marginalized populations are of particular concern to institutions as these populations are more likely to be affected by food insecurity. Additionally, the authors (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020) also informed of other adverse effects caused by food insecurity. Half of the survey respondents experienced at least moderate anxiety during the pandemic, and 63% of students stated that they could not concentrate on coursework. Retention rates of marginalized students, who are disproportionately confronting basic needs insecurity, are of particular concern, according to the report (Weissman & Schmidt, 2020).

A study (Maroto et al., 2015) carried out at a community college demonstrated students most at risk for food insecurity registered a GPA range of 2.0 - 2.49. Findings of

the study revealed a significant difference when compared to food secure students who reported a GPA range between 3.5 - 4.0, correlating the relationship involving food insecurity and lower academic performance and outcomes (Maroto et al, 2015).

MacDonald (2016) completed a study at the University of Arkansas, and determined a similar relationship presenting a negative association between GPA and food insecurity. Students whose GPA was in the range of 2.1 - 3.0 reported being moderately to severely food insecure contrasted greatly to students reporting higher GPAs. Lastly, a study conducted at the University of North Texas captured the effects of students who were food insecure. Henry et al. (2014) reported food insecure students further stated their status to be a factor to lack of energy to study and complete coursework, essentially influencing academic performance (e.g. failing assignments due to inability to concentrate), even if students were motivated to perform well (Henry et al., 2014).

Academics, Demographics, and Socioeconomics

As the pandemic continues to rage on, 56% of college students state they can no longer afford college, and nearly 40% of parents have resorted to utilizing funds set aside for their student's tuition to assist with living expenses during the pandemic (Dickler, 2020). Researchers (Aucejo et al. 2020) from Arizona State University surveyed 1,500 students inquiring how national and university responses to COVID-19 have influenced their academic status and timeline. Results of the survey varied, yet a common factor to many of the responses were dependent on a student's socioeconomic status and race. Reported in the study, students with low socioeconomic status are 55% more likely to delay graduation than those with higher income status, and nearly 70% of Black,

Indigenous, or People of Color (BIPOC) students were more likely to change their major during the pandemic than compared to White students (Aucejo et al. 2020).

Prior to the pandemic, six out of ten parents surveyed claimed to have financially assisted their child with expenses (i.e., tuition, utilities, rent, or groceries) (Dickler, 2020). The University of Minnesota surveyed parents in the midst of the pandemic reporting that the pandemic resulted in job loss for 40% of the respondents, of whom 20% stated has negatively impacted their families finances significantly influencing their ability to assist their student with college related expenses (Dworkin et al., 2020). Reduced reliance on family financial support has been especially common for marginalized students (i.e., first-generation students, BIPOC, and LGBTQI*), who comprise just over 45% of enrolled college students (Eichelberger et al., 2017; Espinosa et al., 2019). Moreover, sixty-four percent of college students were employed part-time while attending college, and twenty-five percent reported being full time employees (U.S. Government Accountability Office, 2018).

Intersectionality, Higher Education, and Food Insecurity

Much of the intersectionality research within higher education has been centered on student identity development and connecting identities to systems of privilege and oppression (Jones & Abes, 2013; Moffitt et al., 2020). Strayhorn (2013) noted, "it has become increasingly difficult to view students as members of discrete and isolated categories" (p. 4) and "that separate and discrete categorical approaches were inadequate for capturing the complexity of students' lives" (p. 3). Thus the growth of intersectionality research within higher education has exponentially increased to understand and address issues related to marginalized students' identities connected to

systems of privilege and oppression (Harris & Patton, 2018; Jones & Abes, 2013), moving scholarship, policy, and practice, beyond a single axis framework (Jones & Abe, 2013; Nicholos & Stahl, 2019). The theory's origins stem from Kimberle Crenshaw (1989) who wanted to describe how identities intersect and overlap accounting for influence of privilege, oppression, and systems of power through lived experiences of an individual. The theory is distinguished by a primary focus of an individual's lived experience(s) influenced by systems of privileges and oppressions in an attempt to create more socially just policies, practices, and society (Crenshaw, 1989; Dominguez-Whitehead, 2017; Jones & Abes, 2013). Its analytical power offers an approach in understanding how power systems have contoured the lives of multiple marginalized identities (i.e., race, gender, sexuality, ability status, religious affiliation, etc.) (Duran & Nunez, 2020) focusing on individuals and group identity issues by "connecting individuals to groups; groups to society; and individuals, groups and society-all in connection to structures of power" (Jones & Abes, 2013, p. 141).

The expansion of access to higher education in the United States has been to address the economic, social, and education inequality of the underrepresented populations. Institutions have laid claim in committing to the recruitment of students from underrepresented and (dis)advantaged populations. Dominguez-Whitehead (2019) noted:

Historically, students from under-resourced and low-income backgrounds have been underrepresented in higher education and have faced multiple barriers in gaining access to higher education and thus efforts to increase access to traditionally underrepresented groups signal a commitment to provide equal

opportunities and to transform higher education institutions into places that are characterized by diversity. (p. 552)

However, as access to higher education has expanded, additional challenges have occurred for students in marginalized populations. Access to an education does not equal access to resources. Rooted in social justice, intersectionality exposes the lack of equality within power relations associated to interlocking structural oppressions in an effort to advance equity. Viewed in this manner, intersectionality offers the analysis of inequitable power dynamics within educational settings. As institutions have become more diverse, many of their policies and practices continue to perpetuate the marginalization of some students while privileging others (Collins & Bilge, 2016; Roland, 2018; Simkins, 2005). Higher education settings have the opportunity of discontinuing the production and reproduction of social and institutional inequities and injustices through the creation "of political skill and decision-making strategies that can be used to intervene in hegemonic systems that undermine social justice" (Roland, 2018, p. 4). However, many of higher education's financial based policies and practices (i.e., tuition, housing, financial aid, etc.) have not changed much in the past half a century (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2016). The decline of federal student financial aid coupled with the costs of college tuition drastically increasing each year leaves students from marginalized and underrepresented populations contending with progressively grim academic and financial choices. Intersectionality theory underscores the inequitable educational and financial policies and practices related to education and access of resources to an ever-growing diverse student body within the higher education setting (Dickler, 2020; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2016).

In the United States, college student food insecurity varies across campuses yet was on the rise and has now heightened due to the pandemic, brining into intense light "the ways of dealing with inequality that our societies have consistently disguised and ignored" (Sefton-Green, 2020). Performing research of food insecurity through an intersectional lens broadens food insecurity related concerns fundamentally connected to the policies and practices put forth that are associated to the distribution of student resources. The issue of student food insecurity is an intersectional matter stemming from policies and practices throughout the economy, society, and political systems (Sibicca, 2012). The concerns pertaining to food insecurity related to higher education are the compounding intersectional factors that disproportionately impact students of marginalized populations, as traditionally they often originate from communities that are typically underrepresented and often experience barriers in accessing postsecondary education (Dominguez-Whitehead, 2016; Miller, 1999). Mouzon (2018) describes food insecurity through the intersectional cycle of oppression experienced by marginalized individuals:

How are racism and hunger related? Being mistreated at school, on the job, in health care and beyond, translates to lower wages and exclusion from society. When employers discriminate, people of color make lower wages than white people. When health-care providers discriminate, people cannot get the health care they need, and when the courts and the police are biased, they are more likely to put our family members behind bars, which damages their prospects for economic security.

The pandemic has highlighted many facets within education that disproportionately burden marginalized populations, thus widening the educational gap in higher education (Aucejo et al., 2020). In recent research (Aucejo et al., 2020; Bacher-Hicks et al., 2020; Rothstein, 2020) findings have come to the general conclusion that the pandemic has been acutely challenging for low-socioeconomic status and marginalized students as these populations have been more likely to be financially impacted by COVID-19 and hold greater health risks from the virus (CDC, 2020). "Thus, recognizing food concerns as a growing problem, examining this problem, and working toward creating a more equitable society in which resources are distributed more equitably, constitute part of what is required to conceptualize food research as a matter of social justice" (Dominguez-Whitehead, 2016, p. 554). The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed the numerous fragilities and vulnerabilities of food insecurity created by overlapping systems of oppression and privilege. Historically, college student food insecurity has been researched from a unitary perspective that stresses single identity data that proves insufficient for addressing and understanding food insecurity of individuals with intersecting marginalized identities (Bowleg, 2012). Intersectional research of college student food insecurity is vital in understanding the complexities of a diverse student body and addressing systems of privilege and oppression within higher education to ensure equitable distribution of resources.

Narrative Inquiry, Photo Elicitation, and Food Insecurity

Narrative inquiry and photo elicitation methods offer the possibility to generate data that can communicate multiple dimensions of the human experience and elicit a theme unseen to the researcher but evident to the interviewee (Schwartz, 1989). In recent

scholarship, narrative inquiry (Daughtery et al., 2019; Klugesherz, 2017; Okamoto, 2017) and photo elicitation methods (Johnson, 2011; Summey, 2018; Shannon et al., 2020) have been utilized to understand the human experience related to food insecurity. Daughtery et al.'s (2019) research explored food insecure students' experience using an on-campus food pantry. The findings of the study provided an in-depth understanding of the students' meanings related to food insecurity in connection with food pantry utilization, dietary selections, and well-being. Additional studies (Borron, 2013; Cannuscio et al., 2010; Diez et al., 2016; Heidelberger & Smith, 2015) have applied photo-elicitation in food studies research to better understand experiences related to social influence and food consumption decisions, local food options, and shopping habits. Narrative inquiry has been utilized in understanding social injustice and inequity (Rahatzad et al., 2016) and photo elicitation can reduce power differentials establishing a safe space for dialogue (Ford et al., 2017). Both methods offer an advantage when exploring food insecurity through intersectional data collection procedures with marginalized populations. Although current research has examined food insecurity related to pantry utilization and food consumption influenced by social context, there is a deficit of literature employing narrative inquiry and photo elicitation exploring the complex and intersecting identities of food insecure students during a global health and economic crisis.

Conclusion

There has been momentum for higher education institutions to eradicate college student food insecurity. As the COVID-19 pandemic continues to disrupt campuses, create economic distress, and limit internal and external resources available to students, the call is greater than ever to ensure students' basic needs are being met. Previous scholarship

provides evidence on how we understand the phenomenon of college student food insecurity, methods employed in research, and the responses from institutions and governing bodies through policies and practices. Yet existing research has been conducted primarily through unilateral perspectives and the dominant discourse proving insufficient for understanding and addressing food insecurity of marginalized students (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020). There is a continuing need to expand college student food insecurity research beyond single identity data. The utilization of intersectional research will allow marginalized voices, often suppressed within power systems, a place at the table to ensure equitable distribution of resources. In the next chapter, I will outline methods that will be used in this study to expand the scholarship of college student food insecurity through the use of narrative inquiry methodology supported with photo elicitation and intersectionality theory.

CHAPTER III

Research Methods

The content of this chapter will provide discussion of the methodology employed to investigate college student experiences with food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic. The methodology (data collection and analysis) is informed by intersectionality theory. Thus, the study centers how systems of oppression affected students' food insecurity within higher education during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession. First, I provide a review of the research questions, and then examine the utilization of narrative inquiry and photo-elicitation methods for this study. I review narrative inquiry through the lens of intersectionality theory, the critical paradigm undergirding the methodology in this study. Next, I provide a description of the recruitment and selection of participants, setting, and procedures for data collection and analysis. Lastly, I conclude this chapter with the role of the researcher and strategies that will be employed to ensure trustworthiness of the study.

Review of Research Questions

In this section I investigated the phenomena to address the following research questions involving college student food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession. The following research questions were used to direct the research:

- 1. How did college students experience food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession?
- 2. How did college students experience of intersecting oppressions (institutional, social, and cultural) arising from their social and personal identities (i.e., age, race, gender, sexual orientation, (dis)ability, religion/religious beliefs,

- international students, non-US citizens, and social class/socioeconomic status) shape the experience of food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic?
- 3. How did an intuition's response to the COVID-19 pandemic influence a college student's food insecurity status and shape their academic performance?

Qualitative Research Design

Selecting the design for research involves identifying the outline of procedures (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2010b). Qualitative research permits the researcher to gain an in-depth understanding of individual lives and the context in which they exist (Jones et al., 2006). Ryen (2016) proclaims, "qualitative research calls for moral responsibility in a field scattered with dilemmas not for quick pre-fixed answers" (p. 6). Qualitative methodology offers a naturalistic approach to the study of phenomena, purposefully selecting participants to gain an in-depth understanding, in contrast to quantitative research which seeks statistical generalizations (Patton, 2015). Quantitative research allows for the oversimplification of lived experiences whereas a qualitative approach aims to provide an understanding of the complexities of a phenomenon or phenomena (Patton, 2015). The utilization of qualitative analyses allows the researcher to deduce themes, through deductive and inductive reasoning, the synthesis of participants' narratives, and other creative participatory research methods (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Patton, 2015). The central research questions of this study align with qualitative inquiry as they are open-ended, asking how, why, and what the experience of food insecurity was during the COVID-19 pandemic. This study intended to capture participants' perspectives (Creswell, 2015; Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Patton, 2015) to gain in-depth

responses and insights in connecting student social identities and food insecurity within higher education institutions during the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore, a qualitative inquiry was deemed appropriate.

Methodology: Narrative Inquiry

Narrative inquiry directed the collection and analysis of data for this study. This method is grounded in the work of Clandinin and Connelly (1990, 2006) who describe narrative inquiry as "a way of characterizing the phenomena of human experience and its study" (p. 2). This particular approach investigates the lived experiences of individuals through the collection of comprehensive and detailed accounts, permitting the researcher to generate narratives with a primary emphasis on meanings (Clandinin, 2013; Hones, 1998). Clandinin (2013) notes narrative inquiry offers a holistic understanding of the human experience as it is an "exploration of the social, cultural, familial, linguistic, and institutional narratives within which individuals' experiences were, and are, constituted, shaped, expressed, and enacted" (p. 18).

Narrative methodology asks participants to tell their stories in various ways: through structured or semi-structured interviews; through the engagement of conversation; or through storytelling triggered by artifacts (i.e., images, sounds, or objects) (Clandinin & Rosiek, 2007). As storytelling and the engagement of dialogue is an integral part of narrative inquiry, the relationship between the researcher and participant(s) is of paramount importance (Reissman, 2008). Data of the study is fluid and co-constructed in a sequential order between the researcher and the participants retelling of their experiences and reflection upon the continuous interpretation of experiences. The researcher influences the narrative yet remains transparent to the

participants throughout the inquiry (Connelly & Clandinin, 2000; Moen, 2006), centering the relationship between the participant and researcher as a main theme within narrative inquiry.

Clandinin and Connelly (2000) advanced narrative methodologies to specifically a narrative inquiry that starts and stops "in the midst of living and telling, reliving and retelling, the stories of the experiences that made up people's lives, both individual and social" (p. 20). Individuals position their lived experiences in time, integrating time and the experiences into incessant narratives (McAdams, 2008). A narrative is co-constructed and emerges in a chronological manner, with consideration to critical points or experiences in an individuals' life, and placed within contextual forces (Clandinin, 2013). Clandinin and Connelly (1990, 2000) draw from John Dewey (1938), and his emphasis on education as a product of personal and social experiences. Dewey (1938) describes individuals as both separate entities connected to others, unendingly placed within past, present, and future social contexts. Clandinin and Connelly based their work on Dewey's (1938) principles of interaction and continuity and advanced his aspect of the threedimensional narrative structure approach: interaction, continuity, and situation (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938). Clandinin and Connelly (2000) note that this structure creates "a metaphorical three-dimensional narrative inquiry space, with temporality along one dimension, the personal and social along a second dimension, and place along a third" (p. 50). Analysis of the narratives will highlight interactions, social and personal, that exist and shape the narrative. Continuity will examine the time (i.e., past, present, and future) of the narrative. Finally, situation of the narrative will describe the location in which the experience happened (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000;

Dewey, 1938). This framework will give structure to the analysis as it integrates time with socio-cultural context to make meaning of experiences through the perspective of the storyteller Adama et al., 2016).

Theoretical Framework: Intersectionality

Narrative methodologies are often an approach employed by researchers (Cole, 2009; Ludvig, 2006; Mirza, 2013) whose scholarship is associated with critical theories such as intersectionality. Narrative inquiry has been expressed as informally associated with non-Western forms of knowledge creation challenging the dominant discourses (Collins, 1992). Narrative inquiry provides "epistemic privilege to marginalized voices" (Chadwick, 2017, p. 17), and as intersectionality theory examines overlapping systems of privilege and oppression, it too challenges the dominant discourses by placing an emphasis on the contradictory narratives illuminating marginalized voices through the "material, structural, and political realities that co-construct lives/narratives" (Chadwick, 2017, p. 15).

By employing an intersectional framework, we can better understand how power systems operate and how interconnected overlapping systems of privilege and oppression influence and are influenced by equally complex individual experience, challenging the dominant discourses (Corus & Saatcioglu, 2015; Harris & Patton, 2018; Nichols & Stahl, 2019). Intersectionality is an appropriate framework for exploring college students experiencing food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic because the framework recognizes what is experienced at the overlapping intersections of privilege and oppression of a student's multiple identities during a historical point in time (Brown et al., 2016; Duran & Nunez, 2020; Freudenberg et al., 2019; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2019;

Hancock, 2016; Hickey et al., 2019). It is also equally important to examine the institutional structures of higher education as power systems. Examining how institutions define and address food insecurity prior to and during the pandemic offers an insight into historical and systematic policies and practices taking place within higher education (Duran & Nunez, 2020: Goldrick-Rab et al., 2019), which may alleviate or exacerbate social inequities. Furthermore, student food insecurity is generally a manifestation of power structures, specifically coordinated discrimination produced and designed by overlapping systems of oppression and privilege (Crewnshaw, 1989). Intersectionality theory has the ability to examine and analyze all of these convergences. By adopting an intersectional framework, the research can offer an understanding of the factors influencing students' experience with food insecurity and bring about social change in institutional policies and practices (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2019). The contributing factors to marginalized student populations experiencing food insecurity are multifaceted. Thus, it is critical to examine the various historic, underrepresented, and institutional experiences concurrently, as it exposes perceptions and experiences that are not holistically understood when they are explored independently. Therefore, the intersectional approach allowed this research to better investigate the merging intersections of food insecurity, college life, systems influencing higher education, all compounded by multiple institutional system's responses to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Research Paradigm

Intersectionality theory falls within a critical research paradigm (Jones et al., 2013). Narrative inquiry has often been used to focus explicitly on the experiences of marginalized individuals. Thus, this study, focused on marginalized college students dealing with food insecurity during the COVID-19 global pandemic and subsequent economic volatility, aligning with the aims of narrative inquiry and photo elicitation research through a critical theory analytic. Critical theory paradigms emerged from the works of Karl Marx and Sigmund Freud and are influenced by postmodernism and feminist theories that critically examine power structures to promote equality and inclusion challenging the status quo (Asghar, 2013; Guido et al., 2010; Guba & Lincoln, 1994; Jones & Abe, 2013; Kincheloe & McLaren, 1994). There are three criteria that characterize this paradigm: (a) the paradigm is centered on the lived experiences of marginalized populations in how privilege and oppression are structured; (b) the analysis of how inequities are reproduced in asymmetric power relationships; and (c) identifies action for social change (Asghar, 2013; Mertens, 2017; Mertens et al., 1994). Mertens (2017) describes this paradigm as "the recognition that realities are constructed and shaped by social, political, cultural, economic, and racial/ethnic values indicates that power and privilege are important determinants of which reality will be privileged in a research context" (p. 1). The employment of this paradigm within any research study is to not only examine the problem but to identify strategies for implementation that offer equality and inclusion for every individual (Asghar, 2013). As intersectionality is the framework of this study, the use of the critical theory paradigm centers on the critical meanings of experiences as they relate to social identities (i.e., gender, race, class, sexual

orientation, etc.) concerning privilege and oppression. Therefore, a critical theory paradigm was appropriate for my purpose of inquiry to gain an understanding of intersectional narratives of food insecure college students influenced by overarching policies and practices at national, state, and institutional levels.

Participants and Setting

The institution selected offers a standalone on-campus food pantry that maintained full operations during university closures caused by the pandemic. The campus selected is a Tier 2, 4-year university, which rests in a rural community in the southern United States. The institution has a student population just over 21,000 students, undergraduate and graduate level, over the past year (U.S. News & World Report, 2019). Although located in a rural area, this university is in close proximity to a large city and its surrounding suburbs, which account for a large percentage of its student population. A majority of students live at or near campus due to its being in a rural community with limited public transportation. The student population is considered above the national average in diversity. The institution holds a greater female than male population and approximately 49% of the student body identifies as BIPOC. Participant selection will be limited to students who visited the food pantry from March 15, 2020 through December 15, 2020.

Sampling Scheme

Sampling strategies involve a design for distinguishing possible individuals who can offer their experience and perspective on the phenomena of inquiry being investigated (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2005). Sample size correlates to the mode of research being performed (Boddy, 2016). Different variables guide the criteria (i.e., age, race,

gender, sexual orientation, etc.) and the number of participants electing to participate in the research and the willingness of individuals to participate (Drew et al., 2008).

The sampling scheme of purposeful convenience sampling was applied to this study (Merriam, 2009). Defined by Onwuegbuzie and Leech (2007a), convenience sampling is a non-probability sampling method where the sample is taken from a population due to ease and availability to partake in a study. Convenience sampling was deemed appropriate for this study due to the site location (i.e., institution and food pantry) and phenomena under investigation (i.e., students experiencing food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and using campus food pantry resources). Purposeful sampling allows the utilization of a non-probability sampling in an effort to understand the specific phenomena researched among participants, who meet specific inclusion criteria. Each of the participants were selected by the following criteria: (a) enrolled at the university during the spring, summer, or fall 2020 semesters (b) have utilized the oncampus pantry between March 15, 2020 and December 15, 2020, (c) between the ages of 18-65, (d) are enrolled as an undergraduate, and (e) identify with particular social identity backgrounds (i.e., age, race, gender, sexual orientation, (dis)ability, religion/religious beliefs, international students, non-US citizens, and social class/socioeconomic status).

Participant Recruitment

Participant recruitment began after an Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval (see Appendix G). The recruitment of participants was undertaken via electronic communication. A report-identifying those students who visited the pantry between March 15, 2020 through December 15, 2020 was generated, and an email outlining the research and soliciting their participation was sent to those individuals (see Appendix A).

I requested students to complete an online interest form to participate in the study (see Appendix E). The online interest form was completed through the Qualtrics (Provo, UT) platform, and all identifying information was kept confidential and password protected. I sought to interview between 5-10 participants for this study. If there was a large interest to be part of this research, I would have screened by the number of times an individual has utilized the services of the pantry and seek those who have visited on a regular basis. Finally, students of marginalized backgrounds (i.e., racial or ethnic minorities; sexual minorities; international students; non-US citizens; low socioeconomic status, etc.) were given highest priority for partaking in this study.

Once participants were selected for the study, every participant was also provided a disclosure statement outlining procedures and potential risks of participation. In an effort to protect student identities and ensure confidentiality, participants were asked to select their own pseudonyms and were referred to by their self-selected pseudonyms. Additionally, informed consent documentation was provided and is located in Appendix B. It was required that the informed consent be electronically signed, and date stamped one day prior to the first interview. The consent form provided details to the participants regarding the research process, risk, and benefits, and how the data is maintained. Participants were advised their participation was voluntary and they had the right to withdraw at any point during the study. Participants were instructed to read through all documents and had an opportunity to ask me questions about the study and their rights prior to agreeing to participate in the study. Each participant had the opportunity prior to each interview to ask questions about the study and their rights.

Data Collection

For this research study I employed a semi-structured interview protocol (see Appendix D) along with photo elicitation methods. As the researcher for this study, I identified myself as a major instrument in the study, designing and executing the interview protocol. Romantic conception was represented as the frame of the interview by the researcher. Romantic is one of six conceptions described by Roulston (2010) as to "generate the kind of conversation that is intimate and self-revealing" that "lead[s] the interviewer to establish rapport and empathic connection with the interviewee in order to produce intimate conversation between the [interviewer] and [interviewee] in which the interviewer plays an active role" (p. 217). During the interview, I shared and identified my personal food insecurity experiences with participants, letting them know about my experiences as a food insecure college student offering comfort in communication and open dialogue during the interview process. Establishing a relationship is vital in narrative inquiry in order to create rapport and trust with the participants (Claudinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Reissman, 2008)

Initial Interview

Employing the use of narrative inquiry, participants' stories were collected through semi-structured interviews. Interviews are one of the most frequently employed data collection procedures in qualitative research as the method is expressed to provide a deeper understanding when exploring the experiences, beliefs, and views of individuals on a specific subject (Gorden, 1975). The purpose of the interview was to collect data of the participants' experience of being a college student with food insecurity during the COVID-19 global pandemic and economic recession. This study employed the use of two

semi-structured interviews will be conducted via online platform (i.e., Zoom). Per CDC (2020) suggested safety protocols, all interviews were conducted online to ensure the highest standard of safety for both the participants and me.

Hitchcock and Hughes (1989) defined a semi-structured interview as a balance between the interviewer and interviewee allowing discussion and further expansion of the interviewee's responses. Lincoln and Guba (1985) considered the semi-structured interview to be an appropriate method in that it provides the control of the interview to the interviewer, permitting them to probe and to ask for clarification of information as needed, potentially receiving a more extensive collection of data from the interviewee. For this study, the rationale for using a semi-structured interview is the ability to ask follow-up questions. The recording of interviews is highly suggested to capture interview data effectively and minimize potential disagreement between the researcher and interviewee(s) (Jamshed, 2017). Interviews were held online (i.e. Zoom), recorded, and the audio file downloaded for transcription. Video recordings through the online platform were not used to better ensure participant confidentiality. All interview procedures were outlined and discussed with each participant at the start of each online interview.

The interview protocol was pre-established and the same for every individual provided in detail the purpose of consent forms and what they are agreeing to, my role as the researcher, details of the interview (i.e., number of questions, projected length, the ability to clarify questions, etc.), including photo elicitation. Interview protocol and questions were followed, as outlined, with the addition of a few probing or clarifying questions based on interview respondents. Participants engaged in two semi-structured interviews, lasting 60 minutes in length. I began by explaining the study, participant

informed consent, recording procedures, and expected length of the interview. The interview started with my background of handling food insecurity while an undergraduate. By offering my experience to each participant, the intention was to display my vulnerability to express they are not the only person who has faced adversity with the same issue, helping each participant feel comfortable in talking about their experience. The initial interview conducted allowed each participant to explore their experience with food insecurity during the pandemic and provide an opportunity for each to reflect on the meaning of these events. I opened each interview with questions inquiring about the participant with the goal to learn and understand more about each individual and share my experiences with food insecurity during college to build rapport. Background questions for the interview were asked in the following order: (a) How would you describe your social identities (i.e., race, class, gender, sexual orientation, religion, and (dis)ability)?; (b) Can you discuss how each of these identities have impacted your life?; (c) Can you explain why you chose to attend this institution? (d) Can you tell me about your college experience so far?; (e) What has been your experience, if any, with food insecurity prior to attending college?; (f) Were you employed prior to and/or during the pandemic?; and (g) What financial support were you receiving prior to the start of the pandemic/what was your economic situation?

For the primary portion of the interview, thirteen open-ended and pre-constructed questions were asked in the following order: (a) What does food insecurity mean to you? (b) What was your experience with food insecurity, if any, prior to the start of the pandemic and economic recession?; (c) What has been your experience with food insecurity since the start of the pandemic and economic recession?; (d) How has your

institution's response to the pandemic influenced your experience with food insecurity?; (e) How did your social identities influence your food insecurity? (f) How did your social identities influence resources you sought out? (g) How did you cope with the challenges brought on by the global pandemic?; (h) What support systems are you using to cope with food insecurity during the pandemic and economic recession?; (i) What methods or support systems, if any, have you heard about but not utilized during the pandemic specifically related to food insecurity and why did you not seek those services out?; (j) To what extent, if any, did support systems help you navigate these challenges?; (k) To what extent, if any, did food insecurity affect your academic performance during the pandemic?; (1) What barriers, if any, have you encountered related to using institutional resources related to food security, financial, and academic support?; and (m) Is there anything else you would like to share? As suggested by Kvale (1996) as a means to enhance the overall quality of the interview, I initiated probing questions to enrich the depth of the answers provided by the participants. According to Janesick (2004), the questions developed above would be considered basic descriptive as opposed to structural or contrast. Breaking down basic descriptive questions further into grand tour, mini-tour, example, experience, or native language questions (Janesick, 2004), all questions in this study were regarded as either experience (e.g., What was your experience with food insecurity, if any, prior to the start of the pandemic and economic recession?) or example (e.g., What methods or support systems, if any, do you use to help you cope with these challenges during the pandemic?).

Photo Elicitation and Second Interviews

An additional qualitative methodology employed in this study was the use of visual images. Photo elicitation is becoming a more prominent means of data collection in qualitative research. As noted by Harper (2002), "the difference between interviews using images and text, and interviews using words alone lies in the ways we respond to these two forms of symbolic representation" (p. 13). Incorporating visual methodologies, as opposed to only verbal, can uncover multiple layers of meaning and rich dialogue, enhancing data and knowledge. The purpose of photo elicitation is to immerse an individual into the student's interpretation of their experience grappling with food insecurity during the COVID-19. The method of photo elicitation has been developed through the foundations of critical and feminist theories to encourage traditionally marginalized populations to participate in photography, offering participants additional space to interpret and make meaning of their lived experiences (Badry & Flaske, 2013; Keller et al., 2008; Latz, 2017; Strack et al., 2004) and "highlighting the voices of marginalized individuals and shifting the power of representation to individuals whose standpoints are seldom heard" (Christensen et al., 2020, p. 222).

When examining intersectional narratives, "photo elicitation offers a creative alternative to verbal-only methods of qualitative interviewing that is particularly suited to exploring intersectionalities" (Craig et al., 2020). Being the framework of this study is intersectionality, the point is to give a voice to marginalized groups to promote social change, as this type of visual methodology promotes the "empowering and emancipating of participants by making their experiences visible" (Christensen et al., 2020, p. 222) thus centering the participants' lived experiences. Offering traditionally marginalized

populations the opportunity to document their lived experience through photography provides a space to communicate their lived experiences and perceptions to promote social change (Christensen et al., 2020; Hubbard, 1994; Wang, 1999).

This methodological strategy was chosen in an effort to achieve thoughtful reflection from participants associated with the interaction and engagement of others under similar circumstances centering on the participants' intersectional narratives. Photo elicitation provides an opportunity in allowing individuals a voice and space through visual capacity to express and share their experiences and perspectives (Foster-Fishman et al., 2005; Genuis et al., 2015; Latz, 2017). Photo elicitation as a methodology provides additional dialogue and critical reflection from the participant through the taking of original photographs selected by the participant and provides a context of the photos through dialogue as to what they represent and mean (Wang et al., 1998) as stated by Christensen et al. (2020):

To understand the influence of images, an analysis of the production of images, the reception of the images and meanings attributed to them by audiences, and the content of the images themselves. Images do not linearly shape policy, but rather, the images viewed by people influence each individual's worldview. By contributing to how we perceive the world and our place within society, images can influence community advocates and society. (p. 223)

College students today live and narrate their lives in a visual world. Therefore, photo elicitation research was deemed an appropriate method for this study as the use of visual methods will allow for the "actual observation of campus, practices, norms, and

behaviors" in seeking an understanding of the phenomena in hopes of influencing social change (Keller, 1998, p. 276).

Upon conclusion of the first interview, participants were asked to take and submit three original photographs. Photos may be taken by their cellular device or camera. The following are the prompts for each of the three photos: (a) take a photograph that represents what food insecurity has been like for you during the pandemic; (b) take a photograph that represents how your social identities have influenced your food insecurity while being a college student; and (c) take a photograph that represents how food insecurity has been influenced by your institution's response to the pandemic. Photographs to be submitted were required to be an original single photo in a standard format. Photographic alteration was allowed (i.e., filters, black and white, blurring effects, etc.). Students were given two weeks to submit their three photographs as a joint photographic expert group (JPEG) file via email. Additionally, students were given a photograph consent form if they photographed an individual(s) and will submit those via email to me (see Appendix F). Participant consent forms were supplied to each participant if they chose to submit a photograph in which an individual appears in a photo (Appendix F).

Applying more than one qualitative data collection method allowed me to explore rigorously the perceptions and experiences of intersectional narratives of individuals grappling with food insecurity during the pandemic. Images have the power to induce strong emotions as people process visual data (Harper, 2002), which allows for in-depth reflections of the phenomena of inquiry. The use of photo elicitation provided and

empowered the voice of the participant using visual imagery (Creswell, 2003; Latz, 2017).

The second semi-structured interview was completed after the participant has submitted three photographs from the three previously listed prompts. Photo elicitation interviews are similar to the traditional interview process but incorporate the use of images and offer the participant flexibility in leading the interview with dialogue of the image(s) (Kapar, 2019). The interview was to specifically speak about the submitted photograph and also scheduled for 60 minutes in length. For the second interview, six open-ended questions were asked for each of the photographs in the following order: (a) Can you describe what the image is?; (b) How is this image symbolic to the prompt given?; (c) What is the importance of the image for you in responding to this prompt?; (d) Can you describe the feelings or emotions produced when capturing and selecting this photo?; (e) How does this image connect your social identities to your food insecurity?; and (f) Is there anything else you would like to share about this photo? Probing questions were asked (Kvale, 1996), and were regarded as either experience or example (Janesick, 2004).

Verification

Verification is the process of verifying by means of various methods to ensure true representation of the research process, and analysis of the data. Manning (1997) referred to member-checking as the active process of determining and confirming the accuracy and adequacy of the interviews. Lincoln and Guba (1985) describe member-checking as "the most crucial technique for establishing credibility" (p. 314).

Transcription of the narratives was completed through Zoom, upon conclusion of each

interview. Once completed, I verified the transcription of the audio to the text and finalize the transcription document. As described earlier, I sought verification of the accuracy and adequacy of each participant's interview through member-checking (i.e., descriptive validity; Maxwell, 2002) by facilitating the review of the transcribed interview and observations to address any changes. If a participant deemed a correction was needed, I asked them to detail the correction needed and made the corrections requested and returned for final approval.

Data Analysis

Narrative analysis is an analytic approach that involves the interpretation of dialogue, texts, or visual data in order to understand how and why of an individual(s) lived experiences. (Riessmen, 2008). This particular form of analysis differs from other qualitative analysis in that it does not employ the use of categories and keeps the narrative intact instead of breaking it down (Sharp et al., 2019). Data interpretation within this analysis is a twofold layer: first participants interpret their experiences, and second the researcher interprets the construction of the participants' story. There are several analytic approaches within narrative inquiry. However, for this study I will employ Clandinin and Connelly's (2000) three-dimensional space approach: interaction, continuity, and situation (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938). First, interaction describes the personal and social interactions within the participant's narrative (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938). Data was analyzed from the perspective of both the participant's perspective of the experience (i.e., feelings, reactions, and dispositions), and their interactions with other individuals and social conditions in which experiences evolve (i.e., family, peers, cultural, and institutional).

Second, continuity or temporality is the consideration of past and present experiences and how actions are likely to occur in the future (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938). Lastly, situational events are examined as place and time, and how they might have affected the experience (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938). To perform this analysis, I re-reviewed the transcripts three times to identify context pertaining to interaction, continuity, and situation. Validation checks were continuous throughout the interviews, and I provided each participant their final narrative to ensure their stories are a reflection of their experience. Intersectionality theory aligns well with both interaction and situational analyses. Thus, special attention was proffered to examining the role of social identity, intersectionality, and social systems in analysis and presentation of data from these stories.

As previously stated, there were two semi-structured interviews along with three photographs submitted for analysis. Transcriptions were completed through the software Zoom and were read at least twice to ensure accuracy, to correct any errors, and clarify verbatim quotes. Each photograph submitted was numbered and marked accordingly in the associated transcribed interview. Both the transcribed interviews, along with the photographs, were used as raw data for the analysis of this research. Detailed, chronological, and individual narratives of each college student was co-created through narrative analysis, as collaboration between the participants' and myself will be present, and final narratives were provided to each participant to provide an accurate reflection of their experience (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938). Narrative analysis aligns with the goals of this study to meet college students who may have similar struggles with food insecurity, but the intersection of their social identities and their

experiences within the context of the COVID-19 pandemic will highlight the heterogeneity of a diverse student population.

Trustworthiness

The criterion of rigor reflects the validity and quality of the qualitative research being performed. The importance of establishing validity and reliability within qualitative research has been well documented, as researchers (i.e., Eisner, 1991; Lather, 1993; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Lincoln et al., 2011; Mertens, 2015; Shenton, 2004) have implemented methods in an effort to evaluate the merit of qualitative analysis (Crewswell, 2012; Mertens, 2015). For my study, I will employ Lincoln and Guba's (1986) Four-Dimensions Criteria that recognizes four pillars of trustworthiness that are critical to qualitative research: (a) credibility; (b) dependability; (c) confirmability; and (d) transferability.

Credibility

This aspect of the model refers to the participant's experiences of the phenomena compared to the researcher's representation (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Shenton, 2004). Member checks, peer debriefing, and multiple data collection methods contribute to a study's credibility (Shenton, 2004). Manning (1997) referred to member-checking as the active process of determining and confirming the accuracy and adequacy of the observations and interviews. Lincoln and Guba (1985) describe member-checking as "the most crucial technique for establishing credibility" (p. 314). Onwuegbuzie et al. (2008) suggested peer debriefing as a technique to reduce researcher bias through the use of the reflexive data. Using various data collection methods counterbalances for each method's

limitations and makes the most of their respective advantages (Brewer and Hunter, 1989). For my study I employed all three techniques to enhance the credibility of the research.

Dependability

This technique refers to reliability, and how the research can be repeated with similar settings and produce similar findings. Lincoln and Guba (1986) stress the similarities between credibility and dependability, and both can be achieved with overlapping collection methods. However, dependability refers more specifically to the research design and the ability to recreate the processes within the study for future researcher to repeat the study and obtain similar findings (Fidel, 1993; Lincoln & Guba, 1986; Shenton, 2004). The use of interviews and photo elicitation in my study offers overlapping data collection methods in an effort to provide dependability. Also, in my study, I provide an in-depth description of my methodology to allow the study to be repeated for future research.

Conformability

Miles and Huberman (1994) associate conformability to the researcher's ability to acknowledge their own beliefs, dispositions, and bias. Therefore, the recognition of bias must be established by the researcher through triangulation (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Patton, 2015). To reduce researchers' bias and provide validity to the study, I reflected on my own experiences, perceptions, and interests throughout the research process, known as *reflexivity* (Ruby, 1980). Additionally, peer debriefing and member-checking also enhance conformability of the research (Mertens, 2015). Both were utilized in the research process to ensure the adequacy and authenticity of the study (Elo et al., 2014).

Transferability

While qualitative research does not aim to generalize findings, transferability is when findings of the research can be applied to other research settings (Merriam, 1988; Stake, 1988; Yin, 1984). Offering significant background information to establish context of study and outlining key descriptions of phenomenon of inquiry allows for the comparison of findings and implications of my study. Providing in-depth descriptions of the findings and implications provides an understanding of the phenomenon enabling for the applicability to future research (Shenton, 2004).

Through the course of this study, several threats to internal and external credibility were exposed as the design and methods were considered to carry out the research developed. Onwuegbuzie and Leech (2007) explained that threats to legitimation could limit a study's internal credibility or external credibility of the findings. Internal credibility refers to the trustworthiness of a researcher's findings (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007). I employed the techniques of both member-checking (Manning, 1997) and debriefing of the researcher (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2008) to minimize bias. By utilizing the qualitative legitimation model (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007), I sought to increase the internal credibility and external credibility of my findings. The threats and legitimation efforts are discussed in the following section. An additional limitation to the research is this will be a single institution study (Ross & Zaidi, 2019).

Threats to Internal Credibility

The potential threats to internal credibility of the findings included the following:

(a) descriptive validity, or the accuracy, adequacy, and representativeness of the account as recorded by the researcher (Maxwell, 1992); (b) observational bias, or the extent to

which the researcher acquired a sufficient sampling of participants' behaviors or words, or the extent of analysis of the participants words or behaviors (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007); and (c) causal error, or the "causal explanations... for observed behaviors and attitudes without attempting to verify such interpretations" (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007, p. 237). One significant threat to internal credibility regarding this study concerns observational bias. Onwuegbuzie and Leech (2007) described this threat to legitimation as occurring when the researchers collect an inadequate quantity of data from participants, providing an incomplete analysis. The developed interview protocol is openended for the purpose of obtaining as much insight from the participants as possible in an effort to reduce observational bias. Asking follow-up questions ensures understanding and clarity of the participants' responses. Finally, the threat of descriptive validity (i.e., the accuracy and adequacy of participants' responses) is recognized as a threat to internal credibility. To combat this possible threat, the processes of member-checking (Manning, 1997) and debriefing of the researcher (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2008) will be utilized.

Threats to External Credibility

The greatest threat to the external credibility of the findings within this study concern interpretive validity. Maxwell (1992) described interpretive validity as how precisely the researcher captures the perspective of the participant. The risk to legitimation in regard to interpretive validity in this study involves the researcher misinterpreting the interviewed participant's views, images, and/or experiences due to their own experiences. In addition, because I, the researcher, assigned meaning to the findings, and acknowledge the threat of interpretive validity of the data, I also must consider how the findings could sway the academic community (i.e., catalytic validity).

To enhance interpretive validity of the research study, I sought to include participants actual language and descriptions in analysis. The findings were germane only to the interviewed respondents. Further, as was described previously, member-checking was employed (Manning, 1997) to ensure accurate and adequate representation of the views and experiences of the participants (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007).

Role of the Researcher

The researcher is the primary instrument within qualitative research and is the instrument of choice (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Kress & Shoffner, 2007). Researchers should make every effort to account for their biases through identification and acknowledgement, as some degree of bias is present throughout every research process (Gerhard, 2008; Miles & Huberman, 1994). As the researcher, I have worked with food insecure populations, both on and off campus, and along with my own experiences with food insecurity while an undergraduate in college, I understand the phenomena personally and seek to better understand it through an intersectional lens. I understand the context and culture of student food insecurity and know that some individuals may hesitate or struggle in providing personal details of experiences due to the social stigma that surrounds food insecurity (Palar et al., 2018; Purdam et al., 2016). Garthwaite (2016) agreed food insecurity social stigma could be overcome once an individual recognizes someone like them has received similar food assistance. My background allowed me to relate, build trust, and create rapport with the participants. To ensure minimization of any bias of the researcher in this study, the processes of member-checking (Manning, 1997) and debriefing of the researcher (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2008) were used. The application of member checking was employed (Manning, 1997) upon concluding both semi-structured

interviews with each participant. Member-checking was completed via email the same week as the interview and will allow participants to review the accuracy and completeness of their interviews (Harper & Cole, 2012; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Final narratives were provided upon completion to ensure an accurate reflection of their experience. Cohen and Crabtree (2006) found utilizing member checks within qualitative research assists the researcher in verifying the credibility of the findings which enhances the validity of the study. Prior to analyzing data, I underwent two debriefing interviews (Onwuegbuzie et al., 2008) approximately two weeks after interviews with participants. The debriefing interviews were conducted by a higher education individual not directly involved with the study and the debriefing interviewer developed the protocol of the interview. Onwuegbuzie et al. (2008), who suggested the debriefing interview as a technique to reduce researcher bias via the promotion of reflexivity, provided the framework for the questions to be asked in the debriefing interviews.

Conclusion

This chapter described the design and methodology used for my study. The purpose of this qualitative study is to understand the experiences of food-insecure college students during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession. The two data collection methods, interviews, and photo elicitation are appropriate data collection techniques for answering each of the three research questions through an intersectional perspective. I also addressed analysis of the data through narrative analysis. Finally, concerns of trustworthiness were addressed through discussion of Lincoln and Guba's (1985) Four-Dimensions Criteria that recognizes trustworthiness through the application of credibility, dependability, conformability, and transferability.

CHAPTER IV

Analysis of Data

Within this chapter I will introduce study participants, detail their experiences through their narratives, and call attention to critical positions and how they make meaning of their experiences as college students grappling with food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic. For purposes of analysis, identified in Chapter 3, threedimensional space approach: interaction, continuity, and situation (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938) will be used and special attention will be proffered to examining the role of social identity, intersectionality, and social systems in analysis. The first dimension of the analytical construct, interaction, will analyze the participant's perspective of the experience of college student food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic, and their interactions with other individuals and social conditions, noting the experience is both social and personal. Clandinin and Connelly (2000) suggest individuals are independent and yet dependent on each other "and need to be understood as such... .they cannot be understood only as individuals" (p. 2), meaning though individuals are independent, they are also shaped by social interactions and conditions. Second is continuity, in which the analysis of the narrative focuses on past and present experiences and how actions are likely to occur in the future (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938). According to Clandinin and Connelly (2000), continuity refers to "wherever one positions oneself in that continuum - the imagined now, some imagined past, or some imagined future - each point has a past experiential base and leads to an experiential future" (p. 2), implying future experiences grow from previous experiences that instantiate a cyclical nature of experiences. Finally, situation will be

analyzed as place and time, and how these might have affected the experience (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938). For purposes of this research, situation is broken down between pre-pandemic and COVID-19 pandemic as there is a distinct shift in cultural norms, beliefs, and behaviors.

Each participants narrative was captured over two semi-structured interviews, with photo elicitation prompts and collection of images occurring between the first and second interview. All interviews were conducted over Zoom, with zero interruptions or technical issues. Transcription of each interview was provided by Zoom software upon conclusion of the interviews with member checking taking place one week after the conclusion of each interview. Throughout the analysis of the narratives, I will use the participant's voice to encapsulate their experience to provide a complete understanding. The first section of this chapter will introduce each of the five participants under their self-selected pseudonyms: Colette, Juan, Anitra, Adrian, and Xiomara. Each of the participants' profiles provides background information, and their self-identified social identities. Offering detailed participant profiles will allow the reader to meet the participants and gain an understanding of who Colette, Juan, Anitra, Adrian, and Xiomara are to gain a better understanding into their experiences being a food insecure college student throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. Context of each participants' background provides initial perspective and lays the foundation for the second section of this chapter that will provide a deeper analysis of the participants' narratives through photo elicitation. See Table 1 for the student self-identified demographics and profiles.

Table 1Pre-Interview Self-Identified Participant Demographics and Profiles

Participant	Gender	Sexual	Pell Grant	(Dis)ability	Race
	Pronouns	Orientation	Eligibility	Status	
Colette	she/her	heterosexual	Eligible	Yes	Chinese
Juan	he/him	heterosexual	Eligible	No	Hispanic
Anitra	she/her	heterosexual	Eligible	No	Hispanic
Adrian	he/him	heterosexual	Eligible	No	Hispanic
Xiomara	she/her	heterosexual	Eligible	Not Sure	Hispanic

Note. Information was self-identified by participants in the online interest form.

The first section of analysis will be each participant's narrative and how their experiences were shaped by their social interactions and conditions, continuity, and place and time (Clandinin and Connelly, 2000). Finally, the participant's photo elicitation piece will conclude each of their narratives. Descriptions and meaning of the three original photographs regarding the three photo prompts: (a) take a photograph that represents what food insecurity has been like for you during the pandemic; (b) take a photograph that represents how your social identities have influenced your food insecurity while being a college student; and (c) take a photograph that represents how food insecurity has been influenced by your institution's response to the pandemic, will be discussed by the participants. Each image provided was also captioned by the participants and the second interview consisted mainly discussion of the original photographs submitted by the participants.

The second section of this analysis will be the interpretation of findings related to each of the three research questions. I synthesized the data by generating an outline for each participant in chronological order. During the synthesis of the data I began noticing several similar patterns and events, including experiences related to food insecurity prior to the pandemic, social identity experiences related to food insecurity both pre and current pandemic, and experiences related to higher education's response, the participants food insecurity, and academic outcomes. Throughout the synthesis process I made note of language related to participants' self-identified social identities and experiences with food insecurity. Each of these narratives are independent from the others, yet interlaced with similar experiences across the participants, especially regarding interaction, continuity, and situation. This second mode of analysis offers a deeper understanding within the context of each of the participants' narratives.

Colette

Meet Colette, whose gender pronouns are she/her. Colette is a 19-year-old first generation college student majoring in education. She resides in an on-campus residence hall and is enlisted in a meal plan. She selected to attend the 4-year public institution for the teacher education program and, as one of the less expensive schools in the state, felt this institution met her educational goals while fitting within her budget. She is involved in several organizations, clubs, and volunteering opportunities. Her typical course load is between 16-18 course credit hours per semester since first enrolling. She is currently on track to graduate a semester early, which she describes as being financially beneficial as she self identifies as low socioeconomic status. While attending college, she has not received financial support from her family, nor did she receive many scholarships.

However, Colette was eligible for federal grants and loans which has been the main financial resource to cover her tuition costs. She recalls asking for money as gifts for occasions such as Christmas and birthdays with the thought of assisting her in covering tuition. She has been and is eligible for the federal work-study program and is currently employed working between 20-28 hours a week. She has enjoyed her college experience so far, describing it as "fun…busy." She described having had some social issues when first enrolling in college but quickly dismissed them as something that everyone most likely experiences. Academically, she claims to be performing well in her coursework, and is looking forward to her upcoming graduation to fulfill her career goals as a teacher.

In the interview, Colette identified herself as a heterosexual female who held nondenominational Christian religious beliefs. She further identified as being of Asian
heritage that was adopted by a white family in the United States when she was eight years
old due to China's one child policy, noting "I lived in China but don't remember much of
my heritage, and it's like, oh, what am I doing here, who am I really, and I feel like a lot
of adopted children feel like that." In her demographic form, Colette identified herself as
Chinese, while referring to herself as having Asian heritage during the interview process.
She remembers some of her culture as she did reside in China until she was formally
adopted before she was nine years of age. It was during her teenage years that she
struggled with her identity, which impacted her mental health. The bullying and identity
crisis has led to a clinical diagnosis of depression and anxiety and she struggles with
social acceptance, stating "throughout high school and [sic] it was a [sic] very difficult
trying to maneuver, those mental health issues throughout the general school system
public school system." Coming to college, Colette knew mental health resources would

be made available to her, and understanding the struggle throughout high school without those specific services, she stated she made it a point to seek those out right away and has maintained appointments with those services through her institution.

Pre-Pandemic

Colette participated in the free and reduced meal program at her high school prior to attending college. However, because of this program she did not feel food insecure growing up. It wasn't until applying to college that her mom revealed their financial instability:

I was very sheltered as a kid you know with all these difficulties. I didn't know how food insecure we were until my mom disclosed it recently. I didn't realize at the time, I knew I was on free lunches at school, but didn't realize we were on food stamps, and like some of our habits that we've come to do, were because it was to save money.

Colette spoke of her mom's inability to find stable employment since elementary school. Her mom is educated holding a degree in business and was employed throughout Colette's first year in high school, however, lost her job when the organization shut down, and has not held employment since. When discussing food insecurity prior to the pandemic, Colette discussed her and her family's 'habits' or learned behaviors. As she considers her upbringing and eating habits, she draws the realization that her learned behaviors could be a result of her family's food security status:

I'm just a picky eater in general, I guess that's something I do need to let you know so I don't eat very often in general, and I think that might have been part of my upbringing, thinking about it. But like, usually I don't eat more than two meals

a day usually most days only one. So, I've been doing that since middle school. So, even if I still like I'll eat lunch and sometimes I won't eat dinner when I'm at home. And, majority of the weekends I'll eat like something at three [in the afternoon], and then that's it for the day, I might snack a little throughout the day but that's about it.

Food insecurity for Colette means not knowing where her next meal would come from and choosing between paying bills or buying food: "I recall my mom recently saying I can't pay the phone bill this month because I have to buy groceries, so sometimes you have to choose, bills or eating." How she defined food insecurity seemed to resonate with her upbringing and conversations with her mom, past and present.

Colette connected her self-identified low socioeconomic status to prepandemic food insecurity stating, "I think a lot of it is more just due to my childhood and
a majority of my life being in a low-income family." When asked if she considered her
other social identities other than economic identity with food insecurity, she did not feel
that those identities played any role or relevance, nor did she feel they overlapped. She
placed low-socioeconomic status as an independent identity that did not overlap with any
other social identity. She considers financial instability to have been the key driver when
discussing her experiences with food insecurity, recalling her mom choosing between
paying specific utility bills or choosing to put food on the table. Yet when first attending
college, she felt her food insecurity subside due to her required enrollment in a university
meal plan, stating:

I'm lucky I really was not food insecure my first few semesters in college, especially prior to the pandemic because I was forced to get a meal plan. So, with a meal plan I could get anything I want on campus.

To further alleviate any food insecurity, she frequently visited the institutions on-campus food pantry more as a supplemental resource than a main outlet for food. She claimed going to the pantry just a few times her first few semesters to stock up on foods such as snacks that the dining hall did not offer.

Regarding financial resources, her self-identified social identities, race and adoption, play a critical role into what resources she seeks out, specifically noting:

Because I'm adopted, for scholarships and financial aid I've been like, because I was a child of the one child policy in China. There are scholarships out there for children in that same situation. And I've looked into that before and I'm going to continue applying for some of those scholarships because I fit into those identity requirements to receive these possible scholarships.

Colette did not mention any barriers in receiving resources. Noted earlier, she felt her mom sheltered her in fully understanding the extent of financial instability or food insecurity she experienced. When she herself has sought out assistance she did not believe anything hindered her ability.

COVID-19 Pandemic

As COVID-19 spread a global shutdown took place. Higher education institutions closed and with that a lot of student resources halted as well. The institution's response to the pandemic did affect what resources Colette felt she could access related to her food security. When her university shut down, they closed one of the two dining halls and

limited the hours of operation, only offering a grab-and-go meal with limited food choices. The dining hall the university closed was the one closet to Colette's residence hall. The rate at which she utilized the on-campus food pantry increased. She stated specifically seeking out the food pantry for meals to supplement late weeknights or weekends. One noted barrier related to her identity as being female was of feeling safe on campus. Due to the closure of the dining hall closest to her and limited hours of operation of the only one open, she was having to walk across campus in the late evenings to pick up the evening meal and did not feel comfortable doing so. Colette described another issue with the one open dining hall and that is the limited hours of operation. The limited hours often resulted in students standing in line for over 30 minutes to pick up their meal. Additionally, the meal selection was limited to one or two options stating:

They still provided food, but it was at a very limited rate of how much food, and how you could get food and when you can get food. The dining hall essentially only stayed open for like an hour for each meal for you to pick up. I still had classes and couldn't always go during the time they allotted for, so I missed out. It was choice of eating or being present for class.

Colette's utilization of the food pantry went from a few weeks out of the year to every few days since once the pandemic began the campus responded by shuttering one dining hall and restricting operating hours. A few weeks into the pandemic the institution made the announcement they were closing residence halls and allowing students to move out by a specific date in order to receive a refund. Colette immediately took advantage of this and returned home. With the refund she was able to cover the remaining cost of her tuition owed. However, returning home, food insecurity heightened for Colette and her

mom due to many shelves of inexpensive food options being wiped out due to panic buying and hoarding. Colette also witnessed healthier food option prices increase outside of her family's budget, describing "I'm constantly aware of how much money I'm spending on food and reducing that amount as much as possible." Therefore, food availability was limited due to budget constraints as the pandemic disrupted supply chains. Colette was granted the ability to work from home under the work-study program which was a positive response attributed to the university in allowing some work-study students the option to work from home. She knew of some friends on campus not under the work-study option that lost their on-campus employment and struggled to find employment after the university shutdown. Once her work-study ended, she did try to seek additional employment, however, connected to the uncertainty of the pandemic was her inability to secure a position stating:

I applied to several jobs but because it was so new nobody wanting [sic] to hire me, they had no idea how it was going to play out so any jobs I applied to I was either rejected or ghosted.

One of Colette's greatest challenges during the pandemic was her depression and anxiety. Like so many, the feeling of hopelessness seemed to burden her as each day passed. The first six months of the pandemic seemed to have been the most difficult for her and her mental health. At the beginning of the pandemic, she claims, "I struggled a lot mentally because of my anxiety and depression. It's definitely gone, haywire." She maintained using the campus mental health resources through virtual means. She could not recall if the institution had sent messaging out to students about these services as the situation of the pandemic intensified, noting:

I think they sent an email at the beginning of the pandemic about resources such as mental health, and the food pantry, but I don't remember them continuing that notification that those resources were available, and the pandemic raged on. I think they thought most of us went home after they closed campus, so they didn't bother.

Colette linked the state of her mental health as part of a barrier in not seeking out additional resources for personal and academic needs. She has a deep concern for others and connects her anxiety to being stressed of others needs before hers. For example, when seeking out financial and food resources during the pandemic, she would not always take or apply for what she needed describing any barriers encountered related to her mental health:

I think a lot of the barriers are more mental wise it's like, like I said earlier, I don't want to take those resources from others so it's not like I couldn't have used those resources myself, I needed them, but mentally it prevented me from like applying for certain things because I thought, I'm not needy enough for those resources if that makes sense.

Even though Colette was unable to find summer employment, she states she did not seek CARES Act funding for this very reason. She has a sense of responsibility to not take more than she needs even though she knows she struggles financially and that influences her food security.

Other resources Colette sought out was the on-campus food pantry, that she contributes to her sense of food security at the start of the pandemic until she moved back home, and an on-campus student money management center. As previously described,

she was unable to secure employment after her work-study position ended. She sought these services to assist her in budgeting, saving, and financial aid information for upcoming semesters.

Colette's academic performance did suffer during the start of the pandemic. She relates this downward turn to her depression and anxiety as the pandemic generated upheaval and chaos due to shutdowns and isolation. She does not believe her increased food insecurity upon returning home had any part of her negative academic outcomes including missing classes, not turning in assignments, and reduced effort in studying.

Regarding pandemic-induced food insecurity related to academic outcomes, she states:

I don't think it affected my academic performance. But I think it's more because I'm so used to the lifestyle that I've had growing up so I'm used to eating one meal a day or used to just like taking like snack tiny snacks and calling that as my meal. So, academically, my body is already trained for it, so I don't think it necessarily suffered because of my food insecurity brought on by the pandemic.

Colette related her identity of growing up in a low-socioeconomic status household as conditioning her for the effects of the pandemic and food security status related to her academic performance. When speaking of academic performance and food insecurity, regardless of the pandemic, she speaks of being familiar with the situation and feels confident in navigating the issue confidentially. Ultimately, she connects her poor academic outcomes to her mental health struggles generated by the pandemic.

Photo Elicitation

Three weeks after initially meeting and interviewing Colette she submitted her three original photographs. She describes enjoying this piece of the study, as it really made her consider her thoughts and feelings regarding her experiences leading her up to this point and time in her life. The first photo submitted is in reflection of the first prompt was to take a photograph that represents what food insecurity has been like for you during the pandemic. See Figure 1 for the submission of the photograph. This photo taken and selected for submission by Colette is that of her apartment pantry. In this photo are non-perishable foods that she currently has available to her. She narrates her reason for taking and selecting this photo:

I feel like this photo represents me, and more of my experience during the pandemic, just because especially like [sic] in early beginning of the pandemic I didn't have a stable job. I couldn't always work and I didn't have a steady income coming in. Then currently with just like, not just because the pandemic, but because of how my schedule is working out, I'm not having a consistent income. Eeither because some weeks I can work more than others. This image to me represents uncertainty, but the feeling of this is just my life.

Figure 1

Apartment Pantry



Note. This photograph was submitted by Colette and is a snapshot of what her college pantry typically looks like.

Capturing this image, Colette reflected as it being an eye-opening experience. The realization of how she calculates her meals, portions to dollars, analyzing every purchase she makes. She correlates this back to her upbringing, how she was taught by her mom, and how she has been conditioned to see food and money in this way. When considering how this image relates to her social identities, she considered her American childhood with her Asian heritage:

In Asian cooking you use a lot of chicken broth so I know a lot of different recipes or like I tend to make a lot of soup, and like and then with rice or noodles so because the carbs are filling so then having that as a meal and it's fast, and then I feel like our things you can find in a traditional American household a lot of times like the hamburger helper and like they [sic] can beans and vegetables, because those are cheap, easy, and fast.

For her second selected image the prompt I requested her to follow was to take a photograph that represents how your social identities have influenced your food insecurity while being a college student. See Figure 2 for the submitted image. The image is that of an almost empty rice container and pork ramen. Colette describes how this image is symbolic to the prompt and her experience:

I think again the ramen ties back to the college student because that's like a staple for any college student usually and then the rice is more for the Asian side of me because, you can make a small thing and rice, and it can be very filling. I lived in China until I was eight and I love authentic Chinese food and just I think that's

what I associate with a lot of my Chinese identity more than like the American heritage. This photo is my way of, well, it's me embracing more of like my Chinese identity, an Asian identity.

Figure 2

Ramen and Rice



Note. This photo titled by Colette is *Ramen and Rice* and is a representation of her college student and ethnic identities.

The importance of this image is having and being enough. It also asks the question, is this enough? Can this last? The photo is symbolic of her identities in being who she feels and wants to be and is it enough. When taking and selecting this photo, she did describe not having strong emotions of feeling one way or another.

Finally, her last photo submission was to take a photograph that represents how food insecurity has been influenced by her institution's response to the pandemic. The photo selected was that of a grocery bag of items she received from her on-campus pantry during one of their distributions in which she received perishable and non-perishable items free shop style. See Figure 3 for the photo submission. She took this photo after a

shopping trip and selected it because she was grateful in how her institution has an oncampus pantry as she is aware many do not.

Figure 3

Groceries



Note. The photo is what Colette receives from her on-campus food pantry.

She explained her reason for this photo submission for this prompt:

I think that's where like the resource came from because this is the on-campus food pantry. Food pantry stayed open during the entire pandemic. That's where my connection came from, it's more of like that's how the institution responded to the pandemic to my food insecurity.

The feelings and attachment to this photo is one of gratitude and relief. She relates this photo to reducing stress, as shopping brought her calm and less worry about where food was going to come from during the pandemic. She also connected the photo to her low-socioeconomic status, she had grown up not realizing her family's economic situation and the photo reminds her very much of unloading groceries when her mom would return from shopping when she was younger:

Growing up I was oblivious to the fact we used outside resources like food pantries or food stamps, my mom felt like she had to hide the fact we were using them. Looking back when my mom would come home from shopping, looking at this photo this is what it was like for me growing up. I connect this photo, after learning we used food stamps, to my low socioeconomic status, before and after knowing, so I don't even think of anything being different, this is just how it was for me then and how it is for me now.

Juan

Meet Juan, whose gender pronouns are he/him. He is in his third year and a criminal justice major who identifies as a heterosexual male of Catholic faith. He lives off campus in an apartment in another town and drives approximately 30 minutes to attend classes. He enrolled with the campus dining hall meal plan his first year only. He grew up in what he describes as one of the leading school districts in his state located in a wealthy area, even though he notes he and his family as being "lower middle class, but I grew up at least in the educational system in a higher middle class." He distinguishes his educational opportunities as luck due to the sectioning of districts in relation to his neighborhood: "my neighborhood just got lucky, for some reason, because the way things are sectioned off, I could definitely have gone to much lower districts, because I am lower socioeconomic." Juan self identifies as a biracial male of Caucasian and Hispanic descent. In his demographic form, Juan identified himself as Hispanic, while referring to himself as having Caucasian and Hispanic heritage during the interview process. He chose to attend this institution because it is well known for its criminal justice programs, and he's enjoyed his educational experience at the campus, even though he does not

participate in anything outside of class and work, considering himself a minimalist. He has held some form of employment since high school, typically working several jobs while maintaining a full course load between 12-15 hours per semester. While attending college, his parents agreed to pay half of his tuition and rent. He has qualified for some federal loans and grants but has not received any scholarships.

In many instances during the primary interview, Juan would refer to himself as a White male, yet other instances as a Hispanic male, and only referenced himself as a biracial male three times during our conversation. Speaking about his years growing up, his biracial social identity did create struggles for Juan throughout his life. Family and peers often referred to him as "whitewashed," with many pointing out that he did not speak what he referenced as perfect Spanish. Juan's inability to speak like his family and peers often singled him out within his culture, along with his fairer skin tone. He continued in the interview speaking about racism from both the White and Latinx communities, both of which he belongs to, and the distrust he has acquired because of this:

In fifth grade my sister told me not take a teacher because she was racist against Hispanics. It was the first time I really had to learn about racism. Sometimes it comes from [our] own people, and I have a sense of distrust. I have been profiled by my own people, saying I'm the problem because I'm half white. So, it's definitely a struggle between what to believe, and who to trust, if that makes sense.

Regarding Juan's low socioeconomic status, he spoke to his educational journey and the financial hardships in paying for college. As described earlier, he felt fortunate for having

a quality educational experience growing up even though he believed his family to be of a lower socioeconomic class and peers in the neighborhood over did not have the same experience in their district. He also noted his financial status offered him an opportunity in meeting people of all different ethnicities and cultures that allowed him to learn many different perspectives, for which he was grateful. Furthermore, when talking about his financial status he referred to his experience of first applying for college and the reality of tuition expenses and what financial aid for which he did and did not quality for:

If anything, it just makes it hard to pay for school because the middle classes, is too poor to pay for it but not quite enough to get real loans, or scholarships. So, everything pretty much comes out of pocket.

Pre-Pandemic

Juan expressed understanding and experiencing food insecurity at a young age. He recalls being eight or nine years of age when he noticed his parent's food buying habits. He remembers eating larger meals with a greater variety near his parent's paydays and as the week or month went by, meal selection and quantity reduced. During this same period is when Juan physically changed, noting his weight increased, and he began learning about food's nutritional value. He realized the food his parents could afford was a contributing factor to his weight gain:

Pretty much all we could afford we got spaghetti and macaroni and cheese. I first realized like I can't really eat anything else. And that was also when I first started realizing nutritional value to food, because it was at that same time that I got really fat.

Food insecurity for Juan meant more than not having enough to eat, it also meant not having the ability to afford healthy options. Not having healthy options was something he referenced when he was child, and equated that to the college diet, still unable to afford options that would allow him to feel and be healthier. When first enrolling in college it seems, nothing changed for Juan as he continued to work, live paycheck to paycheck, and purchase the same type of packaged and processed foods he was accustomed to, diet and budget wise. Juan discussed purchasing healthier options is a struggle due to working long hours, course load, and inconsistent work schedule with his concern being perishable items might spoil before he can use them. He referred to his meals and what he considers purchasing as being "efficient."

Additionally, when first attending college and enrolling in a meal plan, he maintains he still had a sense of food insecurity. He purchased the cheapest available meal plan. He spoke to the nutritional value of food provided and the increase of his weight. During his first year at college, he gained over 30 pounds, affecting his physical and mental abilities to perform academically:

The freshman 15 is a real thing. I think I gained over 30 pounds my freshman year. I had a food plan at that time too and you would think it seemed the healthiest so it was either have some dry salad, on the other side of court, or have like a meatball sub with some fries or something. Obviously, I don't want to eat salad every day, but it would have been a better option to do that, but because of that I had very low self-esteem and I was pretty depressed I'm pretty sure at some most points my grades heavily declined after that fact.

He states his eating habits he established as a child carried with him into college and contributed to his weight. Meals outside of the meal plan continued to be packaged and processed foods that were easy to make and within his budget. He correlated this to his previous and current low socioeconomic status.

Juan's parents assist him financially with expenses related to school and housing. However, utility, gas, and essential items are left for him to cover. He has held employment since high school all being hourly, minimum wage positions, to "earn his keep." In seeking financial aid when first attending college, he referenced his "half white" identity stating:

There are really no resources for a straight white dude anymore, or I guess ever, but there was anything for that. The only thing that I could possibly get help from would be if, I [identify] am Hispanic American. And it's always kind of bothered me. The whole process of it. It makes me feel off if I were to receive benefits solely based on my social identities. I don't want to be just a tax write off solely because I have darker skin than some people, because I know, like in the, in the areas I grew up with, there was, there was white people who didn't get the same thing I did.

Being Juan is biracial, he struggles with each of those identities along with his gender identity in seeking and accepting resources. A barrier for Juan is his internal struggle with feelings, thoughts, and emotions related to his racial and gender identities. During our first interview, he would often reference himself as either a White male or a Hispanic male, but seldom combined the identities. What became evident is that either identity he identified with was an internal struggle in seeking assistance. Juan believed resources

were not meant for his use because he did not meet the racial or ethnic identity requirements to utilize the resources or being male it was looked down upon as being unable to provide for himself.

When first enrolling in college he spoke about seeking scholarship funding. His selected major entering college was within the Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) field, and an opportunity for financial funding presented itself to him through an outreach program at the institution in what he called Hispanics in STEM. He describes the experience of one that further deepened his identity struggle:

My freshman year, I signed up for a scholarship with Hispanics in STEM, it was like, you get \$500 from a family or something, and I went to the house to meet with them. And it was just these two random Hispanic people who were just pretty much writing off checks, and I didn't even ask me for my name, they're just like how did you hear about this or whatever, they didn't ask me like my aspirations or anything like that so it just kind of rubbed me wrong, I suppose, just wrote the check and I left. It makes me feel off. I received the benefits solely based on my social identities, nothing about who I was or what I thought I could accomplish. So, I guess I feel if there was white a person who didn't get the same thing I did and they are smarter than me but didn't receive anything just because they are white, it felt unfair to me.

Juan's experience entering college further deepened his identity struggle, which influences his ability to seek out and receive resources. One aspect of Juan's experience I noticed is he described how this made him feel both in past and present tense. In particular he stated the experience "makes me feel off" and later noting, "it felt unfair to

me." This experience still resonates with Juan today and his ability to move past his identity struggle in accepting assistance. He has and will continue seeking out resources that do not target specific identities.

COVID-19 Pandemic

When Juan's institution shut down due to the concerns of COVID-19, he was allowed to maintain employment, which was very impactful in his ability to maintain "status quo." He noted increasing his usage of the on-campus food pantry as well as the money management center for students to assist with budgeting. He believed shutting the institution down made contacting professors and administrative offices (i.e., financial aid, academic departments, and academic resource centers) that much more difficult and required more of his time that he could have spent working rather than time trying to connect with those entities. When asked about his experience to the institution's response to COVID-19 he spoke in regard to communications received regarding resources available, noting:

It did seem the most resources were targeted towards different social identities so I felt I wasn't allowed to apply or go because it was targeted to something that didn't seem like I fit into, if that makes sense.

However, he did not recall anything specific when asked for further clarification regarding this experience. Additionally, he referenced the CARES Act and claimed he did receive first round funding but was denied on subsequent applications without understanding reasons for the denial. The experiences described by Juan regarding his institution's response and how that impacted his food insecurity were based on the decision of CARES funding. He was grateful for the maintained operations of the campus

food pantry and believed this positively impacted his food security status since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Juan felt the pandemic brought on many challenges, including the inability to go home due to his grandmother, loss of summer employment, heightened food insecurity, and anxiety. How he coped with the challenges was simply to just not think about it and work more to help him through his challenges. He related to his cultural Hispanic identity in describing how he coped:

I think that the try not to think about it and just keep working, though, that that Methodology, that ideology, kind of stemmed from my Hispanic background, because that's always what I've seen from my mother and my grandmother, because that's always what they've done they, they don't really care what's going on like with the rest of the world and they don't care like what other people think, like, what the situation is or what is going on they just do what they have to do and don't make a fuss about it. I use work and just keep moving forward, like saying that to myself in my head, to not worry about things and not try to pay attention to things that are happening that we have no control over, really.

When he speaks about using work as a method to cope it is to be understood the job is laborious and physically taxing. He alludes in his descriptions that he must be physically active in order to remove any thoughts or emotions regarding his experiences that he correlates to his cultural upbringing. Additionally, with his upbringing you do not seek out emotional or financial support, stating his family did not offer any further financial, emotional, or essential items throughout the pandemic being he held one job instead of two, with this family stating, "you have a job, you can take care of yourself."

Juan sought off campus support for his food insecurity and he learned about two food distribution events through campus communication. He knew it was not run by the institution but the communication he received about the food distribution event he felt was misleading. The first food distribution he describes he was denied and did not receive any assistance:

As soon as I got there, they denied me because they wanted to check my finances or something. I entered what I made the previous year, even though I was without my second job right now and struggling, they denied me. I was so confused because that was not communicated at all. So, I wasted my time going there.

The second off campus food distribution event resulted in the same outcome and he was again denied. Juan notes the university communication did not provide adequate details of requirements. Being he is both low socioeconomic status and identifies as a minority he did not understand the reason why he was denied assistance based on the university communication he received.

During the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic, summer of 2020, Juan's food insecurity was at its most severe levels. He typically works two jobs, however, he lost employment of one position due to shutdowns caused by the pandemic. As described previously he was unable to receive any additional financial support from family. On and off campus food banks were his only stable resource since the beginning of the pandemic. With the institution moving completely online, course work became increasingly difficult for Juan, stating reaching professors was exceedingly difficult and he had to teach himself the material. He had enrolled in summer courses, and he describes his experience

during the peak of the pandemic between academics and food insecurity as tiresome and the negative academic outcomes that followed:

The courses being online, seeking additional employment, and my food insecurity was at an all-time high, I really had to stretch you know meals to go farther. I had to stop myself from eating sometimes so I can have at least something tomorrow. So between that and school at the time actually was taking summer school at that point I completely failed that summer course. It was the lowest point for me since this all started.

He did not expand further as the conversation seemed to be difficult for Juan. He did share that from that point forward his experience with food insecurity and academic outcomes has improved.

Photo Elicitation

Juan and I reconvened about three weeks after our first interview. At this point he had submitted all three original photos in one file. Asking him if he enjoyed the assignment of the photos, he stated he did and found it to be thought provoking. He made note he thought he would be able to take the photos quickly but reflection of the prompts he wanted to "do it right." The first photo submitted related to the first prompt was to take a photograph that represents what food insecurity has been like for you during the pandemic. See Figure 4 for the submission of the photograph. This photo taken and selected for submission by Juan is that of his only dollar bill in his wallet. Since the beginning of the pandemic money has not been something easily obtained for Juan, which impacts his ability to provide food for himself. He chronicles his experience since the pandemic through the photo and why he captured it:

Well, ever since the pandemic started money's bit been a bit scarce, and I've had to run on very minimal money for meals through the week. I feel like a lot of other people's wallets are like this. I believe, if we can get the message around and try to get to people and they can receive help one way or another, the other people have the same wallets like me can get help with their food insecurity.

Figure 4
All I Have



Note. This photo is of Juan's wallet in which he titled the photo *All I Have*.

The capture and reflection of this photo left Juan feeling numb. It reminds him of all the bills and responsibilities that comes with being an adult but working two jobs he feels he should have more to show for it. The photo also produces a sense of sadness because he wants to be able to provide for himself better, such as healthier food items instead of cheap, packaged, and processed items. He narrated the photo connected to his Hispanic male identity and he explained, "Hispanic men who are you know working you know dawn to dusk they may have some money at the start of the week but, at the end of the week, it looks just like that."

The second photo submitted by Juan was based on the prompt to take a photograph that represents how your social identities have influenced your food insecurity while being a college student. See Figure 5 for the submitted image. The photo is that of protein (i.e., meat, canned meats or beans, and protein bars) on top of a calendar open to March 2020. Juan associated his male and college student identity to this photo. Being male he states he requires a significant amount of protein and being a college student, he has had to stretch out and meal plan the best of his ability.

Figure 5

Rationing



Note. The photograph is of canned goods, hamburger meat, and protein bars on top of a calendar. Juan entitled this as Rationing and his is interpretation of this act.

He further tells about meal rationing for weeks on end, measuring amounts to extend throughout the weeks and hoping for extra for the needed calories being he works two jobs, one more laborious than the other. He further described this photo as being a part of his Hispanic male identity. He states:

Going back to my social identities, a lot of people at my work and my other job pretty much come with containers full of food like that all day, every day, the week. At my job we are all Hispanic American, we all have this same Tupperware, and same food.

When asked what emotions this photo evokes, he proclaims a feeling of just being tired, "being food insecure is mentally, physically, and emotionally exhausting."

The final photo submitted by Juan was an image that represents how food insecurity has been influenced by your institution's response to the pandemic. See Figure 6 for the image. The image is of his coworkers at one of his two jobs, during a mid-day break after working just over six hours. Juan was immediate to state how this image represents the prompt:

My College has done not as much as most people would want, or think they have, so I have to work two jobs to pay for food, and it's laborious since the pandemic has ceased many jobs. This is considered essential. I don't feel they [the college] has [sic] been helpful. I'm struggling and food insecure.

Figure 6

Essential Work



Note. This photo is of Juan's co-workers eating lunch. They continued to work throughout the pandemic as they were all deemed essential.

Further clarification from Juan as to why he feels the institution has not been helpful include the university shutting down and moving coursework online and charging the online fee even though it is not the choice of the student. The added online fee caused tuition to increase which in turn he had to work additional hours and another job to be able to afford these added costs during the pandemic. The photo produces the same emotion of exhaustion as the previous image he submitted. When speaking of the emotion of the image he proclaimed, "as a straight Hispanic cisgender man, we're pretty much tied to this laborious work that is breaking our backs every day, just so we can support ourselves and our family."

Anitra

Meet Anitra, whose gender pronouns are she/her. She is a first-generation student whose first language is Spanish and identifies herself as a Catholic Hispanic female. She is a psychology major and is a few weeks away from graduating. She chose to attend this institution because her sister would also be attending during the same time, and she thought it would be better for them to attend together. She has loved her college experience at the institution, even though it was difficult to navigate at first (i.e., completing financial aid documents, course schedules, and connecting to student resources). She contributes her initial struggles attending the university to being a first-generation student and Spanish being her first language. She describes feeling overwhelmed her first few semesters until she was able to "understand the system" and believes had she come from a different background she would not have experienced these issues. However, she maintains she has really enjoyed the classes, professors, and the

entire college experience. She has maintained employment through on-campus positions during the long semesters throughout her college tenure.

Pre-Pandemic

Growing up Anitra was on the free/reduced lunch program and does not feel she or her family experienced food insecurity. She stated of always having plenty to eat and enough to share. She does recall visiting food banks when she was younger due to her family's financial instability but maintains never experiencing food insecurity. When asked what food insecurity meant to her, she stated, "not knowing where your next meal would come from, and if it would be healthy." She connects food insecurity to the inability to purchase healthy foods due to her family's low socioeconomic status and inability to purchase healthier options due to costs. Additionally, she did not learn from her family or in school how to make healthy choices for herself, noting:

I didn't really learn anything about it [healthy eating]. I mean they give us that little pyramid with the things that say like a dairy and whatever, but then they never really like focus on it and then with my parents it's just that's the cultural part. My mom cooks whatever she knows how to cook because we moved here from Mexico, but also my parents, didn't go to college they didn't finish elementary school they're not educated in health.

Her first experience with food insecurity stems back to her first semester enrolled in college. In high school, she relied on the free/reduced lunch program and when she transitioned to college, she did not have that support to fall back on:

In high school I was getting the free lunch thing, and you have a break for lunch and you go to the cafeteria and get lunch, but then, when I transferred into college, I had to start doing that, on my own, but I had to start spending money for it, and so, sometimes it was like I had to get gas and so I'd rather do that or other times I just I was doing like I was in school, so it didn't have time to go somewhere else.

She did not enroll in the institution's dining meal plan. Anitra has received financial support from her family throughout her time in college, though it has not been consistent, and can travel home on weekends to have her family provide meals.

Anitra feels being a first-generation student was a significant disadvantage in understanding what resources were available. When she was first accepted at her institution, she was unaware about how to "navigate the system," nor did she receive communication from the institution as to what resources (i.e., financial, student services, and support services) were now available to her. She states:

Just the whole being first generation, because my parents couldn't really help me. Whenever I first enrolled, this is the financial part of it, I didn't know of a lot of resources that were available to me. I didn't know how or what to apply for, I didn't apply to different scholarships that I would have been able to get every semester, because I didn't know about any of it and I didn't know how to ask for help either because I didn't know who to ask. They [the institution] didn't tell me anything, I'm not sure I would have known about some of these things if it wasn't for my friends.

After her first two semesters, Anitra believes she has learned all that the campus has to offer. She feels she did this on her own through connecting with different academic departments and student service areas, such as the on-campus food pantry on social

media. Once connected on social media, specifically the on-campus food pantry, she attended their food distributions regularly which has greatly alleviated her food insecurity.

COVID-19 Pandemic

When the pandemic began, Anitra believed her institution communicated and transitioned to the best of their ability given the situation. She again described how she has learned to connect to resources on campus through social media, therefore, she knew of resources such as the on-campus pantry, CARES funding, and exactly how the university continued to shift and respond as updated information regarding COVID-19 became available. She described becoming more aware of food insecurity in general once the pandemic began, stating:

I think I'm more aware of it now because before it was more of like if there ever was food insecurity, I would only think about myself; for now I think about like everybody else like if I'm going through this. I'm lucky enough to know about this [the on-campus pantry] because there's probably a lot of people that aren't and then I also I found out that it's like a really big thing [food insecurity] for students.

She is grateful that the university had a food pantry and it maintained operations throughout the pandemic as she credits the food pantry as alleviating food insecurity for her as well as the student body. Since the start of the pandemic she has received a significant amount of her groceries from the on-campus pantry. Regarding CARES Act funding, again, she credits being aware and connected to university communications via social media. She considered others who are first-generation and their first semester here

Since the pandemic I think about food insecurity a lot more, than prior.

as not being fully aware and shared a concern for those who may not know how to "navigate the system:"

I think they communicated fairly well, what resources we had like the pantry, but because what happened in the beginning [first semesters enrolled] where they [the institution] didn't really tell me about things, I just know more now, but others like me [first-generation] may not have known.

Overall, Anitra's food insecurity did not reach peak levels due to the availability of food at the on-campus pantry. During the start of the pandemic she was not employed but was able to secure work-study employment months later. Between living close to her family receiving their assistance, the institution's response of maintaining the on-campus pantry, and some savings, Anitra did not experience severe food insecurity.

Food insecurity prior to the pandemic was not considered a significant challenge to Anitra, and even though she did experience slight food insecurity since the start of the pandemic, the on-campus pantry was a significant resource in combatting that challenge reducing her stress levels:

The food pantry for sure helped me a lot with stress because I wasn't working for a while, I didn't really have a job. So, it was a pretty stressful time in the beginning, but I could put my focus on school instead of food, because in the beginning of the pandemic, it was like kind of mentally hard for me.

Anitra knew of mental health services available but did not utilize them. She is close with her family, especially her siblings, and was able to receive emotional and at times financial support from them. Other than the food pantry she did not seek out or utilize additional institutional resources. She claimed to be well aware of these services and felt

comfortable seeking them out if needed. There were no barriers described or related to any of Anitra's social identities directly, but she considered being first-generation and newly enrolled an issue for others as it was for her. The only challenge noted at the start of the pandemic was transitioning online, as it was not her preferred method of learning. This seemed to delay her in seeking employment.

For Anitra, the struggle from the start of the pandemic was the transition of face-to-face courses to online. This modality is not her preferred method of learning; therefore, she cites any negative academic outcomes related to the pandemic as being related to the institution's response closing campus and moving courses online, and not food insecurity, noting:

I don't feel like it [food insecurity] really affected my academic performance, I mean not really. Making the courses all online I had to work a lot harder, I had to focus on school lot more.

She exclaimed the move of making courses online she had to spend more time on online than usual ensuring she reached the outcome she wanted. She did not describe missing assignments, study sessions, or classes, and has maintained a positive academic record. She contributed her positive academic outcomes to her support system, her family, for being there when struggling with food insecurity.

Photo Elicitation

I reconnected with Anitra about four weeks after our initial interview. School and personal matters had prevented her from reaching out to me earlier, but she had fun thinking of the prompts and taking photos. The first photo submitted regarding the prompt to submit an image that represents what food insecurity has been like for you

during the pandemic. See Figure 7 for the submission of the photograph. The photo Anitra captured is that of some of her pantry items, all non-perishable items that are "easy to assemble" quickly. This photo represents how she has been sustaining herself throughout the pandemic, foods that are processed, long shelf-life, and fast to eat. She selected these items because of the health scare of the pandemic and not wanting to interact with people to reduce her risk of contracting COVID-19.

Figure 7

Efficient Meals



Note. These are all items from Anitra's pantry that she buys on a regular basis because the meals are quick to make.

She noted the importance of the image to her is this food is not nutritious in content.

Additionally, she described the food content is not something to sustain an individual and be something people live off on a continuous basis. The emotions produced with this photo were very neutral, and not something she felt she could really describe, much like when she reaches for one of the foods in pantry when she is hungry, "it's just food to get her through and nothing exciting, just fast and efficient". She found these foods she

selected relates to her college identity which she described as immature and childish, based on the selection of foods in the image.

The next image based on the prompt of an image that represents how your social identities have influenced your food insecurity while being a college student, and Anitra captured the image of her Abuelita cooking soup for her. See Figure 8 for the submitted image.

Figure 8

Abuelita's Home Cooking



Note. This is Anitra's grandmother cooking for her one evening during the pandemic. As she spoke in her first interview with me, family has been a huge role in ensuring her needs are met. Being a college student, her grandmother is one of her biggest supporters, and as Anitra smiled stated "she feeds me every chance she can cooking some of my favorite dishes, even when I'm not hungry." But the photo also speaks to her Latina heritage as she addresses it:

My social identity of being Hispanic or Latina and coming from very traditional family, we're very protective of each other, and I think that's what is described through the picture like protection during insecure times.

In her final photo submission for the prompt of how food insecurity has been influenced by your institution's response to the pandemic Anitra submitted a photo of canned items (i.e., vegetables and protein) from the campus food pantry she received. See Figure 9 for the image.

Figure 9

Campus Pantry Items



Note. These are items picked up from Anitra's on-campus pantry during a food distribution during the pandemic.

In speaking with Anitra her response to the image was enlightening to her experience:

As you see there is only canned food and it's like the institution has helped, but there's still some stuff missing, as well as in the other picture and it's next to the stove because really this food doesn't need to be cooked, but I wanted to show that that's what I mean there's something missing still I think I think the importance is to show that there is help but there's still more help that can be done.

Anitra is grateful for what she did receive from the on-campus pantry and verbalized understanding they only give out what they receive as donations. The photo she states

does make her feel gratitude for what the university did do for her and others, but still feels more could have been done.

Adrian

Meet Adrian, who's gender pronouns are he/him. Adrian describes himself as a straight, Christian Hispanic male. He is also a first-generation college student who chose to attend the institution because it was just close enough to home, where he could be independent yet still call home if he needed. He and his family moved to the United States from Mexico and he and his siblings were born here. His mother has a sixth-grade education, and his dad graduated high school and has taken some coursework in basic accounting. Growing up in the United States, he and his siblings attended the publicschool system and were on the free/reduced lunch program during his elementary school years but reaching middle school his father's hard work placed them outside of the programs income threshold. So far, Adrian has very much enjoyed his college experience and described at first being timid and shy dealing with imposter syndrome, to thriving, outgoing, and a confident individual who "found his voice on campus." Being the first in his family to attend college he describes feeling guilt during his first year attending simply because of the cost and leaving his family. But once he started engaging more with the curriculum and his peers his guilt subsided, and he sees how his family really supports and motivates him to be successful in college. He also spoke about his experience with contracting COVID-19 and the status of his health pre-and post-COVID-19 diagnosis. He has had issues with high blood pressure and has had to watch his health status due to his family history of diabetes. To date he is still dealing with the effects of contracting COVID-19.

Pre-Pandemic

Adrian believes food insecurity is when there is nothing on your shelves, or the quality of food product is poor for your health. Adrian grew up in a one income household as his mother cannot legally work in the United States, so his family was very dependent on his father's earnings. He remembers his father working, sometimes excessively, earning overtime in order for the family to not require assistance. Adrian states he was on free/reduced lunch programs due to their income. Because of the free/reduced lunch program and his father's work ethic, he never considered himself or his family as being food insecure stating:

Food insecurity wasn't at the top of my mind at the time, growing up, so my parents always found a way or we always had someone who was a close family friend who would help, that sort of thing, so I never really worried about food.

Upon entering college, he still received family support, financial aid, and income starting his second year, describing:

I had as far as resources counted, my father, I had grants and scholarships and then my income coming in from my job, and I believe that [sic] about it, I would occasionally go into the food bank and get some food every now and again.

However, it was Adrian's first year in college when he began understanding and experiencing food insecurity with the expense of college as a driving factor. His first year, he had the least expensive dining meal plan offered, which was about 30 meals per semester, and rather expensive. Putting his upbringing aside, he quickly learned how to seek out resources offered by the college describing:

Coming to campus and then seeing a lot of resources everywhere, free food, free clothes, that sort of thing, free events and all that was really able to put me in a position where I was able to get what I needed.

Realizing the cost of college and the added expenses being placed on his family, he acquired employment his second year at the institution as a resident advisor for one of the residence halls. His position has reduced his room costs significantly, allowing his financial aid to extend farther, but still not enough to sustain his basic needs. Upon his second semester enrolled at the institution however, he did begin to use the on-campus food pantry more frequently, noting it became one of his prominent resources for food.

Prior to the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, Adrian expressed never being a fan of accepting assistance, even during his hardest times of dealing with food insecurity. He contributes his hesitance to him being a Hispanic male, noting his family, specifically his father, was never one to accept what he called "handouts." He did not speak of any additional resources he utilized either on or off-campus. His greatest barrier in seeking resources was an internal struggle. He mentioned not seeking out services from the oncampus pantry at first, because of his Hispanic male identity, and his childhood upbringing, narrating, "being a Hispanic male has probably impacted significantly me seeking out help. My parents have never been the type to accept what they consider "handouts."

When discussion about off campus resources came up, he spoke to his religious identity as a barrier. Adrian does not have a church he belongs to within the city limits or on campus. He did not feel comfortable seeking out community resources stating:

My identity as far as Christian probably played a good part into not getting community resources. I'm not going to go to the churches, simply because I don't have a church here in [the city] so there was nowhere near that I saw as a place where I could go for help. Those places never even came into mind when I was thinking, hey where can I go to help or go to get help, so like they were never an option in my head.

On campus resources were the only type ever considered by Adrian. Once getting past the stigma, he felt more comfortable and confident with himself in seeking out assistance when needed, regardless of the concern.

COVID-19 Pandemic

At the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, in March 2020, Adrian narrated his unique personal and professional experience being a Resident Advisor. When the institution shut down, he described the situation as being somewhat chaotic, not knowing what was going on, and communication was intermittent. He followed the institution's social media and thought the communication was lacking at the beginning but has improved as the pandemic continues. A university organization he is a part of for Hispanic males in leadership distributed meal vouchers. He stated that many of the members were first-generation and unemployed (i.e., prior to or caused by the pandemic) and was the first type of assistance he recalls receiving from the university.

However, one particular concern he described is the institution not refunding prepaid monies in an account to purchase items at certain on-and-off-campus dining locations. At the beginning of the Spring 2020 semester, he had deposited several hundreds of dollars into the account, but once the pandemic began, the majority of on and off campus dining locations shut down, and his money was never returned. He narrated:

The way the account works is you either use it, or you lose it basically if you get to the end of the semester and you haven't used your \$200 - \$300 it doesn't matter, the situation you're not getting the money back there's no refund. And I don't think that the initial pandemic semester made any difference to that, that's just their policy. They never reached out to me to say hey here's your money back or hey you know, would you like your money back or would you like it for this next semester.

He felt this was an oversight by the institution, and a strict policy that does not take into account the various scenarios that students often face, but the fact the institution shutdown the dining halls and other on-campus eateries, financial accounts should have carried over to the following semester or refunded per the choice of the student. This instance and university response impacted Adrian's food insecurity immediately. Adrian does not have a vehicle, so getting to an open eating establishment across town that accepted the use of this account was not an option for him. Also, he like others, rationed the use of this account throughout the semester, with the inability to use the funds and then ultimately lose them was very difficult for him stating "everything went downhill, very quickly." His position as a Resident Advisor drastically changed as well at the start of the pandemic. At the beginning, the institution offered those living in residence halls refunds if they moved out at a certain date, and a majority of students took advantage of this option according to Adrian. However, a couple of hundred students still remained,

and he was not provided any personal protection (i.e., mask, gloves, cleaning supplies, or sanitizer) as he continued to be employed by the institution noting:

I had to go out of my way and find a way to not only get masks but get enough to where I don't use the same one over and over again for health reasons, like I can't just sit here and use the same mask every day because that's dirty and just unhealthy.

He described using the same two disposable masks for several weeks before his girlfriend was able to make additional ones for him. Being considered essential and still required to engage and interact with residents, attending to their needs or concerns, the lack of personal protection equipment has been a very difficult situation for Adrian to handle. Especially as other Resident Advisors chose to move out, his workload increased. He quickly became responsible for other residence hall during the start of the public health crisis and was required to check on residents and ensure buildings were secure.

Furthermore, even though his workload and working hours increased, he was instructed to continue to only clock 20 hours of work. As previously described, Adrian is a part of the federally funded work-study program in which departments do not pay for the student salaries until the money allotted for the student runs out, then the department either picks up the student on payroll or the student no longer is allowed to work. Not only does this affect his finances, working unclaimed hours, but impacts his ability to seek out food. He narrated this experience:

I was working almost 15 hours per day. And then things get incrementally worse because, on the weekends, which for us are Friday and Saturday I'm [primary responsible individual for residence halls] and your hours go from 15 to 24. I'm

on duty and stuff in the building until the next day at 5pm so that makes food very scarce item warm food a very scarce item...Being paid 20 hours, and then working almost 60 and then also food not being close enough during the time [during pandemic] the job progressively has starting to look less and less like something I want to stay in.

Working long hours, he wasn't being paid for, along with the shutdown of both oncampus dining facilities were significant factors in Adrian's food insecurity, specifically
at the beginning of the pandemic. He had never felt this form of moderate to severe food
insecurity prior to the pandemic, and the institution's response expedited this issue for
Adrian. He was grateful the on-campus pantry-maintained operations and claims the
pantry quickly became a major source of food for him. Without this he wasn't sure how
he would have made it through the beginning of the pandemic.

Adrian then quietly suggested he did not handle challenges brought on the pandemic well. He isolated himself as "it wasn't fully intentionally it was more mentally." The stress of the pandemic, an unhealthy relationship, contracting COVID-19, dealing with aftereffects of the illness, his job, coursework, finances, and friends leaving was very overwhelming for Adrian. The time he spent in quarantine was one of his most challenging times. Not only was he struggling with COVID-19, but the stress that comes with isolation. He spoke of his experience of the struggle of dealing with COVID-19, isolation, and dealing with the effects of the virus upon returning to work:

During the time that I spent being sick were the worst two weeks of my life and the month and afterwards were extremely difficult because I couldn't move around the way that I used to. I had a very, very limited amount of air during that

time, because my legs just couldn't accept the air. At first, and I would see spots.

And I would almost pass out from the effort and, mind you, this is a very different place health wise than where I was at the beginning.

He unknowingly had contracted the virus and had went home for a weekend prior to having symptoms. Ultimately his family contracted the virus from this visit, and he narrated the challenges experienced and the aftermath that pursued from that visit: I was the one that gave that to my family like I was the entry point for my family and my dad. He was sick for much longer than he should have been, and him being sick he was unable to work and was laid off, not because he was sick but the shutdown. This financially impacted my family in a bad way. During this part of Adrian telling his story it was apparent he still struggles with being the entry point for his family contracting the virus. As this led to not only his family grappling with the virus but no source of income stating, "my actions led to my home being sick and losing our major source of income that major source of income was responsible for making sure that I was fed." His father contracting COVID-19 exacerbated their economic situation as he had been out of work and had just recently found employment. This continues to be a difficult challenge for Adrian to navigate emotionally and mentally. This is in part why Adrian went back to work so soon after recovering from COVID-19. He attempted to seek out additional financial resources through the institution to help cover tuition and living expenses. He was not made aware by the institution how to apply and receive the first round of CARES funding until after the fact, so when the second round was made available, he applied and was denied because he was told he had not used all available financial aid means. The only financial aid not accepted by Adrian were student loans. This was very discouraging

for Adrian, as he did not understand why he should have to apply for student loans to place himself in further debt, when the funding was put in place for individuals in need. He and his family were living week to week with food insecurity, but the burden of student loans with high interest rates were not ideal and he narrates his experience of being denied by financial aid for CARES funding:

You shouldn't have to put yourself in a bad situation. As far as having hundreds of thousands of dollars worth of loans to receive help if the help is out to help people who need money for like not just school like, if I had taken out those loans that money would have ended up in their pockets already. And a lot of what they were taking into account were things that aren't really relevant at the moment, so things like my family's contribution is nonexistent at the moment.

Adrian was dealt multiple challenges throughout the pandemic. He sought resources, and some he was able to receive such as food from the on-campus pantry, but other than that he has struggled with how the university has responded regarding financial aid and his employment. The only method of coping Adrian spoke of has been seeking support from family, and his newfound relationship. He internalizes much of his struggle with challenges which he ties to his cultural identity stating:

As far as my identity goes, regarding this, I am more likely to use vocabulary that minimizes it because I don't want it to be a problem in my head, and so I project it that way. I don't know if you've noticed it, but when I talk about certain things I'll add like very little or something like that and that very much is me minimizing it personally, because if I say it out loud and acknowledging that would make the situation so much worse.

When speaking of coursework and the transition to online, Adrian expressed he did experience negative academic outcomes at the start of the pandemic. The cause was results of varied factors, but a major contributing factor was food insecurity. He chronicles his experience:

I will say, since the pandemic began, and like my food insecurity got more insecure. My grades have kind of faltered. A larger array of reasons, but that has played into it. Like being hungry and having to move online has kind of caused our schedules to become less understanding of our eating habits and more likely to schedule things that are unnecessary. But I've had to skip class to be able to get food because of the online scheduling now.

Moving courses online proved to be an issue for Adrian's modality of learning and scheduling purposes. Often the new limited dining hall hours conflicted with his now online schedule. Adrian has not failed any coursework, but he is disappointed in his overall GPA taking a decline, especially since it is not for lack of effort. Currently, he has stabilized his course schedule, which has allowed for more flexibility regarding his ability to obtain the necessities he needs and allow for time to do so.

Photo Elicitation

Adrian reconnected with me at exactly two weeks from our first interview. When we began our meeting, he noted his lack of energy and exhaustion as working and school had been rather difficult the previous weeks. When asking if he enjoyed the photo part of the research, he stated he did and took more photos than what he should have as it was difficult selecting just one image per prompt. His first image for the prompt what food

insecurity has been like for you during the pandemic is a current photo of his residence hall room fridge. See Figure 10 for the submission of the photograph.

Figure 10

A Weeks' Worth of Groceries



Note. This photo of Adrian's fridge depicts what he buys in a week for meals.

The photo is not just what he currently has but what it has been since the pandemic. In his fridge is lunch meat, cheese, fruit, and milk. Every day he eats a sandwich for lunch and possibly dinner depending on his work and course schedule. He buys inexpensive lunch meat and cheese and notes the milk is what he received from his on-campus pantry that as a long shelf life. He has chosen fresher items as opposed to packed and processed throughout the pandemic to "be as healthy as possible with as little access to healthy foods as I have." The image depicts the quality and quantity of food that keeps him going day in and out and has been his typical source of nutrition. After taking this photo he stated he felt worried, simply because reflecting on the prompt he realized how little was in his fridge and how few calories he was consuming daily. He also is particular in his shopping list not just due to budget restrictions, but he wants to limit his shopping to reduce his exposure to COVID-19. He currently hesitates to go to the grocery stores as he described how society is currently responding to the pandemic:

I like just to go to the grocery store right so though they'll show up without a mask you'll hear someone a couple aisles over coughing and so it's very much a nerve wracking place and so to look at this and then think I have to go grocery shopping, it's panic inducing, both because I have so little and also I'm scared for my health.

Speaking about his health, the milk in the photo reminds him of when he was a boy growing up, he was always told to be a big strong man one day he had to drink his milk. To this day he still buys and drinks milk but is conscientious of the fat content purchasing reduced or low fat. He being the first-born child and a son, his parents always reminded him to drink milk, he laughed as he recalls the interactions with his family, his two younger sisters were never made to drink as much milk as him, and as he grew older and getting out on his own in college he states, "I've learned a growing boy doesn't need that much milk."

The second photo submitted by Adrian is a photo of over-the-counter health remedies for various ailments in a ramen cardboard box. This photo was for the prompt to take a photograph that represents how your social identities have influenced your food insecurity while being a college student. See Figure 11 for the submitted image. The items in this image were all purchased by Adrian's parents to assist him during the pandemic. The Emergen-C was purchased at the beginning of the pandemic in an effort to ward off the virus by maintaining a healthy immune system, and the Theraflu and sleep aid were for his recovery efforts when he had contracted COVID-19, and the box was the chicken noodle ramen his parents has also purchased for him as he healed.

Figure 11

Get-Well



Note. The photo represents what Adrian's parents sent him during the COVID-19 pandemic and he was ill with the virus. He called it his *Get-Well* supplies.

The photo represents the anxiety he has endured prior to and during the pandemic. Interestingly, COVID-19 is now a part of his identity and who he is:

Especially after having COVID, and dealing with the isolation of the pandemic, I've become more and more aware of how my mental health affects things in my life. You know before I would have this feeling of like everything is closing in on me and I've learned that that is symptomatic of like having an anxiety attack, you know, having a panic attack. And this is very much a picture of like me accepting help where I have found it and me allowing myself to be given help like, and accept my mental health as part of who I am.

His family prefers homeopathic remedies as opposed to going to a physician, in part due to lack of insurance and lack of affordable healthcare. Taking and showing me this photo, he described as being a "relieving process." These items are hidden from the view of his

peers, because he sees it as a sign of weakness on his part, in needing and accepting help, and displaying his health issues, the photo he interprets as:

It makes me feel like you can see everything that has happened up until now, all this help that I've received and personally having someone who can see that I've received help kind of makes me very self-conscious.

It was evident in speaking with Adrian his sense of relief and embarrassment in speaking of the photo as he struggles with anxiety and letting others in. As noted in the self-identified demographics in Table 1, Adrian selected *unsure* regarding (dis)ability, as he has not been clinically diagnosed with anxiety attacks, and due to his lack of health insurance does not think he will seek out testing, but does believe he suffers for anxiety and panic attacks triggered by various health and isolation issues.

In the final photo, Adrian took and selected a photo of his pantry. This is in response to the prompt of how food insecurity has been influenced by your institution's response to the pandemic. See Figure 12 for the image. The photo contains food items, and empty boxes he leaves on his shelves of mainly non-perishable items. He quickly points out he opened the boxes for the photo to point out, "when people see my shelf of food, they don't see the real story behind it." He continued that the boxes are empty or almost but keeps them closed so there is an illusion to him having more than what he does. Also, the coffee has been there for over year, he stated the caffeine seemed to add to his mental health concerns, so it remains untouched in the back, but doesn't know why he hasn't thrown it out yet.

Figure 12

Not What You Think



Note. This photo titled *Not What You Think* shows many empty boxes in Adrian's pantry that he would otherwise have closed emulating there was something in the boxes. The illusion would make it seem his pantry is full when in fact majority of boxes are empty.

Majority of these items are items he picked up during the on-campus pantry distributions, stating "the food that I've received [in this photo] that is a direct impact of the school providing for me," and had his institution not had this resource he doesn't think his cupboard would be even half full at this point, it would have more likely been pretty empty. The photo further represents emotion of sustainability, in the sense of calories. Reflecting on the photo he notes the food being protein-centric, as being male he feels prefers protein over vegetables, and that it has a higher caloric content to sustain him through the day.

Xiomara

Meet Xiomara whose gender pronouns are she/her and is a 23-year-old graphic design major. Xiomara is a first-generation Latina college student, whose parents came from Mexico, and considers she and her family to be of lower middle class. While attending the public education system, she was enrolled in the free/reduced lunch program, as her father's income was the only steady source. Once graduated she attended a nearby community college and transferred into the 4-year institution and is very pleased with choosing this path as she feels it prepared her for the academic rigor and college experience. She chose to attend this institution because her cultural background is about being close to family, and the institution was her best option to go to school and remain close. She felt confident during her first semester at the institution as she could already navigate the system (i.e., financial aid, blackboard, payments, etc.). She was fortunate enough to secure a full ride at the institution, covering her tuition and books. She has held a job since coming to college and sends money home after she covers her day-to-day expenses to assist her family.

Pre-Pandemic

Xiomara defines food insecurity as having no idea as to where your next meal is coming from, and not having a steady means of obtaining nutritious and filling foods. Her first experience dealing with food insecurity happened when she was in high school, shortly after her parents' divorce. Her mother and siblings moved out and went to live with her mother's sister. When her parents' divorce was final, her mom became head of

household and her family fell below the poverty line and she chronicles her first-hand experience with food insecurity:

That's when things started getting tough and we didn't have that secure income at first anymore, when we got to go live with some of my aunts. And that was terrifying because they would ask us to pay for rent and my mom had just gotten a job and we were in high school, so we didn't have jobs. So, we relied on my aunts to give us food and it was a lot.

Once her mom's income stabilized her household food insecurity did as well. Prior to this instance she had never felt she experienced food insecurity. At school she was enrolled in the free/reduced meal program and with her family together there was always plenty to eat. The experience led Xiomara and her siblings to seek employment to assist their mom with expenses.

However, entering community college then the 4-year institution she did not have a meal plan to fall back on. Her financial aid, and academic record have allowed her to earn financial aid grants and scholarships to cover college tuition costs. However, she struggles with paying for rent, utilities, and necessities even though she is employed. She has worked on-campus through the federal work-study program earning just above minimum wage. She learned about the on-campus pantry and attended food distributions regularly, at times, sending food back home.

Besides the free/reduced school meal program, Xiomara remembers visiting food pantries after her parent's divorce. One barrier brought up in discussion, her mom came to the United States illegally, her father legally and once married her citizenship was granted on that basis. However, the divorce was a concern for her citizenship and her

mom finding a job as she speaks very little and broken English. Xiomara being bilingual has been a significant resource for her mom, especially when seeking assistance at food pantries. Some pantries they visited did not have individuals on staff to be able to communicate with her mom, so she often went with her to ensure they were able to secure food items needed. She also speaks of the stigma of low-income families employing the use of food pantries describing it as being seen as a shameful act in society, but being Latina and female, she speaks of pushing past this stigma:

Being Latina right, and a woman, means sticking close to my family I think that's a big part of it is that whenever I think of food insecurity, I don't only want to help myself; I also want to help everybody else in my family so, I think that makes us more accepting of help, like we have to do this [visit a pantry] to provide for our family, and whatever the resources are and whatever we have to do, I think that is how my identity has shaped me.

COVID-19 Pandemic

Once the pandemic began, Xiomara recalls the institution responded as best they could. She explained receiving emails about the shift of coursework via online, residence move-outs, however, she did not feel the institution communicated resources such as the on-campus food pantry or CARES Act funding appropriately, recalling the experience: I don't think they [the institution] did a good job by communicating not in the first round, at least for CARES Act or food pantry. They didn't advertise any of it very well. As time went on, I think it has gotten better, maybe it was the chaos of the situation at the beginning, but too many people, like first-generation students, who really needed it didn't know about these opportunities. Xiomara did receive CARES Act funding both times she

applied for it, which assisted not only her but her family in paying for necessities. In relation to the shutdown, she did feel institutional services were less accessible as questions she needed answered regarding payroll, or financial aid, took a longer response time than pre-pandemic times. An issue Xiomara had with the institution's response was the expected continued academic rigor of the institution when so much was taking place, especially at the beginning of the pandemic. She described the struggle of maintaining the institution's expectation and what her reality was:

You know it's a question of like what I am even doing this [coursework] for, why does it even matter right now. Because there's like bigger problems, you know there's my family couldn't get enough food and I'm supposed to be learning about rationalism, doesn't make sense to me.

She did have some professors who were empathetic to students, and it did seem the institution was putting out messaging that faculty and staff were to accommodate students to the best of their ability during these challenging times and transition. It was still the expectation of some professors to maintain the same rigor as pre-pandemic that was the issue for Xiomara.

According to Xiomara, being Latina means leaning on your family for support, and as the pandemic heightened, that is what Xiomara did. Additionally, she poured herself into her work-study position claiming the maximum number of hours each week to assist others in her family who had lost employment or reduced hours. She also attended every distribution held by the on-campus pantry, often sending home items to her family to lift the burden off her mom. She expressed her gratitude for her campus having a pantry and believes this is what sustained her as the pandemic lingered on. She

did not seek out any other resources at the institution and claims the mental toll the pandemic took did cause her to sleep a lot more. She did not know how to process the events taking place and the mental exhaustion she experienced from the events of the pandemic, sleeping was the only other form of release enabling her to handle the stress.

As the pandemic began mid-spring semester of 2020, Xiomara experienced negative academic outcomes related to the onset of food insecurity enhanced by the pandemic. She narrated this experience of the struggle of the reality of the pandemic in relation to maintaining the rigor of academic coursework and grappling with food insecurity:

I think food insecurity affected my motivation for school. Sometimes I did skip class to work a few more hours, but it was because of the pandemic, we were on Zoom anyway, so it wasn't really like I was missing a lot it's just that but focus my thoughts were always the world issues and feeding my family.

The online modality was not a preferred method of learning for Xiomara. She described feeling disconnected from her professors, and not being taught material as professors were just going through the motions. Her attention was focused on attending to the needs of her family, and herself. Besides skipping class to work more, she struggled with completing all assigned coursework. Her grades were negatively impacted but not to the point of failure of any course.

Photo Elicitation

Xiomara and I were able to interview about five weeks after our first interview. She only completed two of the three photos, her reason being she had not captured the photo that she felt spoke to the prompt. The first of two prompts she submitted photos

was a photo that represents how her social identities have influenced her food insecurity, while being a college student. See Figure 13 for the submitted image.

Figure 13

Dad's Fridge



Note. This photo submitted by Xiomara is of her dad's fridge when she visited him during the pandemic.

The submitted photograph is that of Xiomara's dad fridge, whom she visits and has not claimed residence with for years. She described the photo of random and various food items, some leftovers of cooked meals from weeks ago, expired items, and few items still edible. Her family has always told her to keep a full fridge, for herself and family and friends. She sees nothing worth or able to eat is in his full fridge. This is how she recalls growing up, prior to her parents' divorce, her fridge always resembling this, full but with non-edible items taking up majority of the space resulting in her experience of food insecurity. The importance of this image to Xiomara is:

To show that quantity is not the same as quality, I mean there's always this conversation I have with my best friend about food insecurity that society is really

like poor people don't deserve to eat healthy, because of the cost. For example, a burger is much cheaper than a salad.

The food items in this fridge are what Xiomara describes as cheap and unhealthy items. Yes, the fridge is full but with poor quality and nutrition. Growing up with a low economic status, the photo reflects on her eating habits related to this identity and reflecting on the image:

You know growing up we looked healthy, my dad looks healthy now, but taking a peek into this and reflecting on how this is how we grew up because of our income, it's just sad, and it's not fun to think about. I mean this shows how I established my eating habits; this is how they developed and why.

She further denoted the image shows the cyclic nature of low-income households and food insecurity. Without education and income, she would reproduce this cycle and she thinks her fridge would look just like this had she not enrolled in college to better herself in hopes of gaining employment with a higher income.

The second photo resonates with the prompt how food insecurity has been influenced by her institution's response to the pandemic. See Figure 14 for photo submission. The photo is that of her mom preparing dinner for her and her sister in her apartment. Her mom went out and either purchased or received fresh groceries from a community food bank along with items Xiomara and pick up from her campus pantry to prep a big meal to spend time with her daughters. They coordinated what they each had to determine the meal she would prepare.

Figure 14

Mom's Cooking



Note. This photo is Xiomara's mom cooking for her and her sisters in her apartment one day with items from the on-campus pantry and food she brought with her.

She selected this photo because she feels it shows that her institution did provide her with some items, she needed but not everything. That's how she equated the university's response to the pandemic in general, they did what they could, but they missed opportunities to support their students when they needed it the most. In relation to her food insecurity, without her mom's ability to also seek assistance, they would not have been able to coordinate this meal. Meal planning like this is a privilege for Xiomara. Nonetheless, the photo evokes hope for Xiomara, that her contribution to this study will illustrate the need for higher education reform policies and practices for student services. When we ended this interview, she had requested an additional week; however, I have not been able to communicate with her about submitting and interviewing for the final photo.

Cross Cutting Narrative Themes

In this section, I present nine cross cutting themes that emerged from the narrative data simultaneously for participants during the COVID-19 pandemic. The nine themes include a) survival tactics, b) unhealthy eating, c) normalization of food insecurity, d) religious values, e) racialization of food insecurity, f) mental health, g) gender, h) communication patterns, and i) campus safety. Each theme presented itself across the intersections of participants' identities and their experiences of food insecurity during the pandemic.

Survival Tactics

To mitigate their heightened food insecurity, participants allude to survival tactics. They sought support from the on-campus pantry, some outside resources, meal planning, and family support. All students expressed that they frequently took advantage of the on-campus pantry to assist with the strain of food insecurity, for themselves and at times their families. Juan and Xiomara spoke of seeking out community wide resources. None spoke of the personal utilization of SNAP benefits which relates to previous research (GAO, 2018; USDA; FNS, 2019), indicating many college students are often unaware that SNAP benefits may even be an option and, if they are, may still be unwilling to apply due to the stigma (Diamond et al., 2019). Skipping meals and meal planning benefitted in moderating fear in the sense of being without food in the near term. However, Juan, Anitra, Xiomara, Colette, and Adrian would meal plan, and still find themselves limited. This was evident in Juan's photo response and Adrian's initial interview. Participants in this study noted their inability to prepare meals typically results in hunger. Meal planning is assists them in maintaining a budget, which typically never

allows for the purchase of high priced healthy food options. Juan describes his experience:

So it just kind of you know resonates that you're only limited to so much food a week, so that you have to prepare it, and make sure that all the food that you have during the week gets you through each meal or, if you have to skip meal. Because you can only spare so much food you have to make sure that none of that goes to waste, you can only have one big meal during the middle of the day and that's pretty much it.

Meal planning was a common theme in combating food insecurity. Each meal is carefully thought about in regard to cost, quantity, nutrition, preparation time, and mobility (i.e., can food be easily transported across campus).

Unhealthy Eating

Another point of discussion in review of the narratives is the tension students must mitigate between their health, finances, and convenience. COVID-19 emphasized the need for a healthy immune system, which relates to a healthy and nutritious diet. All five participants maintained that establishing healthy eating habits was among their top priorities; however, due to financial constraints or panic buying caused by the pandemic, this was not feasible. All students indicated that eating unhealthily was attributed to the lack of access and lack of consumption of perishable items such as fruits and vegetables. Regrettably, fresh perishable items typically are not budget friendly. Xiomara illustrated this in her narrative comparing prices of fast food to fresh salads, noting a significant price increase for the latter. Unanimously, all participants described being a college student meant being on the 'ramen diet'; many depicted the image of the noodles in their

photos. The concern for Adrian, Juan, Colette, Anitra, and Xiomara was the lack of nutrition and high sodium contents they had and the impact on their health, especially during a pandemic. Adrian spoke of his health concern eating low nutritional value foods:

I know it has been [college student experience] looking over at like my food shelf and seeing I'm running low on Ramen. It's bad for my health but it's something that I can eat for calories. But sometimes I do have to consider what is healthy because I have a family history of high blood pressure, and diabetes, so things like Ramen, and even canned vegetables can't always be on my menu, as I have started having issues with high blood pressure. So they might be calories but they might also put me in a hospital bed. I must be very forward facing in the sense that I don't want to be 30 years old, and then have to constantly be on medication because of my bad diet in college.

In struggling with finances and purchasing healthy foods, if available, often finances took precedence. Both Adrian and Juan provide in their narratives the tension between purchasing healthy foods, their health, and food insecurity. Juan described:

I think not being able to buy healthy foods because your box mac and cheese is \$1 and a salad is \$5, what are you going to choose if you only have \$20 for the week to yourself? It's those choices you must make between health and your financial situation, like can I have lunch today or am I going to just drink water and suck it up and not eat one or two days. We always talk about college kids being on the ramen diet, and I suppose a big part of what people don't understand, unless they are going through college right now going to college is different than it was back in the day.

Both articulated the emotional and physical burdens associated with being unable to afford to a healthy lifestyle while in college is ever-present, both echoing the financial straits of prioritizing health over financial security could result in their inability to pay for their education.

Normalization of Food Insecurity

All participants unanimously expressed that they perceived enrolling in college as a timeframe in their life that they would be financially strained and would at some point deal with food insecurity by being on the 'ramen diet.' Identifying as both low socioeconomic status and first generation, food insecurity was generally anticipated by all five participants. At this intersection, Juan, Colette, Adrian, Xiomara, and Anitra's food insecurity identity was not only expected, but normalized. Both Colette and Juan spoke to the normalization of food insecurity in respect to the overlap of these identities stating, "I think again the ramen ties back to being a first time college student because that's like a staple for any college student," and "coming to college you are on the ramen diet, but I've lived off it already," respectively. Connecting back to the literature, first-generation low socioeconomic status students have been more likely to experience food insecurity (Cady, 2014; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2018; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020; Payne-Sturges et al., 2017), and society has normalized this average college student diet of cheap and easily accessible processed meals that significantly impacts minority first-generation low socioeconomic students more than other student populations. Now with the COVID-19 pandemic students have been responsible for managing their food insecurity with fewer resources. Each participant had internalized food insecurity as a college student as a normal expectation, therefore, the enhanced struggle of these food insecure students did

not raise any additional concerns for them as they deemed their experience as normal based on their social identities as low socioeconomic college students.

Religious Values

Additionally, all participants in this study suggested their identity as a Christian, and their religious values undermine help-seeking behaviors, as they believe it is a community responsibility to support others in need. Not specifically noted as a barrier, however, to understand students' compassion and concern for others undermines their own needs result in a reduction of resources. Early American social policies were focused around Judeo-Christian principles in that community members who had the means (i.e., financial resources) had the responsibility to care for those who did not (Hudson & Coukos, 2005). All five participants self-identify as Christian's of various denominations. Juan described his religious values impacting his food security because he felt it necessary to assist others who were also struggling:

When I say to people, I'm Catholic, especially in college, a lot of people are like that's like the worst type of Christianity. But I don't see it as that, I help people just like others do. I knew of some people who were also struggling, and I was trying to help them. So I did, I mean it didn't break the bank on me, but it definitely did lower like what kind of foods I can get, I went back to cheaper items and cut back on stuff. I also would help my parents and other people so they can get through the week also.

Additional examples were, Adrian, who would attend pantry distributions, "making sure to get what I need and don't overdo it, and use up others resource," and then Colette expressing "if I can get food on my table, I don't want to take resources from others, so I

just hold off." Even as these students struggled during the pandemic, due to their religious beliefs and values, they at times would not take additional support from the various means in fear they take too much and decrease the support for others.

Racialization of Food Insecurity

Furthermore, the results of this study suggest that food insecure students interpret their marginalization as connected with their racial identities. Juan is biracial, identifying as both a Hispanic and White male, and Colette is of Asian racial identity but holds a White cultural identity from her adoption, both declaring an identity crisis that inhibit their food security status. These students attempted to break down stereotypes they perceived to be held against them in relation to their White identities. Colette's narrative offers and unique perspective:

I was bullied as a kid, but it was more because I'm adopted, than me being Asian, but then also, just knowing I'm also Chinese, but growing up in a White family is very different and I had like a mini-identity crisis. I question all my actions and situations I am in, because I look Asian, but I grew up in a White family.

The identity crisis relates Colette to being a part of a marginalized demographic but feeling as if her upbringing is part of the dominant narrative; thus, she struggles internally with her food security status.

Juan's struggle is, as he states throughout his interviews, that he is "half and half."

Juan's salient identity, as either a White male or Hispanic Male, was often defined by the social interaction in which he would be allowed to perform that identity. As noted in intersectionality theory, the "likelihood of a given identity being played out in social interaction will be significantly impacted by the salience of the identity relative to the

salience of other identities the person holds" (Brenner et al., 2014, p. 231). His biracial social identity generated internal conflict. When identifying himself as a White male he felt food assistance programs were not meant for him to utilize. Yet when seeking services, he identifies himself as a Hispanic male, but expressed shame due to the cultural aspect of receiving benefits.

There aren't really any resources for a straight white dude anymore, or I guess ever, but there was anything for that. The only thing that I could possibly get help from would be if, they see me as my other half a Hispanic American. And its always kind of bothered me.

An additional unique perspective on identity and food insecurity was evident in Juan's narrative. Consequently, Juan made it a point to emphasize that his identity as an employed individual did not fit with the rhetorically built identity of individuals who struggle with food insecurity even though the pandemic has been an unusual time for all, stating "when the school shutdown I still worked on campus, and I know I wasn't going to lose any money I had income you know, but I'm dealing with it [food insecurity] like those on unemployment."

Mental Health

Mental health was a topic discussed by all in the study. Xiomara, Juan, Colette, and Adrian expressed experiencing higher levels of stress and anxiety throughout the pandemic. Colette specifically addressed her increased levels of anxiety and depression:

At the beginning, when I had to return home, I got really depressed after I left work and school, I did not have that social interaction with other people. I wasn't eating right or at all, and the stress of not having food added to my mental health.

I wouldn't get out of bed, I started getting behind on schoolwork because school was still in session at that time, I was literally sleeping for 16-17 hours a day, because I just could not pull myself out of bed. I had a lot of anger which played into my depression, my anxiety was off the charts.

The economic pressures created by COVID-19 pandemic experienced by participants also contributed to the exacerbated increase in mental health disorders including depression and anxiety.

For Adrian, even with a purchased meal, COVID-19 still heightened food insecurity because of the additional stress placed on his mental health. Researchers van Woerden et al. (2019) describe the connection between meal plan usage and mental health as connected. Stress, anxiety, and depression all affect daily life, and individuals who are experiencing these variables withdraw from the dining hall experience directly reducing meal plan usage. With the need to limit social interaction because of spreading COVID-19, Adrian expressed his withdraw from visiting the dining hall for the grab-andgo meal and grocery stores as, "worrying mixed with a little bit of anxiety," as his fear of contracting the virus again or passing it on caused his mental health to decline and in turn he withdrew for seeking out food at times. Adrian spoke to withdrawing from society because of the COVID-19 pandemic as a struggle between food security and mental health:

Everything has changed. And it's not going to go back to the way that it was before, and they don't think it can ever go back so until there is some sense of normalcy I will have to remain in survival mode to keep myself not only fed but

mentally stable. Because of the pandemic I don't feel like I can leave my room, and I have to tell myself, I can leave if I need, especially for food.

Adrian, along with other participants, reduced seeking out and obtaining food for mental health reasoning increasing their food insecurity status throughout the pandemic. As Colette mentioned, her anxiety and depression dramatically increased at the onset of the pandemic, so much that she was often unable to get out of bed, and she credits barriers to seeking out resources were because of the state of her mental health.

Gender

All participants placed identity salience regarding gender. Most notably Juan and Adrian, who both identified as male, established concerns of food insecurity correlated with their gender. Both described being male, intersecting with their Hispanic ethnicity, as highly impacting their ability to seek out resources for their food insecurity. Adrian, as previously described, noted that growing up a Hispanic male impacted his ability to accept handouts. Further, he stated his male identity was "coming to a place where I require assistance and coming to terms with asking for help has been a big portion of why at first, I didn't go a lot to the food pantry." Adrian contributes much of his male identity in likeness of his father, who is the sole provider for the family and being male he finds the same responsibility placed on him noting:

[My dad is] my motivation in the background because my father is my motivation and I'm his motivation as well. Kind of feeds into the whole, like, why are you here, sort of the [sic] also but as far as like who I am now.

Juan, being biracial and male has had a significant impact on Juan's life. In the beginning of the interview, he describes the overlap between these two identities, and his reality of being a "half white-half Hispanic male:"

To be honest, being a male actually ties in with my Hispanic Mexican side as well because as soon as Hispanic men are able to lift heavy things we pretty much are working for the rest of our lives, and trying to provide for our family in any way possible, with little rest.

Juan continued throughout his narrative describing how his biracial and gender social identities have caused internal conflict regarding his food security status. Juan eludes to his gender as meaning constant labor, and constant labor equated to financial resources in providing for one's self, stating:

Almost every male, that is in my family works full time jobs and is almost never home, and they do hard labor, and not to say that, you know, the women don't work for themselves either; they usually work as well. But being male you work dusk till dawn, coming home tired, I've had to bring home money since high school...being a male I know pretty much deep down, like, I'm a laborer. So, I don't know if it's just been ingrained into me, or if it's just instinct.

Anitra, Colette, and Xiomara, whom all identified as female, did not express any concerns in seeking assistance related to their gender. However, it seemed expected and normal behavior of females to seek out resources. Xiomara describes her gender as being more accepting:

Being a woman, right, makes us more accepting of health [responsibilities], and I we feel so strongly about like, having the resources to provide for our family and it's more like we need to provide the resources that can help us, you know.

Anitra described her gender as part of her culture. For example, it is her mother who cooks as opposed to her dad. In regard to seeking resources, she believed she "sought them out even more" because she was female. Each of the three participants who identified as female, were less concerned with any form of stigma in seeking out resources as compared to the male participants of the study. Gender was a significant identity portrayed throughout all the narratives related to food security and resources.

Communication Patterns

All participants of the study asserted inadequate communication from the university as among issues related to financial, academic, and food resources heightened their risk of food insecurity. However, each participant credited their institution's oncampus pantry as a significant resource reducing their food insecurity during pre and current pandemic periods, insisting multiple times through each narrative the maintained operations of the on-campus pantry reduced their level of food insecurity. Still, each contemplate at some level of conclusion that their institution of higher education has not developed effective services to meet the needs of all students. Assumptions by higher education and society suggest all students benefit from financial privilege of being college students, and those who do not are predictably suppressed by the dominant narrative (Sifferlin, 2014).

Every participant of the study is a first-generation student and the majority did not understand how to, in their words, 'navigate the system.' Communication, especially in

emergency situations, is critical. Each of these participants had utilized the pantry prior to the start of the pandemic, therefore, knew of their services. However, as described by Adrian, communication by the university was "a little rough, I didn't really receive a lot of information at first everything sent out was chaotic, but as the semester had gone on information got a little bit better more streamlined." The main source of communication received for each of the participants was through the university's social media. This is how many learned of resources such as the on-campus pantry food distributions.

However, CARES Act funding presented confusion between the participants in how they were made aware if at all. Anitra and Xiomara stated they recall seeing information via social media for the first round, however, Juan and Adrian recall seeing communication for the second round through email and not social media. Message alignment across all communications platforms was not visible to every participant, therefore undermined the university's effort in effectively communicating resources and operations.

Campus Safety

Two participants, Colette and Adrian, spoke to campus safety as being a concern that impacted their food security. The closure of one of the two dining halls and limited operations was the university's response to the pandemic which created issues for both participants. Colette narrated:

Because I don't trust some people on campus, I would have been going to the pantry more often and I had to grab some food I could keep in my residence hall to eat. I was not willing to go outside alone because on the weekends and Friday nights the only cafeteria open was across campus. I am not going to walk across campus in the dark, to go get food.

Being the only open dining hall was across campus, Colette deemed this as a safety issue for her, and would not go for meals depending on time of day. Adrian also was concerned visiting on and off-campus dining options before and during the pandemic stating:

Being an RA, I thought I was going to be free to like [sic] go and buy something whenever, but I can't leave the building till five, and it's dark by five. And I don't want to walk off campus because there's very few like [sic] intersections where I can cross at and I don't want to get hit, or the food is like a mile away, and I don't think I can make it across campus and back, because of no crosswalks, it's just unsafe.

Adrian also spoke to personal safety in terms of health once the pandemic began. Holding employment at the university as an RA, he was not provided proper PPE, which was a huge cause of concern for Adrian. He describes:

Our position wasn't as valued as we thought and then at the start of the pandemic being told you're going to have to provide your own personal protection equipment and make sure that you tell us when you get sick. I just kind of felt even more like a slap in the face. We ended up having to provide everything for ourselves.

Adrian was really discouraged by the university's response to his personal safety as an employee. He was expected to maintain and even increase his job duties without personal protection equipment. Not only did he not feel safe navigating the campus after dark, but also as the pandemic began, he was fearful for the safety of his health due to the university's response.

Conclusion

Within this chapter I have introduced the participants and outlined their lived experiences through their narratives and original photos. The introductions offered an opportunity for the reader to meet each participant and learn a little about their backgrounds. Secondly, participant narratives portrayed their experiences with food insecurity pre and current pandemic timeframes while enrolled in college, sharing insights of challenges encountered, resources expended, how their institution responded, and perceptions of how their personal and social identities influenced their food security status. Second, original photos provided by each participant are displayed and discussed in how they currently view through their lens their experience of food insecurity while being a college student throughout a pandemic. Finally, I discussed cross-cutting themes within each of the participants' narratives.

CHAPTER V

Discussion, Implications and Recommendations

The purpose of this narrative inquiry was to explore food insecurity experienced by college students during the COVID-19 pandemic utilizing an intersectional framework, and how intersecting social identities of students influenced internal and external campus support systems, perceptions of food insecurity on academic performance, and higher education's general response to the twin crises of a global pandemic and college student food insecurity. In chapter four, I presented the experiences and perceptions of Colette, Juan, Anitra, Adrian, and Xiomara regarding their food insecurity during COVID-19 and the role their social identities placed on the meaning participants attached to their experiences with the phenomena. Grounded in narrative inquiry along with photo elicitation, the following research questions guided this study:

- 1. How did college students experience food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession?
- 2. How did college students experience of intersecting oppressions (institutional, social, and cultural) arising from their social and personal identities (i.e., age, race, gender, sexual orientation, (dis)ability, religion/religious beliefs, international students, non-US citizens ,and social class/socioeconomic status) shape the experience of food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic?
- 3. How did an institution's response to the COVID-19 pandemic influence a college student's food insecurity status and shape their academic performance?

Intersectionality was the theoretical lens informing this study, as discussed in chapter two. Intersectionality theory examines overlapping systems of privilege and oppression. It challenges the dominant discourses by placing an emphasis on the contradictory narratives illuminating marginalized voices through the "material, structural, and political realities that co-construct lives/narratives" (Chadwick, 2017, p. 15). The experiences and perceptions of the marginalized voices compared with dominant narratives demonstrates how knowledge construction and individual meaning making is dissimilar (Harding, 2004). I employed the following broad tenets of intersectionality for analytic insights: a) social identities are not singular and independent from another but various and intersecting; b) individuals from historically marginalized populations are the primary point of attention; and c) social identities at the local level (i.e., intersections of age, race, gender, sexual orientation, (dis)ability, religion/religious beliefs, international students, non-US citizens, and social class/socioeconomic status) intersect with prominent structural factors (i.e., economic, racism, residential, and sexism) to illustrate segregated and oppressive outcomes.

Discussion of Findings

Participants in this study began telling their narratives chronologically from the time they were young children in elementary or middle school, to first entering college, to present time. In this study, the participants disclosed varied events in their lives, their experiences with food insecurity pre and during pandemic while enrolled in college, challenges and barriers they encountered, how their social identities influenced their food security status, and how their academic outcomes were influenced. Photo elicitation was employed in the second interview process to elicit an understanding created from the

participants' narratives and to open space for the expression of thoughts, feelings, and experiences. Discussion of findings will be outlined in answering each of the three research questions.

Food Insecurity during the COVID-19 Pandemic

In this study, each participant had a unique understanding and definition of food insecurity but shared the common theme of not knowing where their next meal would come from. Participants related their past experiences with food insecurity to current times that were compounded by the COVID-19 pandemic. One thing of importance, in participant introductions, is all five participants had been previously qualified and took part in the national free/reduced lunch program prior to entering college. Each of the participants credit this program as to why they did not experience or feel they experienced food insecurity at a more extreme level prior to college. As cited in previous research (Artegag & Heflin, 2014; Bartfeld & Dunifon, 2006; Gundersen et al., 2012; Huang & Barnidge, 2016; Kabbani & Kmeid, 2005) households with students who participate in the free or reduced meal programs are less likely to experience food insecurity than households whose students do not participate, and this was expressed by each of the five participants of this study. Being there is no college equivalent to free or reduced meal programs (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2017), each of the five participants experienced new levels of food insecurity during their first semesters enrolled in college. This study suggests participants respond to their situation using two distinct time periods, pre and current pandemic status, with situation and continuity of the three-dimensional space narrative structure central to each of their narratives (Clandinin & Connelly, 1990, 2000; Dewey, 1938).

Prior to entering the pandemic, every participant expressed experiencing some level (i.e., mild, moderate, or severe) of food insecurity when first enrolling in college. Assessing the types and amount of support they received determined the severity of food insecurity experienced. However, with the onset of the pandemic, Colette, Juan, Anitra, Adrian, and Xiomara all expressed heightened food insecurity. Colette was the only one to return home when the university shut down and still expressed experiencing an atypical experience with food insecurity. Juan, Anitra, Adrian, and Xiomara all remained living on or close to campus and continued in work their work-study positions either remotely or on location. Juan, Anitra, and Xiomara did not speak of reduced hours from their on-campus employment; however, Colette experienced lack of employment opportunities. Colette's experience is in line with current data. Nearly 53% of students occupying work-study positions either lost employment or had a reduction in wages due to university closures (Soria & Horgos, 2021). Colette and Juan were the only two to seek out additional employment. Juan was able to secure additional employment; however, Colette was unable to find a position, noting the uncertainty caused by the pandemic, shutdowns, and recession she was "either rejected or ghosted" in her application process. Students who were employed prior to the COVID-19 pandemic described job insecurity as a relevant concern (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2017). Now, as the unemployment and underemployment rates for the college age demographic remain elevated what continues to follow is reduced income to afford food.

Intersecting Oppression Related to Food Insecurity during the COVID-19 Pandemic

The results of this study suggest the participants are internalizing intersecting oppressions regarding overlapping social and personal identities. To reiterate,

intersectional research centers marginalized voices, often suppressed within power systems (i.e., economic, social, and cultural), and their correlation to unequal social outcomes (International Encyclopedia, 2015). As a result of inequitable balance of power in society, individuals who do not align to the dominant narrative are cast to the margins of society. Oppressed and marginalized populations must overcome the stigma associated with their identities before they consider the authority to speak of their experiences (Solorzano & Yosso, 2000; Sue, 2003; Sue, 2010).

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, previous research (Bruenig et al., 2017; Cady, 2014; Coleman-Jensen et al., 2016; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2015; Martinez-Aleman et al., 2015; Wilson & Conron, 2020) had identified students with marginalized identities are more likely to experience food insecurity. Understanding these inequities would only worsen due to the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession, higher education should have adjusted their response to support students beyond health and safety precautions. Current data (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020; Gundersen et al., 2021; Mialki et al., 2021; Owens et al., 2021) demonstrates the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on the health and financial wellbeing of BIPOC populations. These disparities call on researchers to reexamine the intersections of student social identities and how higher education is addressing and serving BIPOC students and other marginalized identities experiencing food insecurity by dismantling stigma and expanding access for students of all identities experiencing food insecurity.

In current (Chirikov et al., 2020; Soria & Horgos, 2020) and prior research (Kroenke et al., 2003; Kroenke et al., 2007; Soria, 2015) students from low socioeconomic backgrounds were significantly more likely to be diagnosed for anxiety

and depression compared to students from middle and upper-class backgrounds. Every participant in this study noted this overlap of identities and experienced heightened stress, anxiety, and depression. The pandemic only increased this physiological response, in turn negatively influencing each participant's food security status. As examples, Colette noted her inability to get out of bed, Anitra slept more often, and Adrian feared leaving his residence hall room. Additionally, Soria et al. (2020) reported in their study that a majority of first-generation college students were more susceptible in experiencing one or more forms of financial setbacks (i.e., lost employment, reduced wages, or increased living expenditures) caused by the COVID-19 pandemic than continuing-generation students, thus increasing the likelihood of food and housing security. Results of this study clearly fall in line with this current research as each participant indicated experiencing some form of financial hardship because of the pandemic, which increased their level of food insecurity to some degree.

Intuitional Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

Participatory research in this study through photo elicitation offered a safe space for marginalized individuals to reveal their struggles and frustrations with navigating institutional complexities during the COVID-19 pandemic. Specific university responses, such as shuttering campus and moving course work online, posed unique challenges to students with food insecurity. Pre-pandemic research (Alaimo et al., 2001; Jyoti, et al., 2005; Winicki & Jemison, 2003) denotes food insecurity among marginalized students were much more likely to have experienced negative academic outcomes due to food insecurity, and current research (Osborne & Hogarth, 2021; Son et al., 2020) indicates the performance gap increased because of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Juan did not feel the university shutting down was the correct response stating, "the response from the campus of the University was to just shut everything down. I mean that really isn't going to help anybody." He narrated his experience grappling with food insecurity as exhausting, which he also included in his photo elicitation. He, along with Anitra, Adrian, Xiomara, and Colette all experienced some form of negative academic outcomes (i.e., failing grades, missing assignments, or skipped classes) related to their institution's response to the pandemic and their food insecurity.

The findings of the study resulted in each participant contributing access to their institution's on-campus food pantry as a significant resource prior to and during the COIVD-19 pandemic assisting them in keeping their food insecurity from progressing to a more severe level.

Limitations, Implications, and Future Research

Limitations

As with any research, this study has limitations that provides opportunities for future research. The first limitation of this study stemmed from collecting data from only two ethnic groups (i.e., self-identified as Chinese and Hispanic). Expanding the sampling of other racial and ethnic populations (i.e., Black, Native American, White, etc.) would further diversify narratives collected, offering important insights within intersectionality theory in understanding race along with other identities including but not limited to age, gender, sexual orientation, (dis)ability, dependent status, religion/religious beliefs, international students, non-US citizens, and social class/socioeconomic status. The exclusion of populations was not intentional; the study simply did not generate interest among certain populations.

Second, the small sample size prevented significant conclusions on experiences surrounding food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic through various intersectional lenses (i.e., sexual orientation, religion, race, (dis)ability, gender, socioeconomic status, citizenship status, and age). A larger sample size would offer a more representative range of the student body experience of food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic. A third limitation is the selection of only one location for data collection. As COVID-19 generated a global shutdown, in the United States different states approached shutdowns differently, inherently affecting economic and higher education's response. Furthermore, some regions were more afflicted with higher positive rates of COVID-19 that could also influence responses.

Higher Education Policy and Practice Implications

Multiple considerations for stakeholders should be contemplated when employing this research to assist the development and assessment of more inclusive and equitable student support services, policies, and practices (e.g., Gooden, 2015; Patel, 2016). Policy and practice implications include: a) enhance counseling services to remove stereotypical internalized oppression; b) addressing campus culture that intensifies impostor syndrome (i.e., stereotype threat, lack of visible community, and racism); c) employing a basic needs security assessment tool; and d) addressing inequalities in financial practices and policies. In addition to these strategies, policymakers and executive educational administration as social justice leaders should focus on addressing multiple forms of structural oppressions perpetuated by their institutions and society, which inhibit students of diverse social identities from an equitable college experience.

Enhancing Counseling Services

Previous research studies have underscored the influence of individual, institutional, and societal dynamics that adversely affect an individual's well-being (e.g., Sue & Sue, 2013). Adjusting to college life is a complex process that requires an individual to adapt and cope to the various demands of higher education. Students of marginalized identities are no exception to this, and must adjust while encountering additional challenges (i.e., oppression, discrimination, and exclusion). This research suggests that food insecure students of marginalized identities were at an increased likelihood of mental health concerns during the COVID-19 pandemic due to their associated identity. "Mental health practitioners must realize that racial/ethnic minorities and marginalized groups in our society live under an umbrella of individual, institutional, and cultural forces that often demean them, disadvantage them, and deny them equal access and opportunity" (Sue and Sue, p. 120). Pandemic induced stressors of this research included anxiety concerning health, relocation, online learning, and isolation. Disparities are often increased during crises and universities should be proactive in their outreach of students with pre-existing conditions, marginalized populations, and firstgeneration status (Liu et al., 2020). Offering telehealth options, and virtual delivery of therapy options, could improve access and reduce stigma of seeking services. Implications of this study suggest institutions must be intentional with establishing counseling outreach and services for vulnerable populations. Universities should assess mental health services, education, and healthcare practices through an intersectional lens to facilitate a more equitable and informed approach in addressing diverse student needs.

Address Campus Culture

Universities have an opportunity upon reopening of campuses in building a culture of caring based on a deep understanding of diverse student needs and acceptance. Policy and culture change are critical in addressing student food insecurity. When discussing campus culture, we must consider the current climate of events taking place on a national level. Racial tensions were at a peak during the onset COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. One example, Anti-Asian hate crime increased 149% in 16 of the United States largest cities during 2020 (CSUSB, 2020). Universities must acknowledge their current climate pertaining to inclusivity and acceptance of differences. Acquiring a knowledge base involving this issue begins with universities focusing on data pertaining to campus hate crimes, discrimination cases, and assaults on a national, state, and local level to become fully aware of the prevalence of the issue. Institutions are called to increase the level of racial awareness and inclusiveness enhancing campus culture through educational campaigning, for students, staff, and faculty. Institutions must focus on engaging with their campus community regarding diversity, equity, inclusion, and acceptance in curriculum, programming, and campus life activities.

Second, institutions must be intentional with offering institution-wide capacity building opportunities to address socially mediated oppressions (e.g., eradicating the stigma of visiting food-banks, mental health, or money management services) within their campus culture. Societal beliefs, attitudes, and actions often condone and perpetuate this form of oppression. Educational campaigning bringing awareness to and the dismantling of these beliefs and actions would further enhance campus culture.

Additionally, the need to reduce the stigmatization of utilizing the pantry. Many students

hesitate utilizing resources for fear of the societal belief that use of these resources are shameful and embarrassing. In relation to this stigma, is the fear of taking away from others. In this study, several of the participants expressed fear of taking items from the food pantry as it would take away from others in need. Participants of this research expressed not wanting to go to the food bank, or take as much as they were allowed because they didn't feel they really needed the assistance in the manner in which food banks are portrayed, that is only individuals who are in desperate situations attend food distributions. Food banks at institutions, and in general should consider how marketing efforts of their visual identity must do more in reducing the stigma of who and why food banks are utilized. The existence of food pantries alone cannot end food insecurity if individuals will not take advantage of the resources offered. Societal stigma is the number one related barrier reported in college student food insecurity (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020). College food banks' marketing campaigns should focus on normalizing the usage of resources such as food pantries and develop marketing strategies and verbiage that debunk myths and stigmatization of college student food insecurity.

Basic Needs Security Tool

Though this research study focused on food insecurity, there are resources available and a need to support general basic needs security. A basic needs security tool should be developed and administered to assess the level of basic needs security of the university student body. In addition, the present findings could be utilized to explore ways to expand the reach and impact of existing emergency food distribution and to inform decisions about restructuring residential dining programs. However, implications of the current crisis, the COVID-19 pandemic, underscores the systemic foundation of the

college student hunger crisis, and the challenges with higher education relying on one or two emergency support systems (i.e., food pantries, emergency funding, or free meal programs) in combating student food insecurity. The pandemic brought forth significant structural and social injustices that require policy solutions. As research scholars (Freudenberg et al. 2019; Phillips et al., 2018) have suggested and advocated for a policy change in that institutions offer free/reduced lunch programming similar to what is provided in primary education settings. Such policies could significantly reduce food insecurity. Resources, such as on-campus pantries, are only meant for short term, temporary relief, and the employment of a basic needs security tool can indeed assess an institution's greater need in addressing causes of resource deficits (i.e., financial aid).

Addressing Financial Inequalities

The overarching concern regarding food insecurity was related to financial challenges pertaining to the university's response and limitations at the state and federal level regarding CARES Act funding. These two issues were prominent federal responses enacted at the institutional level which a few participants in the study had to battle. Prepandemic research had previously noted the most reported inequality that intersects with the experience of food insecurity for college students was low-socioeconomic status (Bowleg, 2012), shaping student experiences to the point of normalization of food insecurity while in college (Cady, 2014; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2018; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020; Payne-Sturges et al., 2017). Now, higher education's financial based policies and practices (i.e., tuition, housing, financial aid, etc.) demonstrate the disproportionate impact COVID-19 had on students with marginalized social and personal identities leaving them with progressively grim academic and financial choices and the pandemic

lingers on (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020; Stebleton et al., 2020). Specifically, distribution of CARES Act funding was based on 2019 FAFSA eligibility, which failed to capture current pandemic financial situations for many students. The FAFSA is dictated by federal law and relies on individual and family tax information from two years prior to demonstrate their financial need (Dynarski & Scott-Clayton, 2013; Sanders, 2021). The formula employed to determine a family's expected contribution is fixed by Congress. Therefore, modifications to FAFSA policies would involve legislative amendments that may come too late to alleviate the financial stress that students are currently experiencing. Pre-pandemic financial challenges were identified as a common concern for all participants related to the cost of tuition, residence, transportation, food, and other miscellaneous items (Cady, 2014), and as the pandemic began and continued these challenges exacerbated the financial hardships and a new reality of living and providing basic necessities came into existence for Adrian, Juan, Colette, Anitra, and Xiomara. Structural oppression is entrenched within higher education's financial aid polices and maintaining them will continue to be unsuccessful in equalizing the landscape for marginalized populations, especially during life altering events such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

Federal and state policy relating to funding during the COVID-19 pandemic proved to be problematic at an institutional level in accordance to Adrian and Juan's experience in being denied funding based on pre-pandemic financial need levels. Adrian spoke to current COVID-19 CARES Act funding distribution practices as not reflecting the current dire financial experiences had by students. Unlike the FAFSA, no appeals process was evident in student's seeking CARES Act funding who were denied, leaving

little ability for students to request an institution to reevaluate the decision. Unmet financial need has serious implications for college access, persistence, and degree attainment, specifically as marginalized student populations are forced to choose between tuition or food security (Fletcher et al., 2021). Pre-pandemic policies and practices had long demonstrated to price out low-socioeconomic students (Goldrick-rab, 2016), now the financial gap of college affordability will continue to widen for marginalized student populations who have encountered the brunt of economic hardships generated by the COVID-19 pandemic (Goldrick-rab et al., 2020).

Theoretical Implications

On the theoretical level, this study suggests implications concerning the responsibility of intersectional research and abolishing oppressive constructs through the dismantling of dominant power structures. Intersectionality as a theoretical framework enables research-informed policy change. As the predominance of current research on college students who experience food insecurity is that of the dominant narrative (Goldrick-Rab et al., 2020), this study expanded upon the collective understanding of students with oppressed and marginalized intersecting social and personal identities who are experiencing this critical phenomenon. The findings of this study do suggest that college students of marginalized intersecting social and personal identities not only have been deeply affected by food insecurity throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, but also in their institution's response. Furthermore, it was evident several of the participants still struggle to make meaning of their intersecting axis of identities in relation to their food insecurity pre and current pandemic. What was also made evident is that access to an education does not equal access to resources exposing the lack of equality perpetuating

the marginalization of some students while privileging others during the COVID-19 pandemic (Collins & Bilge, 2016; Roland, 2018; Simkins, 2005). This study contributes to the growing body of research through the employment of intersectionality theory and the inequitable educational and financial policies and practices of an ever-growing diverse student body within the higher education setting (Dickler, 2020; Goldrick-Rab et al., 2016).

Most of the research conducted on college student food insecurity primarily conceptualize the experience through quantitative and demographic frameworks (Dubick et al, 2016; Patton-Lopez et al., 2014). As a predictable result of this methodology, the voices of marginalized populations most inflicted with food insecurity are missing in the very research intended to represent them. Different perspectives outside the dominant discourse suggest the need for targeted educational campaigning toward engaging with and providing resources for students. Different social and personal identities warrant different needs. Providing marginalized food insecure students, the platform to convey the actuality of their experience via narrative and photo elicitation, this study offers an understanding of student food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic to encourage real organizational and policy changes.

Future Research

There are gaps within this study that future research might benefit through the exploration of intersectionality as a framework to further explore college student food insecurity and the influence of COVID-19 on higher education policy and practice.

Additional research in intersectional policy frameworks could address intersecting systems of inequity and influence student food insecurity outcomes. Moreover, it is

essential for student support services (i.e., campus food pantries, money management centers, and academic centers) to be identified and evaluated in determining current policies and practices that either support or inhibit marginalized student populations and ability to utilize these services, specifically in times of emergency or crisis. Future research should include the intersectional lens regarding college populations and basic needs security in an effort to emphasize institutional change to support marginalized populations. In addition, inquiry exploring other basic needs security areas with the use of photo elicitation and how systems of oppression work in line to either encourage or prevent marginalized college student populations in assistance seeking behaviors during a crisis, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, is warranted.

Conclusion

In this chapter, I reiterated the purpose of the study and discussed the findings of the study through the lens of intersectionality pertaining to each of the three research questions and how they contributed to the existing body of literature. In addition, I provided theoretical implications of intersectionality theory to the phenomenon, policy institutional implications from this study for key stakeholders and future directions for higher education in the establishment of equitable and inclusive policy and practice.

REFERENCES

- A black feminist statement: The Combahee river collective. (1974). *Monthly Review: An Independent Socialist Magazine*, 70(8), 29. https://doi.org/10.14452/MR-070-08-2019-01_3
- Adama, E. A., Sundin, D., & Bayes, S. (2016). Exploring the sociocultural aspect of narrative inquiry: A dynamic nursing research methodology. *Clinical Nursing Studies*, 4(4), 1-8. http://dx.doi.org/10.5430/cns.v4n4p1
- Adler, P. A., & Adler, P. (1987). *Membership roles in field research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Adamovic, E., Newton, P., & House, V. (2020). Food insecurity on a college campus:

 Prevalence, determinants, and solutions. *Journal of American College Health*, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1725019
- Alaimo, K., Olson, C. M., & Frongillo, E. A. (2001). Food insufficiency and American school-aged children's cognitive, academic, and psychosocial development.

 *Pediatrics, 108(1), 44.
- Algert, S., Reibel, M., & Renvall, M. (2006). Barriers to participation in the food stamp program among food pantry clients. *American Journal of Public Health*, *96*(5), 807-809. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2005.066977
- Altman, R. C. (2009). The great crash, 2008: A geopolitical setback for the west. *Foreign Affairs*, 88(1), 2–14.
- American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, Pub. L. 111-5, 111th Cong., 1st sess. (2009). https://www.congress.gov/bill/111th-congress/house-bill/1/text

- Anderson, S. (Ed.). (1990). Core indicators of nutritional state for difficult to sample populations. *Journal of Nutrition*, *120*, 1557S-1600S.
- Arteaga, I., & Heflin, C. (2014). Participation in the national school lunch program and food security: An analysis of transitions into kindergarten. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 47, 224-230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.09.014
- Ashiabi, G. (2005). Household food insecurity and children's school engagement.

 *Journal of Children and Poverty, 11(1), 3-17.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1079612042000333027
- Asghar, J. (2013). Critical paradigm: A preamble for novice researchers. *Life Sciences*, 10(4), 3121-3127.
- Aucejo, E. M., French, J. F., Araya Ugalde, M. P., & Zafar, B. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on student experiences and expectations: Evidence from a survey.

 Journal of Public Economics, 191, 1-15.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2020.104271
- Bacher-Hicks, A., Goodman, J., & Mulhern, C. (2020, July). Inequality in household adaptation to schooling shocks: COVID-induced online learning engagement in real time. (Working Paper No. 27555). http://www.nber.org/papers/w27555
- Bailey-Fakhoury, C., & Frierson, M. (2014). Black women attending predominantly

 White institutions: Fostering their academic success using African American

 motherwork strategies. *Journal of Progressive Policy and Practice*, 2(3), 213–
 228.
- Baksin, K. (2020). Food insecurity in the age of COVID-19. *TuftsNow*. https://now.tufts.edu/articles/food-insecurity-age-covid-19

- Barr, M. J., & McClellan, G. S. (2017). Budgets and financial management in higher education. John Wiley & Sons.
- Barr A., Turner S.E. (2013). Expanding enrollments and contracting state budgets: The effect of the great recession on higher education. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 650(1), 168–193.
- Bartfeld, J., & Dunifon, R. (2006). State level predictors of food insecurity among households with children. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 25(4), 921-942. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.20214
- Bartkowiak, B. (2015, August 31). Michigan leads nation in fighting hunger on campus [Web log comment]. http://stateofopportunity.michiganradio.org/post/michigan-leads-nation-fightinghunger-campus
- Baum, S. (2019, March). Rethinking Federal Work-Study: Incremental reform is not enough. *Urban Institute*.

 https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/100007/rethinking_federal_work_study_0.pdf
- Berelson, B. (1952). *Content analysis in communication research*. Glencoe, IL: Free Press.
- Bergerson, T. (2006). Race, poverty, and academic achievement. http://www.doh.wa.gov/
- Berrington, A., Roberts, S., & Tammes, P. J. R. (2016). Educational aspirations among UK young teenagers: Exploring the role of gender, class and ethnicity. *British Educational Research Journal*, 42(5), 729-755. https://doi.org/10.1002/berj.3235
- Bešić, E. (2020). Intersectionality: A pathway towards inclusive education?

 *Prospects, 49, 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11125-020-09461-6

- Bhattatarai, G.R., Duffy, P.A., & Raymond, J. (2005). Use of food pantries and food stamps in low-income households in the United States. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 39(2), 276-298. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6606.2005.00015.x
- Bickel, G., Nord, M., Price, C., Hamilton, W.L., and Cook, J.T. (2000). Guide to measuring household food security, Revised 2000. *USDA*, *Food and Nutrition Service*. www.fns.usda.gov/sites/default/files/FSGuide_0.pdf
- Blagg, K., Gundersen, C., Schanzenbach, D. W., & Ziliak, J. P. (2017). Assessing food insecurity on campus. Urban Institute.
 https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/92331/assessing_food_insecurity_on_campus_0.pdf
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research*, 19(4), 426-432.
- Borron, A. (2013). Picturing the underserved audience: Photovoice as method in applied communication research. *Journal of Applied Communications*, 97(4), 6-18. https://doi.org/10.4148/1051-0834.1124
- Bowleg, L. (2012). The problem with the phrase women and minorities:

 Intersectionality—an important theoretical framework for public health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102, 1267-1273.

 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.300750
- Brenner, P. S., Serpe, R. T., & Stryker, S. (2014). The causal ordering of prominence and salience in identity theory: An empirical examination. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 77(3), 231–252. https://doi.org/10.1177/0190272513518337

- Brewer, J., & Hunter, A. (1989). Sage library of social research, Vol. 175. Multimethod research: A synthesis of styles. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Bricker J., Dettling L. J., Henriques A., Hsu J. W., Moore K. B., Sabelhaus J. (2014).

 Changes in U.S. family finances from 2010 to 2013: Evidence from the survey of consumer finances. *Federal Reserve Bulletin*, 100(4), 1–41.
- Broton, K. M., & Goldrick-Rab, S. (2017). Going without: An exploration of food and housing insecurity among undergraduates. *Educational Researcher*, 47(2), 121-133. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X17741303
- Brown, M., Ray, R., Summers, E., & Fraistat, N. (2016). #Sayhername: A case study of intersectional social media activism. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 40(11), 1831-1846. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2017.1334934
- Bruening, M., Brennhofer, S., van Woerden, I., Todd, M., & Laska, M. (2016). Factors related to the high rates of food insecurity among diverse, urban college freshmen. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *116*(9), 1450-1457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2016.04.004
- Bruening, M., Argo, K., Payne-Sturges, D., & Laska, M. N. (2017). The struggle is real:

 A systematic review of food insecurity on postsecondary education campuses.

 Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 117(11), 1767–1791.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2017.05.022
- Buch, K., Langley, S., Johnson, T., & Coleman, N. (2016). A university-community partnership to combat food insecurity among college students. *Partnerships: A Journal of Service-Learning and Civic Engagement*, 7(1), 16–26. Retrieved from http://libjournal.uncg.edu/prt/article/view/1332

- Cady, C. L. (2014). Food insecurity as a student issue. *Journal of College and Character*, 15(4), 265-272. https://doi.org/10.1515/jcc-2014-0031
- Calvez, K., Miller, C., thomas, L., Vazquez, D., & Walenta, J. (2016). The university as a site of food insecurity: Evaluating the foodscape of Texas A&M University's main campus. *The Southwestern Geographer*, 19, 1-14.
- Cannuscio, C. C., Weiss, E. E., Asch, D. A. (2010). The contribution of urban foodways to health disparities. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 87(3), 381-393. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-010-9441-9
- Cassidy, W., & Jackson, M. (2007). The need for equality in education: An intersectionality examination of labeling and zero tolerance practices. *McGill Journal of Education / Revue Des Sciences De l'éducation De McGill*, 40(3). https://mje.mcgill.ca/article/view/585
- Center for Study of Hate & Extremism (CSUSB). (2020). Anti-Asian prejudice March 2020. [Fact Sheet]. https://www.csusb.edu/sites/default/files/FACT%20SHEET-%20Anti-Asian%20Hate%202020%203.2.21.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020a). *National pandemic strategy:*Pandemic intervals framework. https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pandemic-resources/national-strategy/intervals-framework.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020b). *Coronavirus disease 2019*(COVID-19 FAQ). https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/daily-life-coping/share-facts.html

- Chadwick, R. (2017). Thinking intersectionality with/through narrative methodologies.

 *Empowering Women for Gender Equity, 31(1), 5-16.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10130950.2017.1341172
- Chaparro, M. P., Zaghloul S. S., Holck, P., & Dobbs, J. (2009). Food insecurity prevalence among college students at the University of Hawai'i at Manoa. *Public Health Nutrition*, 12(11), 2097-2103. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980009990735
- Cheng, D., Cochrane, D., & Gonzalez, V. (2017). Student debt and the class of 2016-2017. *The Institute for College Access & Success*, Oakland, CA.
- Chirikov, I., Soria, K. M., Horgos, B., & Jones-White, D. (2020). *Undergraduate and graduate students' mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic*. University of California at Berkeley, Center for Studies in Higher Education.
- Christensen, M. C., Capous-Desyllas, M., & Arczynski, A. V. (2020). Photovoice as a multilevel tool for gender and sexual identity exploration. *Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 10(2), 219-231. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044389419889710
- Clandinin, D. J. (2013). *Engaging in narrative inquiry*. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press, Inc.
- Clandinin, D. J. and Connelly, F. M. (2000). *Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Clandinin, D. J. and Rosiek, J. (2007). Mapping a landscape of narrative inquiry:

 Borderland spaces and tensions. In D. J. Clandinin (Ed.), *Handbook of narrative*inquiry: Mapping a methodology (pp. 35-75). Sage

- CLASP (2015). [Table depiction of 'yesterday's non-traditional student is today's traditional student']. *Center for Postsecondary and Economic Success*. http://www.clasp.org/resources-and-publications/publication-1/CPES-Nontraditional-students-pdf.pdf
- Cohen, D. and Crabtree, B. (2006). *Qualitative research guidelines project*. http://www.qualres.org/HomeEval-3664.html
- Cole, B. A. (2009). Gender, narratives and intersectionality: Can personal experience approaches to research contribute to "undoing gender"? *International Review of Education*, 55(5/6), 561-578. http://www.jstor.org/stable/40608078
- Collins, P., & Bilge, S. (2016). *Intersectionality*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Connelly, F. M., & Clandinin, D. J. (1990). Stories of experience and narrative inquiry.

 *Educational Researcher, 19(5), 2-14.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X019005002
- Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, S. 3548, 116th Cong., 2d Sess. (2020) (enacted). https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/3548/text
- Corus, C., & Saatcioglu, B. (2015). An intersectionality framework for transformative services research. *The Service Industries Journal*, *34*(7-8), 415-429. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2015.1015522
- Coleman-Jensen, A., Nord, M., Andrews, M., & Carlson, S. (2011). Household food security in the United States, 2010: United States department of agriculture, USDA-ERS Economic Research Service No. 125.

- https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/44906/6893_err125_2_.pdf?v=86 4.3
- Coleman-Jensen, A., Nord, M., Andrews, M., & Carlson, S. (2012). Household food security in the United States, 2011: United States department of agriculture,

 USDA-ERS Economic Research Service No. 141.

 https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/45020/30967_err141.pdf?v=4116
- Coleman-Jensen, A., Nord, M., & Signh, A. (2013). Household food security in the United States, 2012: United States department of agriculture, *USDA-ERS Economic Research Service No. 155*.

 https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/45129/39937_err-155.pdf?v=42199
- Coleman-Jensen, A., Rabbitt, M. P., Gregory, C. A., & Singh, A. (2019). Household food security in the United States, 2018: United States department of agriculture,

 USDA-ERS Economic Research Service No. 270.

 https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/94849/err-270.pdf?v=7522.5
- Coleman-Jensen, A., Rabbitt, M. P., Gregory, C. A., & Singh, A. (2020). Household food security in the United States, 2019: United States department of agriculture, USDA-ERS Economic Research Service No. 275.

https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/99282/err-275.pdf?v=9906.3

College and University Food Bank Alliance. (2020). *About: CUFBA*. http://www.cufba.org/about/ g/about/

- Collins, P. H. (1992). Transforming the inner circle: Dorothy Smith's challenge to sociological theory. *Sociological Theory*, *10*(1), 73-80. https://doi.org/10.2307/202018
- Constas, M. A. (1992). Qualitative analysis as a public event: The documentation of category development procedures. *American Education Research Journal*, *29*, 253-266. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312029002253
- Craig, S. L., Eaton, A. D., Pascoe, R., Egag, E., McInroy, L. B., Fang, L., Austin, A., & Dentato, M. P. (2020). QueerVIEW: Protocol for technology-mediated qualitative photo elicitation study with sexual and gender minority youth in Ontario, Canada. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 9(11). https://doi.org/10.2196/20547
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 139-168.
- Creswell, J. W. (2015). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Sage
- Crowe, S., Cresswell, K., Robertson, A., Huby, G., Avery, A., & Sheikh, A. (2011). The case study approach. *BMC Med Res Methodology*, 11, 1-9 https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-11100
- Crutchfield, R. M., & Maguire, J. (2018). California State University office of the chancellor study of student basic needs. http://www.calstate.edu/basicneeds
- Daughtery, J. B., Birnbaum, M., & Clark, A. (2019). Having enough: Students' understanding food insecurity and campus food pantry use. *Journal of Poverty*, 23(7), 600-620. https://doi.org/10.1080/10875549.2019.1652721

- Defeyter, G., Stretesky, P., Long, M., Furey, S., Reynolds, C., Dodds, A., Porteous, D.,

 Mann, E., Stretseky, C., Kemp, A., Fox, J., & McAnallen, A. (2020). Food

 insecurity and lived experience of students (FILES). London, UK: Parliament.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341882323_Food_Insecurity_and_Live
 d_Experience_of_Students_FILES
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). The SAGE handbook of qualitative research.

 Sage.
- Dessel, A. B., Woodford, M. R., Routenberg, R., & Breijak, D. P. (2013). Heterosexual students' experiences in sexual orientation intergroup dialogue courses. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 60(7), 1054–1080. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1080/00918369.2013.776413
- Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and education. Collier Books.
- Diamond, K. K., Stebleton, M. J., & delMas, R. C. (2019). Exploring the relationship between food insecurity and mental health in an undergraduate student population. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, *57*(5), 546-560. https://doi.org/10.1080/19496591.2019.1679158
- Dickler, J. (2020, August 31). Due to pandemic, more than 13 million college students are worried about their financial future: Study. CNBC.

 https://www.cnbc.com/2020/08/31/majority-of-college-students-are-worried-about-money-due-to-covid-19.html
- Diez, J., Conde, P., Sandín, M., Urtasun, M., Lopez, R., Carrero, J. L., Gittelsohn, J., Franco, M. (2016). Understanding the local food environment: A participatory

- photovoice project in a low-income area in Madrid, Spain. *Health & Place*, 43, 95-103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.11.012
- Dominguez-Whitehead, Y. (2016). Conceptualizing food research in higher education as a matter of social justice: Philosophical, methodological and ethical considerations. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, *4*, 551-565. https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2016.1216087
- Drew, C. J., Hardman, M. L. & Hosp, J. L. (2008). Participant selection and assignment.
 In C. J. Drew, M. L. Hardman, & J. L. Hosp, *Designing and conducting research in education* (pp. 81-108). SAGE Publications.
 https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781483385648
- Dubick, J., Mathews, B., & Cady, C. (2016). Hunger on campus: The challenge of food insecurity for college students. *National Student Campaign Against Hunger & Homelessness*, 1-46.
- Duran, A., & Nunez, A. M. (2020). Food and housing insecurity for Latinx/a/o college students: Advancing an intersectional research agenda. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1538192720963579
- Dworkin, J., Cai, Q., & Savage, M. (2020). *COVID-19: College parents speak out*[Survey Summary]. https://innovation.umn.edu/college-parent/wpcontent/uploads/sites/8/2020/10/College-Parents-Speak-Out_FinalReportOct2020.pdf
- Dynarski, S., & Scott-Clayton, J. (2013). Financial aid policy: Lessons from research. *The Future of Children, 23*(1), 67-91. http://doi.org/10.1353/foc.2013.0002

- Eichelberger, B., Mattioli, H., & Foxhoven, R. (2017). Uncovering barriers to financial capability: Underrepresented students' access to financial resources. *Journal of Student Financial Aid*, 47(3), 70-87.

 https://ir.library.louisville.edu/jsfa/vol47/iss3/5
- Education Advisory Board. (2020, April 9). *CARES act higher education FAQ*. EAB

 Research. https://eab.com/research/strategy/resource/cares-act-higher-education-faq/
- Ehrenberg, R. G., & Sherman, D. R. (1987). Employment while in college, academic achievement, and post college outcomes: A summary of results. *The Journal of Human Resources*, 22(1), 1-23.
- El Zein, A., Mathews, A. E., House, L., & Shelnutt, K. P. (2018). Why are hungry college students not seeking help? Predictors of and barriers to using an oncampus food pantry. *Nutrients*, *10*(9), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10091163
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utrianinen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open, 4*(1), 1-10. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2158244014522633
- Espinosa, L. L., Turk, J. M., Taylor, M, & Chessman, H. M. (2019). Race and ethnicity in higher education: A status report. *Washington, DC: American Council on Education*. https://lxfsu31b52d33idlp13twtos-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Race-and-Ethnicity-in-Higher-Education.pdf
- Families First Coronavirus Response Act, S. 3548, 116th Cong., 2d Sess. (2020) (enacted). https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/6201/text

- Farahbakhsh, J., Ball, G. D. C., Farmer, A. P., Maximova, K., Hanbazaa, M., & Willows, N. (2015). How do student clients of a university-based food bank cope with food insecurity? *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research*, 76(4), 200-203. https://doi.org/10.3148/cjdpr-2015-020
- Feeding America. (2020). *The impact of the Coronavirus on food insecurity*. [Fact Sheet]. https://www.feedingamericaaction.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/04/Brief_Impact-of-Covid-on-Food-Insecurity-3.30.pdf
- Fenwick, T., & Edwards, R. (2014). Networks of knowledge matters of learning, and criticality in higher education. *Higher Education*, 67, 35–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-013-9639-3
- Fletcher, C., Cornett, A., & Webster, J. (2021). State of student aid in Texas (2021). State of Student Aid and Higher Education in Texas, March 2021.

 file://winfshd4/users\$/stdkmc22/Downloads/SSRN-id3811781.pdf
- Flores, S., & Justin Shepard, J. (2014). Pricing out the disadvantaged? The effect of tuition deregulation in Texas public four-year institutions. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 655, 99-122. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0002716214539096
- Fong, K., Wright, R., & Wimer, C. (2016). The cost of free assistance: Why low-income individuals do not access food pantries. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, 43(1), 71-93. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/jssw/vol43/iss1/6
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FOA). (2019). The state of food security and nutrition in the world; Safeguarding against economic

- slowdowns and downturns. *The State of the World*. http://www.fao.org/3/ca5162en/ca5162en.pdf
- Ford, K., Bray, L., Water, T., Dickinson, A., Arnott, J., & Carter, B. (2017). Auto-driven photo elicitation interviews in research with children: Ethical and practical considerations. *Comprehensive Child Adolescent Nursing*, 40(2), 111–125. https://doi.org/10.1080/24694193.2016.1273977
- Foster-Fishman, P., Nowell, B., Deacon, Z., Nievar, M. A., & McCann, P. (2005). Using methods that matter: The impact of reflection, dialogue, and voice. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *36*, 275-291. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-005-8626-y
- Freudenberg, N., Goldrick-Rab, S., & Poppendieck, J. (2019). College students and SNAP: The new face of food insecurity in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, 109(12), 1652–1658. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305332
- Freudenberg, N., Manzo, L., Jones, H., Kwan, A., Tsui, E., & Gagnon, M. (2011). Food insecurity at CUNY: Results from a survey of CUNY undergraduate students.

 http://www.gc.cuny.edu/CUNY_GC/media/CUNYGraduateCenter/PDF/Centers/Center%20for%20Human%20Environments/cunyfoodinsecu rity.pdf
- Gaines, A., Robb, C. A., Knol, L. L., & Sickler, S. (2014). Examining the role of financial factors, resources and skills in predicating food security status among college students. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 38(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12110

- Gallegos, D., Ramsey, R., & Ong, K. (2014). Food insecurity: Is it an issue among tertiary students? *Higher Education*, 67(5), 497-510. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-013-9656-2
- Gander, M. (2014). The intersection of gender and age: An exploration. *Perspectives:*Policy and Practice in Higher Education, 18(1), 9–13.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13603108.2013.841301
- Garthwaite, K. (2016). Stigma, shame and 'people like us: An ethnographic study of foodbank use in the UK. *Journal of Poverty and Social Justice*, *24*(3), 277-289. https://doi.org/10.1332/175982716X14721954314922
- Gault, B., Reichlin, L., & Román, S. (2014). College affordability for low-income adults:

 Improving returns on investment for families and society. Report, IWPR #C412.

 Washington, DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research.

 http://www.iwpr.org/publications/pubs/college-affordability-for-low-income-adults-improving-returns-on-investment-for-families-and-society/

 (11) (PDF) Child Care for Parents in College: A State-by-State Assessment.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/314205321_Child_Care_for_Parents_in

 College A State-by-State Assessment.
- Gerhard, T. (2008). Bias: Considerations for research practice. *American Journal of Health System Pharmacy*, 65(22), 2159-2168. https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp070369
- Giroux, H. A. (2010). Bare pedagogy and the scourge of neoliberalism: Rethinking higher education. *The Educational Forum*, 74(3), 184-196. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2010.483897

- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Aldine De Gruyter.
- Godoy, M. (2020, March 14). *Judge blocks rule that would have kicked 700,000 people off snap*. National Public Radio.

 https://www.npr.org/sections/thesalt/2020/03/14/815748914/judge-blocks-rule-that-would-have-kicked-700-000-people-off-snap
- Gehard, T. (2008). Bias: Considerations for research practice. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 65(22), 2159-2468. https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp070369
- Goldrick-Rab, S. (2016). Paying the price: College costs, financial aid, and the betrayal of the American dream. The University of Chicago Press.
- Goldrick-Rab, S., Broton, K., & Eisenberg, D. (2015). Hungry to learn: Addressing food and housing security among undergraduates. *Wisconsin Hope Lab*. http://wihopelab.com/publications/Wisconsin_hope_lab_hungry_to_learn.pdf
- Goldrick-Rab, S., Broton, K., & Frank, V.M. (2014). Single stop's USA community college initiative: Implementation assessment. *Wisconsin Hope Lab*. http://www.singlestopusa.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/SSUSA-Implementation-Assessment-FINAL-7.22.14.pdf
- Goldrick-Rab, S., Richardson, J., & Hernandez, A. (2017). Hungry and homeless in college: Results from a national study of basic needs insecurity in higher education. *Wisconsin HOPE Lab*.
 - https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/83028/HungryAndHomeless InCollege.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

- Goldrick-Rab, S., Richardson, J., Schneider, J., Hernandez, A., & Cady, C. (2018). Still hungry and homeless in college. *Wisconsin HOPE lab*.

 https://hope4college.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Wisconsin-HOPE-Lab-Still-Hungry-and-Homeless.pdf
- Goldrick-Rab, S., Baker-Smith, C., Coca, V., Looker, E., & Williams, T. (2019). *College and university basic needs insecurity: A national #RealCollege survey report*. https://hope4college.com/college-and-university-basic-needs-insecurity-anationalrealcollege-survey-report/
- Goldrick-Rab, S., Cady, C., & Coca, V. (2018). Campus food pantries: Insights from a national survey. *College & University Foodbank Alliance*. https://cufba.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/2018-CUFBA-Report-web-2.pdf
- Goldrick-Rab, S., Coca, V., Kienzl, G., Welton, C R., Dahl, S., & Magnelia, S. (2020).

 New evidence on basic needs insecurity and student well-being. *Wisconsin HOPE lab*. https://hope4college.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Hopecenter_RealCollegeDuringthePandemic.pdf
- Gooden, M., & O'Doherty, A. (2015). Do you see what I see? Fostering aspiring leaders' racial awareness. *Urban Education*, 50(2), 225-255.
- Gorden, R. L. (1975). *Interviewing: Strategy, techniques, and tactics* (Revised ed.).

 Dorsey Press.
- Grose J. (2020, March 20). Families scramble to find baby formula, diapers and wipes.

 The New York Times.

 https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/30/parenting/coronavirus-baby-formula-shortages-wipes-diapers.html.

- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging influences. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook* of qualitative research (3rd ed., pp. 191-215). Sage.
- Guido, F. M., Chavez, A. F., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2010). Underlying paradigms in student affairs research and practice. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 47(1), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.2202/1949-6605.6017
- Gundersen, C., Kreider, B., & Pepper, J. (2012). The impact of the national school lunch program on child health: A nonparametric bounds analysis. *Journal of Econometrics*, 166(1), 79-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeconom.2011.06.007
- Gundersen, C., Hake, M., Dewey, A., & Engelhard, E. (2020). Food insecurity during COVID-19. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*, 43(1), 153-161. https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13100
- Hamel, L., Kearney, Au., Kirzinger, A., Lopes, L., Munana, C., & Brodie, M. (2020).
 Impact of Coronavirus on personal health, economic and food security, and
 Medicaid. [Poll]. https://www.kff.org/report-section/kff-health-tracking-poll-may2020-health-and-economic-impacts
- Hamilton, W. L., Cook, J. T., Thompson, W. W., Buron, L., Frongillo, E., & Olson, C.
 (1997). Household food security in the United States in 1995: Summary report of the food security measurement project. Washington, DC: United States
 Department of Agriculture, Food and Consumer Service.
- Hancock, A. M. (2016). *Intersectionality: An intellectual history*. Oxford University Press
- Hankivsky, O. (2014). Intersectionality 101. The Institute for Intersectionality Research

- & Policy, 1–34.
- Harper, D. (2002). Talking about pictures: A case for photo elicitation. *Visual Studies*, 17, 13-26. https://doi.org/10.1080/14725860220137345
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy?. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(2), 510-517. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol17/iss2/1
- Harris, J. C., & Patton, L. D. (2018). Un/doing intersectionality through higher education research. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 90(3), 347-372. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2018.1536936
- Headey, D., Malaiyandi, S., & Fan, S. (2010). Navigating the perfect storm: Reflections on the food, energy, and financial crises. *Agricultural Economics*, 41(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-0862.2010.00502.x
- Heidelberger, L., Smith, C. (2015). The food environment through the camera lenses of 9- to 13-year-olds living in urban, low-income, midwestern households: A photovoice project. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 47(5), 437.e1-445.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2015.05.005
- Hendrix, C. (2016). When hunger strikes: How food security abroad matters for national security at home. *The Chicago Council on Global Affairs*.

 https://www.thechicagocouncil.org/sites/default/files/Report_When_Hunger_Strik es_1604.pdf
- Henry, L. (2017). Understanding food insecurity among college students: Experience, motivation, and local solutions. *Annals of Anthropological Practice*, 41(1), 6-19. https://doi.org/10.1111/napa.12108

- Hickey, A., Shields, D., & Henning, M. (2019). Perceived hunger in college students related to academic and athletic performance. *Education Sciences*, *9*(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci9030242
- Hinton, I., Howell, J., Merwin, E., Steven, S. N., Turner, S., Williams, I., & Wilson, M. (2010). The educational pipeline for health care professionals: Understanding the source of racial differences. *Journal of Human Resources*, 45(1), 116–156. doi: 10.3368/jhr.45.1.116
- Hitchcock, G., & Hughes, D. (1989). Research and the teacher: A qualitative introduction to school-based research. Routledge.
- Hones, D. F. (1998). Known in part: The transformational power of narrative inquiry.

 *Qualitative Inquiry, 4(2), 225-248. https://doi.org/10.1177/107780049800400205

 hooks, b. (2014). Feminist theory: from margin to center. Routledge.
- Huang, J., & Barnidge, E. (2016). Low-income children's participation in the national school lunch program and household food insufficiency. *Social Science & Medicine*, *150*, 8-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.12.020
- Hubbard, J. (1994). Shooting back: A photographic view of life by Native Americans. The New York Press.
- Hudson, K., & Coukos, A. (2005). The dark side of the protestant ethic: A comparative analysis of welfare reform*. *Sociological Theory*, 23(1), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0735-2751.2005.00240.x
- International encyclopedia of the social and behavioral sciences. (2015). CHOICE:

 Current Reviews for Academic Libraries, 3, 401.

- Jamshed, S. (2017). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy*, *5*(4), 87-88. https://doi.org/10.4103%2F0976-0105.141942
- Janesick, V. J. (2004). Stretching exercises for qualitative researchers (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Jones, S. R., & Abes, E. S. (2013). *Identity development of college students: Advancing frameworks for multiple dimensions of identity*. Jossey-Bass.
- Jyoti, D. F., Frongillo, E. A., & Jones, S. J. (2005). Food insecurity affects school children's academic performance, weight gain, and social skills. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 135(12), 2831–2839. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/135.12.2831
- Kabbani, N., & Kmeid, M. (2005). The role of food assistance in helping food insecure households escape hunger. *Review of Agricultural Economics*, *27*(3), 439-445. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9353.2005.00241.x
- Kaiser. L., Baumrind, N., & Dumbauld S. (2007). Who is food-insecure in California? Findings from the California women's health survey. *Public Health Nutrition*, 10(6), 574–81. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980007382542
- Kaiser Family Foundation. (2020, May 27). *Poll: Nearly half of the public say they or a family member skipped or delayed care due to Coronavirus, but most plan to get care in the coming months*. https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/press-release/poll-nearly-half-of-the-public-say-they-or-a-family-member-skipped-or-delayed-care-due-to-coronavirus-but-most-plan-to-get-care-in-the-coming-months/

- Kerr, E. (2020). *Getting emergency financial aid during COVID-19*. U. S. News. https://www.usnews.com/education/best-colleges/paying-for-college/articles/coronavirus-emergency-financial-aid-what-students-should-know
- Kinarsky, A. (2017). Fostering success: Understanding the experience of foster youth undergraduates. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 81, 220-228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.08.016
- Kincheloe, J. L., & McLaren, P. L. (1994). Rethinking critical theory and qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 138–157). Sage Publications, Inc.
- King, J. (2006). Working their way through college: Student employment and it impact on the college experience. http://www.acenet.edu/news-room/Documents/IssueBrief-2006- Working-their-way-through-College.pdf
- Kissane, R. (2003). What's need got to do with it? Barriers to use of nonprofit social services. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, 30(2), 127-148.
- Klugesherz, M. B. (2017) "Four years of ramen and poverty": Using participatory research to examine food insecurity among college students at Kansas State University. (Master's Thesis). Manhattan: Kansas State University.
- Kochhar, R. (2020). Unemployment rose higher in three months of COVID-19 than it did in two years of the Great Recession. *News in the Numbers*.

 https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/06/11/unemployment-rose-higher-in-three-months-of-covid-19-than-it-did-in-two-years-of-the-great-recession/
- Kochhar, R., & Barroso, A. (2020). Young workers likely to be hard hit as COVID-19 strikes a blow to restaurants and other service sector jobs. *News in the Numbers*.

- https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/03/27/young-workers-likely-to-be-hard-hit-as-covid-19-strikes-a-blow-to-restaurants-and-other-service-sector-jobs/
- Kochhar, R., & Fry, R. (2014). Wealth inequality has widened along racial, ethnic lines since end of great recession. *Pew Research Center*.
 https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2014/12/12/racial-wealth-gaps-great-recession/
- Koller, K. (2014). Extent of BGSU student food insecurity and community resource use. http://scholarworks.bgsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1146&context=honorsp projects
- Kress, V. E., & Shoffner, M. F. (2007). Focus groups: A practical and applied research approach for counselors. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 85(2), 189-195. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2007.tb00462.x
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. (2003). The patient health questionnaire-2: Validity of a two-item depression screener. *Medical Care*, *41*, 1284-1292.
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., Williams, J. B., Monahan, P. O., & Löwe, B. (2007). Anxiety disorders in primary care: Prevalence, impairment, comorbidity, and detection. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 146, 317-325.
- Kulis, S., Sicotte, D., & Collins, S. (2002). More than a pipeline problem: Labor supply constraints and gender stratification across academic science disciplines.
 Research in Higher Education, 43(6), 657–691.
- Kvale, S. (1996). *Interviews: An introduction to qualitative research interviewing*. Sage.
- Laska, M. N., Fleischhacker, S., Petsoulis, C., Bruening, M., & Stebleton, M. J. (2020).

 Addressing college food insecurity: An assessment of federal legislation before

- and during Coronavirus disease-2019. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 52(10), 982-987. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2020.07.001
- Lather, P. (1993). Fertile obsession: Validity after poststructuralism. *Sociological Quarterly*, 34, 673-693. doi:10.1111/j.1533-8525.1993.tb00112.x
- Latz, A. O. (2017). PhotoVoice research in education and beyond: A practical guide from theory to exhibition. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Lederman, D. (6 October 2020). Faculty confidence in online learning grows. *Inside Higher Ed.* https://www.insidehighered.com/digital-learning/article/2020/10/06/covid-era-experience-strengthens-faculty-belief-value-online
- Lee, S., Ball, G., Farmer, A., & Willows, N. D. (2018). Exploring the experience of food insecurity among university students caring for children: A qualitative descriptive study. *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, 15(3), 360-371. https://doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2018.1557093
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2007). An array of qualitative data analysis tools: A call for data analysis triangulation. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 22, 557-584. https://doi.org/10.1037/1045-3830.22.4.557
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2011). Guidelines for conducting and reporting mixed research in the field of counseling and beyond. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 88(1), 61-69. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2010.tb00151.x Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Sage.

- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1984). But is it rigorous? Trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, *30*, 73-84. https://doi.org/10.1002/ev.1427
- Lincoln, Y. S., Lynham, S. A., & Guba, E. G. (2011). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences, revisited. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 97–128). Sage Publications.
- Lokot, M., & Avakyan, Y. (2020). Intersectionality as a lens to the COVID-19 pandemic: implications for sexual and reproductive health in development and humanitarian contexts. *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters*, 28(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/26410397.2020.1764748
- Lowe, P. (Investigations editor). (8 May 2020). Colleges grapple with student food insecurity during COVID-19. [Audio podcast]
- Lui, C. H., Pinder-Amaker, S., Hahm, C. & Chen, J. A. (2020). Priorities for addressing the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on college student mental health. *Journal of American College Health*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1803882
- Lustig, M. (2020, March 31). Coronavirus stimulus: 5 things student loan borrowers should know. *U.S. News & World Report*.

 https://www.usnews.com/education/blogs/student-loan-ranger/articles/coronavirus-stimulus-things-student-loan-borrowers-should-know
- Ludvig, A. (2006). Differences between women? Intersecting voices in a female narrative. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 13(3), 245-258. https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506806065755

- Mabli, J., Ohls, J., Dragoset, L., Castner, L., & Santos, B. (2013). Measuring the effect of supplemental nutrition assistance program (SNAP) participation on food security.Report prepared for U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service.
- Maguire, J., O'Neill, M., & Aberson, C. (2016). California State University food and housing security survey: Emerging patterns from the Humboldt State University data. Arcata, CA: Humboldt State University; http://hsuohsnap.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/ExecutiveSummary.docx1-14-16.pdf.
- Mammen, S., Bauer, J. W., & Richards, L. (2008). Understanding persistent food insecurity: A paradox of place and circumstance. *Social Indicators Research*, 92, 151-168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-008-9294-8
- Manning, K. (1997). Authenticity in constructivist inquiry: Methodological considerations without prescription. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *3*, 93-115. doi: https://doi.org/10.1177%2F107780049700300105
- Martinez, S., Brown, E., & Ritchie, L. (2016). What factors increase risk for food insecurity among college students? *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 48(7), S4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ineb.2016.04.017
- Martinez, S., Webb, K., Frongillo, E. A., & Ritchie, L. D. (2017). Food insecurity in California's public university system: What are the risk factors? *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, *13*(1), 1-18.

 dhttps://doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2017.1374901
- Martinez-Alemán, A. M., Pusser, B., & Bensimon, E. M. (Eds.). (2015). *Critical approaches to the study of higher education: A practical introduction*. Johns Hopkins University Press.

- Maroto, M. E., Snelling, A., & Linck, H. (2015). Food insecurity among community college students: Prevalence and association with grade point average. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *39*(6), 515–526. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2013.850758
- Maynard, M., Meyer, S. B., Perlman, C. M., & Kirkpatrick, S. I. (2018). Experiences of food insecurity among undergraduate students: "You can't starve yourself through school". *Canadian Journal of Higher Education, 48*(2), 130-148. https://doi.org/10.7202/1057107ar
- Maxwell, J. A. (1992). Understanding and validity in qualitative research. In A. M. Huberman & M. B. Miles (Eds.), *The qualitative researcher's companion* (pp. 37-64). Sage.
- McCall, L. (2005). The complexity of intersectionality. *Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 30(3), 1771-1800.
- McConnelly, F. M., & Clandinn, D. J. (1990). Stories of experience and narrative inquiry. *Educational Researcher*, 19(5), 2-14. https://doi.org/10.2307/1176100
- McKenzie, S. (2020, April 2). COVID-19 forces recalibration of priorities as world embraces new habits. *Research World*. https://www.researchworld.com/covid-19-forces-recalibration-of-priorities-as-world-embraces-new-habits/
- Means, B., and Neisler, J., with Langer Research Associates. (2020). Suddenly online: A national survey of undergraduates during the COVID-19 pandemic. [Report]. San Mateo, CA: Digital Promise.
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. Jossey-Bass.

- Mertens, D. (2015). Mixed methods and wicked problems. *Journal of Mixed Methods**Research, 9(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1558689814562944
- Mertens, D. (2017). Transformative research: Personal and societal. *International Journal for Transformative Research*, 4(1), 18-24. https://doi.org/10.1515/ijtr-2017-0001
- Mertens, D., Farley, J., Madison, A. M., & Singleton, P. (1994). Diverse voices in evaluation in practice: Feminists, minorities, and person with disabilities. *Evaluation Practice*, 15(2), 123-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/0886-1633(94)90003-5
- Mialki, K., House, L. A., Mattews, A. E., and Shelnutt, K. P. (2021). COVID-19 and college students: Food security status before and after the onset of a pandemic. *Nutrients*, 13(2), 628. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13020628
- Miles, M., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook* (2nd ed.). Sage.
- Miller, B. (2020, May). A better formula for higher education's federal Coronavirus funding. Report prepared for Center for American Progress.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED606585
- Miller, R. A. (2015). Sometimes you feel invisible: Performing queer/disabled in the university classroom. *The Educational Forum*, 79(4), 377–393. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2015.1068417
- Mirza, H. S. (2013). 'A second skin': Embodied intersectionality, transnationalism and narratives of identity and belonging among Muslim women in Britain. *Women's Studies International Forum*, *36*, 5-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2012.10.012

- Moen, T. (2006). Reflections on the narrative research approach. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *5*(1), 56-69. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690600500405
- Moffitt, U., Juang, L. P., & Syed, M. (2020). Intersectionality and youth identity development research in Europe. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 78. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00078
- Morris, L. M., Smith, S., Davis, J., & Null, D. B. (2016). The prevalence of food security and insecurity among Illinois university students. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 48(6), 376-382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ineb.2016.03.013
- Morrissey, J. L. (2019) Financial socialization and its effects on food insecurity among college students (Master's Thesis). Lincoln: University of Nebraska-Lincoln.
- Mouzon, S. (2018). Report: Hunger and discrimination go hand in hand. *The Philadelphia Inquirer*.

 https://www.inquirer.com/philly/opinion/commentary/report-hunger-and-

discrimination-go-hand-in-hand-commentary-20181203.html

- Murphy, J. M., Pagano, M. E., Nachmani, J., Sperling, P., Kane, S., Kleinman, R. E. (1998). The relationship of school breakfast to psychosocial and academic functioning: Cross-sectional and longitudinal observations in an inner-city school sample. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 152(9), 899–907.
- National Association of Student Financial Aid Administrators [NASFAA]. (2020a).

 CARES act higher education emergency relief fund (HEERF) timeline.

 https://www.nasfaa.org/uploads/documents/HEERF Timeline.pdf

- National Association of Student Financial Aid Administrators [NASFAA]. (2020b).

 COVID-19 reference page: Student portion of higher education emergency relief fund. https://www.nasfaa.org/covid19_heerf
- National Center for Education Statistics [NCES] (n.d.). Use the data [Data Set]. https://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/use-the-data
- Nguyen, T. (2015). The effectiveness of online learning: Beyond no significant difference and future horizons. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching, 11*, 309-319. https://doi.org/10.1016/0147-1767(85)90062-8
- Nichols, S., & Stahl, G. (2019). Intersectionality in higher education research: A systematic literature review. *Higher Education Research & Development, 38*(3), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2019.1638348
- Nielsen. (2020). COVID-19: U.K. quarantine living preparations lead to a massive spike in FMCGsales. https://www.nielsen.com/uk/en/insights/article/2020/covid-19-uk-quarantine-living-preparations-lead-massive-spike-fmcg-sales/
- Niles, M. T., Bertmann, F., Belarmino, E. H., Wentworth, T., Biehl, E., & Neff, R. A., (2020). The early food insecurity impacts of COVID-19. *MedRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.05.09.20096412
- Nord, M., Coleman-Jensen, A., Andrews, M., & Carlson, S. (2011). *Household food* security in the United States, 2010. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.
 - https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/45020/30967_err141.pdf?v=252.

- Ochs Rosinger, K. (2019). Can simplifying financial aid offers impact college enrollment and borrowing? Experimental and quasi-experimental evidence. *Education Finance and Policy*, 14(4), 601-626. https://doi.org/10.1162/edfp_a_00260
- Odoms-Young, A., & Bruce, M. A. (2018). Examining the impact of structural racism on food insecurity: Implications for addressing racial/ethnic disparities. *Family & community health*, 41 Suppl 2 Suppl, Food Insecurity and Obesity (Suppl 2 FOOD INSECURITY AND OBESITY), S3–S6.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/FCH.000000000000183
- Okaoto, K. E. (2017). A poststructural feminist and narrative analysis of food and bodies: Community organizing for social change in a sustainable agriculture initiative. (Doctoral dissertation). Athens: Ohio University.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretations of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research.

 International Journal of Education, 6(1), 183-249.

 https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, N. L. (2005). On becoming a pragmatic researcher: The importance of combining quantitative and qualitative research methodologies.

 *International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory & Practice, 8(5), 375–387. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570500402447
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, N. L. (2007). A call for qualitative power analyses.

 *Quality & Quantity: International Journal of Methodology, 41, 105-121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-005-1098-1

- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Leech, N. L., & Collins, K. M. T. (2008). Interviewing the interpretive researcher: A method for addressing the crises of representation, legitimation, and praxis. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 7(4), 1-17. https://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/article/view/1701/3818
- Osborne, S., & Hogarth, K. (2021). Mind the gap: The reality of remote learning during COVID-19. *Accounting Research Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/ARJ-09-2020-0303
- Owens, M. R., Silva-Brito, F., Kirkland, T., Moore, C. E., Davis, K. E., Patterson, M. A., Miketinas, D. C., & Tucker, W. J. (2020). Prevalence and social determinants of food insecurity among college students during the COVID-19 pandemic.
 Nutrients, 12(9), 2515. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12092515
- Palar, K, Frongillo, E. A., Escobar, J., Sheira, L. A., Wilson, T. E., Adedimeji, A., Merenstein, D., Cohen, M. H., Wentz, E. L., Adimora, A. A., Ofotokun, I., Metsch, L., Tien, P. C., Turan, J. M., & Weiser, S. D. (2018). Food Insecurity, internalized stigma, and depressive symptoms among women living with HIV in the United States. *AIDS Behavior*, 22(12), 3869-3878.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2164-8.
- Pallas A.M. (2003). Educational transitions, trajectories, and pathways. In: Mortimer J.T., Shanahan M.J. (eds) Handbook of the Life Course. *Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research*. Springer, Boston, MA. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-306-48247-2_8
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). How college affects students: A third decade of research. Jossey-Bass.

- Patel, L. (2016). Decolonizing educational research: From ownership to answerability.

 Routledge.
- Patterson, J. G., Russomanno, J., Teferra, A. A., & Jabson Tree, J. M. (2020). Disparities in food insecurity at the intersection of race and sexual orientation: A population-based study of adult women in the United States. *Population Health*, *12*, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100655
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research & evaluation methods. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Patton-Lopez, M. M., Lopez-Cevallos, D. F., Cancel-Tirado, D. I., & Vazquez, L. (2014).

 Prevalence and correlates of food insecurity among students attending a midsize rural university in Oregon. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 46(3), 209-214. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2013.10.007
- Payne-Sturges, D. C., Tjaden, A., Caldeira, K. M., Vincent, K. B., & Arria, A. M. (2018). Student hunger on campus: Food insecurity among college students and implications for academic institutions. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 32(2), 349-354. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117117719620
- Phillips, E., McDaniel, A., & Croft, A. (2018). Food insecurity and academic disruption among college students. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 55(4), 353–372
- Phipps, A. (2017). (Re)theorising laddish masculinities in higher education. *Gender and Education*, 29(7), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540253.2016.1171298
- Poisson, A. (2018). Practicing intersectionality: Against the colonization of Black thought in white feminist discourse. [Blog post]. Retrieved

- from https://medium.com/@arianepoisson/practicing-intersectionality-against-the-colonization-of-black-thought-in-white-feminist-discourse-fa4db9ef96b8
- Price, D., Long, M., Quast, S., McMaken, J., & Kioukis, G. (2014). Public benefits and community colleges: Lessons from the benefits access for college completion evaluation. Philadelphia, PA: OMG Center for Collaborative Learning.

 https://www.dvp-praxis.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/BACC-Final-Report-FINAL.pdf
- Purdam, K., Garratt, E. A., & Esmail, A. (2016). Hungry? Food insecurity, social stigma and embarrassment in the UK. *Sociology*, *50*(6), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038515594092
- Qualtrics. (2013). Provo, UT.
- Radwin, D., Conzelmann, J.G., Nunnery, A., Lacy, T.A., Wu, J., Lew, S., Wine, J., and Siegel, P. (2018). 2015–16 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS:16): Student Financial Aid Estimates for 2015–16 (NCES 2018-466).

 U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics. http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2018466.
- Rahatzad, J., Dockrill, H., & Philion, J. (2016). Narrative inquiry and multicultural education. In K. King, Y. J. Lai, & S. May (Eds.), *Research methods in language and education*. *Encyclopedia of Language and Education* (3rd ed., pp. 1-13). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-02329-8_30-1
- Reissman, C. K. (2008). *Narrative methods for the human sciences*. Sage Publications.

- Resnikoff, N. (2014). The hunger crisis in America's universities. *MSNBC*. http://www.msnbc.com/msnbc/the-hunger-crisis-americas-universities
- Roulston, K. (2010). Considering quality in qualitative interviewing. *Qualitative Research*, 10(2), 199-228. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794109356739
- Ross, P.T., & Bibler Zaidi, N.L. (2019. Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8, 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Rothstein, M. A. (2020). The Coronavirus pandemic: Public health and American values. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 48*(2), 354-359.

 https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1073110520935350
- Roland, E. (2018). Understanding intersectionality to promote social justice in educational leadership: Review of JCEL cases. *Intersections: Critical Issues in Education*, 2(1), 3-18.
- Rowan, B., Cohen, D. K., & Raudenbush, S. W. (2004). Improving the educational outcomes of students in poverty through multidisciplinary research and development (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Michigan, Ann Arbor.
- Ruby, J. (1980). Exposing yourself: Reflexivity, anthropology, and film. *Semiotica*, 30(1-2). https://doi.org/10.1515/semi.1980.30.1-2.153
- Ryan. N. E., & Ayadi, A. M. (2020). A call for gender-responsive, intersectional approach to address COVID-19. *Global Public Health*, *15*(9), 1404-1412. https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2020.1791214
- Sanders, Diana J. (2021). Learning experiences of financial aid administrators: A phenomenological study of workplace learning. Digital Commons @ ACU,

- Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Paper 306. https://digitalcommons.acu.edu/etd/306
- School Nutrition Association. (2020). School Meal Trends & Stats.
- Schwartz, D. (1989). Visual ethnography: Using photography in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*, 12(2), 119-153.
- Sefton-Green, J. (26 August 2020) COVID-19 shows the flawed ways societies use education to address inequality. *UNESCO Futures of Education Ideas LAB*. https://en.unesco.org/futuresofeducation/sefton-green-flawed-ways-societies-use-education-address-inequality
- Shanafelt, A., Hearst, M. O., Wang, Q., & Nanney, M.S. (2016). Food insecurity and rural adolescent personal health, home, and academic environments. *Journal of School Health*, 86(6), 472-480. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12397
- Sharp N. L., Bye R. A., Cusick A. (2019). Narrative analysis. In P. Liamputtong (Ed.), Handbook of research methods in health social sciences (pp. 1-21). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5251-4_106
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, *22*, 63-75. https://doi.org/10.3233/EFI-2004-22201
- Sibicca, J. (2012). Growing food justice by planting an anti-oppression foundation:

 Opportunities and obstacles for a budding social movement. *Agriculture and Human Values*, 29(4), 455-466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-012-9663-0

- Sifferlin, Alexandra. 2014. New worry for college students: Food insecurity. *Time*. http://healthland.time.com/2014/01/28/new-worry-for-college-students-foodinsecurity/.
- Silva, M. R., Kleinert, W. L., Victoria Sheppard, A., Cantrell, K. A., Freeman-Coppadge,
 D. J., Tsoy, E., Roberts, T., & Pearrow, M. (2017). The relationship between food security, housing stability, and school performance among college students in an urban university. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 19(3), 284-299. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025115621918
- Silverman, D. (Ed). (2016). Qualitative Research. SAGE Publications.
- Simkins, T. (2005). Leadership in education: 'What works' or 'what makes sense'?

 Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 33(1), 9-26.
- Solórzano, D., Ceja, M., & Yosso, T. (2000). Critical race theory, racial microaggressions, and campus racial climate: The experiences of African American college students. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 69(1/2), 60-73.
- Son, C., Hegde, S., Smith, A., Wang, X., & Sasangohar, F. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 on college students' mental health in the United States: Interview survey study.

 Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22(9), e21279.

 http://dx.dio.org/10.219621279
- Soria, K. M. (2015). Welcoming blue-collar scholars into the ivory tower: Developing class-conscious strategies for students' success. Columbia, SC: National Resource Center for the First-Year Experience and Students in Transition.
- Soria, K. M., & Horgos, B. (2020). Social class differences in students' experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. SERU Consortium, University of California -

- Berkeley and University of Minnesota. https://cshe.berkeley.edu/seru-covid-survey-reports
- Soria, K. M., Horgos, B., Chirikov, I., & Jones-White, D. (2020). First-generation students' experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Student Experience in the Research University (SERU) Consortium*. Retrieved from the University of Minnesota Digital Conservancy, https://hdl.handle.net/11299/214934.
- Spieldoch, A. (2007). A row to hoe: The gender impact of trade liberalization on our food system, agricultural markets and women's human rights. Geneva, CH: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftun.
- Stake, R. E. (2005). Qualitative case studies. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (3rd ed., pp. 443-466). Sage.
- Stebleton, M.J., Lee, C.K., & Diamond, K.K. (2020). Understanding the food insecurity experiences of college students: A qualitative inquiry. *The Review of Higher Education*, 43(3), 727-752. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2020.0005.
- Stein, A. J., & Qaim, M. (2007). The human and economic cost of hidden hunger. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, 28(2), 125-134. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F156482650702800201
- Stettner, A., & Novello, A. (2020). Unemployment payouts accelerated during April and May but are still too slow. *The Centrury Foundation*. https://production-tcf.imgix.net/app/uploads/2020/06/10163132/unemployment-payouts_finalPDF.pdf

- Strack, R. W., Magill, C., & McDonagh, K. (2004). Engaging youth through photovoice.

 Health Promotion Practice, 5, 49–58.

 https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1524839903258015
- Strayhorn, T. L. (Ed). (2013). *Living at the intersections: Social identities and black collegians*. Information Age Publishing.
- Sue, D.W. (2003). Overcoming our racism: The journey to liberation. Jossey-Boss.
- Sue, D.W. (2010). Microaggressions in everyday life: Race, gender, and sexual orientation. Wiley.
- Sue, D. W., & Sue, D. (2013). Counseling the culturally diverse: Theory and practice (6th ed.). Wiley.
- Talwar, S. (2010). An intersectional framework for race, class, gender, and sexuality in art therapy. *Art Therapy*, *34*(3), 11-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421656.2010.10129567
- The Council of Independent Colleges [CIC]. (2017). *The financial resilience of independent colleges and universities*. https://www.cic.edu/resources-research/charts-data/reports/financial-resilience-report-2018
- The White House, Office of the Press Secretary. (2020, March 27). President Donald J.

 Trump is providing economic relief to American workers, families, and business impacted by the Coronavirus. [Facts Sheet].

 https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/president-donald-j-trump-providing-economic-relief-american-workers-families-businesses-impacted-coronavirus/

- Turk, J., Soler Salazar, M. C., & Vigil, D. (2020, April 23). *College and university presidents respond to COVID-19: April 2020 survey*. American Council on Education. https://www.acenet.edu/Research-Insights/Pages/Senior-Leaders/College-and-University-Presidents-Respond-to-COVID-19-April-2020.aspx
- Turner, L. 2014. The road to Pell is paved with good intentions: The economic incidence of federal student grant aid. University of Maryland. http://econweb..umd.edu/~turner/Turner FedAidIncidence.pdf.
- Twill, S. E., Bergdahl, J., & Fensler, R. (2016). Partnering to build a pantry: A university campus responds to student food insecurity. *Journal of Poverty*, 20(3), 340-358. https://doi.org/10.1080/10875549.2015.1094772
- UNICEF. (2019). Children, food and nutrition: Growing well in a changed world. *The State of the World's Children 2019*. https://www.unicef.org/reports/state-of-worlds-children-2019
- United Nations General Assembly. (1948). *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*, 217

 A (III). https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b3712c.html
- United States Department of Agriculture: Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) (2020, April 10). SNAP-Denial of certain requests to adjust SNAP regulations [Policy Memo FNS-GD-2020-0034]. https://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/covid-19/denial-certain-state-requests
- United States Department of Agriculture. (2020a). Food and Nutrition Service (FNS).

 Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP).

 http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/students

- United States Department of Agricultural. (2020b, September). *Food security in the U.S.: Measurement*. https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/measurement.aspx#security.
- United States Department of Education. (2020, October 16). CARES Act: Higher education emergency relief fund.
 - https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ope/caresact.html
- United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020). Unemployment rate rises to record high 14.7 percent in April 2020. *The Economics Daily*. https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2020/unemployment-rate-rises-to-record-high-14-point-7-percent-in-april-2020.htm#:~:text=The%20unemployment%20rate%20in%20April,to%2023.1%20million%20in%20April.
- United States Government Accountability Office. (2018, December). Food Insecurity:

 Better information could help eligible college students access federal food
 assistance benefits. (Publication NO. GAO-19-95).

 https://www.gao.gov/assets/700/696254.pdf
- U.S. News & World Report. (2020). The best colleges in America. Retrieved from https://www.usnews.com/best-colleges
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education* and *Practice*, 6(5), 100-110. http://dx.doi.org/10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100
- van Woerden, I., Hruschka, D., Vega-López, S., Schaefer, D. R., Adams, M., & Bruening, M. (2019). Food insecure college students and objective measurements

- of their unused meal plans. *Nutrients*, *11*(4), 904. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11040904
- Younger, N. A., Blake, C. E., Draper, C. L., & Jones, S. J. (2015). Resilience and hope: Identifying trajectories and contexts of household food insecurity. *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, 10, 230-258. https://doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2015.1004212
- Wang, C. C. (1999). Photovoice: A participatory action research strategy applied to women's health. *Journal of Women's Health*, 8(2), 185–192.
- Weinfield N.S., Mills G., Borger, C., Gearing, M., Mascaluso, T., Montaquila, J., & Zedlewski, S. (2014). Hunger in America 2014: National report. *Feeding America*. http://help.feedingamerica.org/HungerInAmerica/hunger-in-america-2014-full-report.pdf
- Weissman, E. & Schmidt, J. (2020). Providing emergency aid to college students in a time of crisis. [Informational Sheet].

 https://www.mdrc.org/sites/default/files/Emergency_College_Aid_IF_final2020.p
- Whitford, E. (2020, May 11). Colleges scramble to administer emergency aid. *Inside Higher Ed.* https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/05/11/limited-funds-colleges-are-rushing-get-emergency-aid-students-hands
- Wilson, B. D. M. & Conron, K. J. (2020, April). *National estimates of food insecurity: LGBT people and COVID-19*. Los Angeles, CA: The Williams Institute.

 https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/Food-InsecurityCOVID19-Apr2020.pdf

- Winicki, J. & Jemison, K. (2003). Food insecurity and hunger in the kindergarten classroom: Its effect on learning and growth. *Contemporary Economic Policy*, 21(2). 145-157. https://doi.org/10.1093/cep/byg001
- Wolcott, R. J. (2020). WSU food pantries serving students amid challenges of COVID-19. WSU Insider. https://news.wsu.edu/2020/04/02/wsu-food-pantries-serving-students-amid-challenges-covid-19/
- World Food Program (WFP). (2020). Global report on food crises. *Global Network***Against Food Crisis.*

 https://www.fsinplatform.org/sites/default/files/resources/files/GRFC_2020_ONL

 INE_200420.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2020). *Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic*. https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
- Wright, J. D. (2015). International encyclopedia of the social and behavioral sciences.

 CHOICE: Current Reviews for Academic Libraries, 3,

 401. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315743172
- Wyatt, L. G. (2011). Nontraditional student engagement: Increasing adult student success and retention. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, *59*, 10-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2011.544977
- Yin, R. K. (2003). Case study research: Design and methods. Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods (4th ed.). Sage.
- Younginer, N. A., Blake, C. E., Draper, C. L., & Jones, S. J. (2015). Resilience and hope: Identifying trajectories and contexts of household food insecurity. *Journal of*

Hunger & Environmental Nutrition, 10, 230-258. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2015.1004212

Zentner, A. (2020). Assessing the impact of the CARES Act on online students: A case study of two-year public college. *Social Science Research Network*, 1-11. https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3591519

APPENDIX A

Interest Email

Dear (Name of student),

I hope this message finds you well. You are invited to participate in a study to learn about experiences of college student food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession. To participate in this study, you can fill out an online interest form here (include hyperlink).

I am a doctoral candidate in the Higher Education Leadership Program at Sam Houston State University and am conducting this dissertation research under the supervision of my advisor, Dr. Paul Eaton. This research has been approved by the Sam Houston State University Institutional Review Board (IRB). You can learn more about the benefits, risks, and procedures for participating in this study in the attached informed consent document.

You have been asked to participate in the research because you utilized the oncampus food pantry at your institution at least once during the March 15, 2020 -December 15, 2020 time period. Your participation in this study will address these central research questions:

- 1. How did college students experience food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession?
- 2. How did college students experience of intersecting oppressions (institutional, social, and cultural) arising from their social and personal identities (i.e., age, race, gender, sexual orientation, (dis)ability, religion/religious beliefs, international students, non-US citizens, and social class/socioeconomic status) shape the experience of food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic?
- 3. How did an intuition's response to the COVID-19 pandemic influence a college student's food insecurity status and shape their academic performance?

Students with diverse backgrounds are highly encouraged to participate in this study.

In order to help answer these questions I would like you to participate in two one-on-one interviews, along with submitting three original photographs (prompts will be provided to you). The interviews will take approximately 60-90 minutes and be audio taped and then transcribed.

You will not be identified by name when information is analyzed or in any findings that come from the study. Participation in this study is completely voluntary. You may choose not to participate at all or withdraw your participation and data from the study up to a month following your interview by emailing one of the researchers. Your participation will be kept confidential.

Once again, if you are interested in participating in this study, you can fill out an online interest form here (include hyperlink).

I look forward to hearing from you and hope you will consider participating in this important study.

Sincerely,

Kathleen Gilbert

APPENDIX B

Consent for Participation in Research

COLLEGE STUDENT PERSPECTIVES OF FOOD INSECURITY DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC: A PHOTO ELICITATION NARRATIVE INQUIRY

Why am I being asked?

You are being asked to be a participant in a research study about the experiences of college student food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession. Kathleen Gilbert is conducting this research, a doctoral student in the Department of Educational Leadership at Sam Houston State University, under the direction of Dr. Paul Eaton. You have been asked to participate in the research because you utilized the oncampus food pantry at least once at your institution during March 15, 2020 - December 15, 2020 time frame.

Your participation in this research is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled, and the subject may discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled.

Why is this research being done?

Few researchers have explored the intersecting social identities of students who experience food insecurity, specifically during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession. This study aims to gain awareness into how the intersecting social identities of students who experience food insecurity impacted college students during these two historical events. The study has the potential to inform college and university administrators, legislators, food programs, and non-profit groups on the experiences of food insecurity during one pandemic for this specific sub-population of college students. Insights may help inform policy, practice, and preparation for future pandemics and disasters.

What is the purpose of this research?

The purpose of this research is to gain awareness into how the intersecting social identities of college students impacted the experience of food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession. The research seeks to understand what internal and external campus support systems were utilized to meet food insecure college students needs, higher education's response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and how college students perceive food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic influenced their academic performance.

What procedures are involved?

Participants will be interviewed twice, individually, through an online application (i.e., Zoom). Prior to each interview, students will be asked to provide their consent to participate (via consent form). Following their consent to participate, students will be asked to participate in two brief interviews. Each interview will last approximately 60-90 minutes. During the interviews, students will be asked about their experiences with food insecurity, what internal and external campus support systems were utilized to meet their needs, higher education's response to the pandemic, and how they perceive food insecurity during this time has influenced their academic performance. The interviews will be audio-recorded, and the researcher may take notes as well. Following the completion of each interview, students will be debriefed.

After the initial interview, participants will be asked to submit three original photos, with the assistance of three prompts. Participants will have two weeks to take and submit the photos via email. Students will be asked to provide their consent for the submission of their photos (via consent form). Students will also be given a photo consent form should their photographs contain human subjects. No photos will be accepted depicting human subjects without their signed and submitted consent. Identifying information (i.e., faces) will be blurred. The second interview will be to examine the submitted photographs.

Approximately 10 subjects may be involved in this research. Participant interviews and the submission of photos will be the only methods of data collection in order to be consistent in data collection techniques and analyses.

What are the potential risks and discomforts?

Participants may experience some level of discomfort, stress, or anxiety related to describing their experiences with food insecurity, social identity, academic achievement, or the COVID-19 pandemic. There are no known physical risks to participation in this study.

Are there benefits to taking part in the research?

Participation in this study will allow the researchers to explore how diverse population of college students experience food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession. The study has the potential to inform college and university administrators, legislators, food programs, and non-profit groups on the experiences of food insecurity during one pandemic for this specific sub-population of college students. Insights may help inform policy, practice, and preparation for future pandemics or disasters.

What about privacy and confidentiality?

The only people who will know that you are a research participant are members of the research team. No information about you, or provided by you during the research, will be disclosed to others without your written permission, except:

- if necessary, to protect your rights or welfare (for example, if you are injured and need emergency care or when the SHSU Protection of Human Subjects monitors the research or consent process); or
- if required by law.

When the results of the research are published or discussed in conferences, no information will be included that would reveal your identity. If photographs, videos, or audiotape recordings of you will be used for educational purposes, your identity will be protected or disguised.

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study and that can be identified with you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission or as required by law.

Participants will be directed to not include any identifying information during the interview process. All participants will select a pseudonym for the purpose of this study. Verbiage of the location will be generic. Audio files will be stored on the principal investigator's password protected computer on campus. Any physical records will be stored in a locked file cabinet in the principal investigator's office at the Lee Drain Building for a period of three years, after which time they will be destroyed. All files, including audio files, will be encrypted and kept in a password-protected file on the principal investigator's personal laptop. Said files will be permanently deleted after a period of three years.

What if I am injured as a result of my participation?

In the event of injury related to this research study, you should contact your physician or the University Health Center. However, you or your third-party payer, if any, will be responsible for payment of this treatment. There is no compensation and/or payment for medical treatment from Sam Houston State University for any injury you have from participating in this research, except as may by required of the University by law. If you feel you have been injured, you may contact the researcher (a) Kathleen Gilbert at 936-294-2309.

What are the costs for participating in this research?

Participants will incur no costs for participating in this research study.

Will I be reimbursed for any of my expenses or paid for my participation in this research?

Participants will not be paid or otherwise compensated for their participation in this study.

Can I withdraw or be removed from the study?

You can choose whether to be in this study or not. If you volunteer to be in this study, you may withdraw at any time without consequences of any kind. You may also refuse to answer any questions you do not want to answer and remain in the study. The

investigator may withdraw you from this research if circumstances arise which warrant doing so.

Who should I contact if I have questions?

The researcher conducting this study is Kathleen Gilbert. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, you may contact the researcher at: Phone: Kathleen Gilbert 936-294-2309 or e-mail kgilbert@shsu.edu.

Additionally, you can contact Dr. Paul Eaton via email: pweaton@shsu.edu or by phone at 936-294-2651.

What are my rights as a research subject?

If you feel you have not been treated according to the descriptions in this form, or you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may call the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs – Sharla Miles at 936-294-4875 or e-mail ORSP at sharla miles@shsu.edu.

You may choose not to participate or to stop your participation in this research at any time. Your decision whether or not to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled, and the subject may discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled.

As a student participating in this research study, your participation will not affect your class standing or grades at SHSU. The investigator may also end your participation in the research. If this happens, your class standing, or grades will not be affected.

You will not be offered or receive any special consideration if you participate in this research.

Agreement to Participate

I have read or someone has read to me the above information. I have been given an opportunity to ask questions and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I agree to participate in this research.

Consent: I have read and understand the above information, and I willingly consent to participate in this study. I understand that if I should have any questions about my rights as a research subject, I can contact Kathleen Gilbert at 936-294-2395 or by email at kgilbert@shsu.edu I have received a copy of this consent form.

Your name	(printed):	

Signature:	Date:
AUDIO RECORDING RELEASE	CONSENT
in this research project for transcript your recording at any time during the	rding will be made of you during your participation on purposes only. You have the ability to review research process. Audio files will be permanently You may request to stop the recording at any time or g.
Your name (printed):	
Signature:	Date:

APPENDIX C

Photo Reproduction Consent Form

This consent form concerns the submission of three photographs that you provided and/or agreed to participate in, to Kathleen Gilbert as part of her dissertation research, College Student Perspectives of Food Insecurity during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Photo Elicitation Narrative Inquiry. Submitted photographs could be used in the form of reports, presentations, or publications from the research. Please read the statements below, and sign one of the statements to indicate the level of consent to which the photographs can be utilized. Under no circumstance will photographs be used without your consent.

Please read, and sign one of the statements below:

1. I give my consent for these original photographs to be viewed, reproduced for educational purposes, in reports, presentations, and publications related to the research, College Student Perspectives of Food Insecurity during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Photo Elicitation Narrative Inquiry. I understand NO identifiable information or images will be used with the photographs.

Your name (printed):	
Signature:	Date:
OR	
2. I would like to give permission t	o publish some, but not all, of the photos submitted.
I give my consent for photo(s) (che	ck the photograph):
Photo 1	
Photo 2	
Photo 3	
	tional purposes, in reports, presentations, and
	College Student Perspectives of Food Insecurity Photo Elicitation Narrative Inquiry. I understand No.
identifiable information or images	± •
identificate information of images	will be used with the photographs.
Your name (printed):	
Signature:	Date:
OR	
3. I do not wish any photographs t related to the research, College Str COVID-19 Pandemic: A Photo Eli	ident Perspectives of Food Insecurity during the
Your name (printed):	

Signature:	Date:
------------	-------

Thank you for participating this research. If you have any questions or concerns about this form or about the study or your participation in it, please do not hesitate to contact Kathleen Gilbert at (936)-294-2309 or kgilbert@shsu.edu

APPENDIX D

College Student Perspectives of Food Insecurity During the COVID-19 Pandemic Interview Protocols

Introduction

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this study on College Student Perspectives of Food Insecurity during the COVID-19 Pandemic. You have been selected to participate based on your utilization of the on-campus food pantry at your institution at least once during March 15, 2020 - December 15, 2020 time period. I look forward to learning more about your experiences and perspectives, and I appreciate your time and willingness to be involved in the study.

Purpose

The purpose of this research is to gain awareness into how the intersecting social identities of students who experience food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recession, what internal and external campus support systems were utilized to meet their needs, higher education's response to the pandemic, and how they perceive food insecurity during this time has influenced their academic performance. The study is being conducted for a dissertation in partial fulfillment for the requirements of the Ed.D. for the Higher Education Leadership program at the Sam Houston State University. Feel free to communicate your experiences and perspectives, as you feel comfortable.

Guidelines

Based on the informed consent document we have reviewed, and you have signed, each interview will be audio recorded and will remain confidential. When you signed up for the study you selected the pseudonym [Name.] Is this still ok? Furthermore, it is suggested that you try to avoid, to the best of your ability, mentioning any identifying information of yourself and others (i.e., names and locations). Instead, please consider using pseudonyms, and using generic terms for locations. During the interview process, please notify me if you would like to take a break, halt the interview, or prefer not to answer any questions. You are able to add or clarify any experiences throughout the interview process. After each interview, you will be presented with my transcription of all of your interview responses, which you may review to provide further clarification or correct for any errors.

Note: The two interviews are semi-structured. While the following questions will be used, they are seen as probing or for clarification. Questions will be adjusted, or additional follow-up questions will be asked depending on how each participant discusses their experiences and perspectives.

First Interview

Background Questions

1. How would you describe your social identities (i.e., race, class, gender, sexual orientation, religion, and (dis)ability)?

- 2. Can you discuss how each of these identities have impacted your life?
- 3. Can you explain why you chose to attend this institution?
- 4. Can you tell me about your college experience so far?
- 5. What has been your experience, if any, with food insecurity prior to attending college?
- 6. Were you employed prior to and/or during the pandemic?
- 7. What financial support were you receiving prior to the start of the pandemic/what was your economic situation?

Primary Questions

- 1. What does food insecurity mean to you?
- 2. What was your experience with food insecurity, if any, prior to the start of the pandemic and economic recession?
- 3. What has been your experience with food insecurity since the start of the pandemic and economic recession?
- 4. How has your institution's response to the pandemic influenced your experience with food insecurity?
- 5. How do your social identities influence your food insecurity?
- 6. How did your social identities influence resources you sought out?
- 7. How did you cope with challenges brought on by the global pandemic?
- 8. What support systems are you using to cope with food insecurity during the pandemic and economic recession?
- 9. What methods or support systems, if any, have you heard about, but not utilized during the pandemic for food insecurity and why did you not seek those services?
- 10. To what extent, if any, did support systems help you navigate these challenges?
- 11. To what extent, if any, did food insecurity affect your academic performance during the pandemic?
- 12. What barriers, if any, have you encountered related to accessing or using financial and academic institutional resources?
- 13. Is there anything else you would like to share?

Photo Elicitation

Upon conclusion of the first interview, participants will be asked to take and submit three original photographs. Photos may be taken by their cellular device or camera. The following are the prompts for each of the three photos:

- 1. Take a photograph that represents what food insecurity has been like for you during the pandemics
- 2. Take a photograph that represents how your social identities have influenced your food insecurity while being a college student.
- 3. Take a photograph that represents how food insecurity has been influenced by your institution's response to the pandemic.

Photographs to be submitted are required to be an original single photo in a standard format. Photographic alteration will be allowed (i.e., filters, black and white, blurring effects, etc.). You will be given two weeks to submit the three photographs as a joint photographic expert group (JPEG) file via email. You will be given photograph consent forms should you photograph an individual(s) for them to give their consent in the use of

their photo and will submit those via email to me. No photograph showing an individual will be allowed if the consent form is not submitted. Their photograph will be altered to de-identify any identifiable information.

Interview Two

- 1. Can you describe what the image is?
- 2. How is this image symbolic to the prompt given?
- 3. What is the importance of the image?
- 4. Can you describe the feelings or emotions produce when capturing and selecting this photo?
- 5. How does this image connect your social identities to your food insecurity?
- 6. Is there anything else you would like to share about this photo?

APPENDIX E

Online Interest Form

Thank you for interest in participating in this research study about the experiences of food insecure college students during the COVID-19 pandemic. Data from this research will inform college and university administrators, legislators, food programs, and non-profit groups on the experiences of college students facing food insecurity during a global pandemic. Insights may help inform policy, practice, and preparation for future pandemics and disasters.

You will not be identified by name when information is analyzed or in any findings that come from the study. Participation in this study is completely voluntary. You may choose not to participate at all or withdraw your participation and data from the study at any time. Your participation will be kept confidential and will not impact your academic standing for participating. If you have any questions about this research, you may contact Kathleen Gilbert (kgilbert@shsu.edu or 936-294-2309).

Please complete the form below and I will be in contact with you to set up your interview.

- 1. First and Last Name:
- 2. Gender Pronouns (i.e., he, she, they, zi):
- 3. Email:
- 4. Phone:
- 5. What is your preferred method of contact (email or phone)?
- 6. Please provide a pseudonym (alias/name other than your own to which you wish to be called in research analysis/presentation)?
- 7. What is your
- a. race?
- b. ethnicity?
- c. gender?
- d. sexual orientation?
- 8. Are you an international student?
- 9. Are you a DACA recipient?
- 10. Are you eligible for federally funded financial aid (i.e., Pell Grant, work-study, or supplemental educational opportunity grants)?
- 11. Do you identify as having a (dis)ability (i.e., health, learning, or emotional)?

APPENDIX F

Authorization and Release for Use of Image, Voice, Performance, or Likeness

(printed name)
have agreed to have my photo taken and submitted as part of the dissertation: College student perspectives of food insecurity during the COVID-19 pandemic: A photoelicitation narrative inquiry at Sam Houston State University.
I permit, authorize and release (Insert Study Participant's Name), Kathleen Gilbert (principle investigator), and Sam Houston State University, a component institution of The Texas State University System, and each entity's employees, agents, representatives volunteers, contractors, successors and assigns (the "RELEASED PARTIES") to create and/or obtain and use my photograph, voice, written or verbally expressed words, name, a video and/or audio recording or other likeness of myself ("My Likeness") for use by the RELEASED PARTIES in facilitating and completing the course assignment.
authorize the RELEASED PARTIES to make one or more photographs, audio recordings, videotape or disk presentation, or other electronic reproductions of My Likeness in accordance with this Authorization for Use of Image, Voice, Performance, or Likeness ("this Authorization"). My Likeness may be copied/recorded and distributed by means of various media, including, but not limited to, public exhibitions, video presentations, news releases, mail-outs, e-mails, signs, brochures, placement on websites and/or other electronic delivery, or promotion on any and all other media. I waive any right to inspect or approve the finished product or material in which the RELEASED PARTIES may eventually use My Likeness.
I understand that, although the RELEASED PARTIES will endeavor to use My Likeness in accordance with standards of good judgment, once published or distributed, My Likeness is no longer under the control or supervision of the RELEASED PARTIES. Accordingly, I release the RELEASED PARTIES from any and all liability related to us of My Likeness in print, exhibition, or any and all other media. I also understand that any withdrawal of my permission for use of My Likeness is not effective for actions already taken upon this Authorization and Release. I have read and understand the conditions of this Authorization.
Signed:
Printed or Typed Name:
Date:

APPENDIX G

IRB Approval



Date: Mar 9, 2021 11:23:29 AM CST

TO: Kathleen Gilbert Paul Eaton

FROM: SHSU IRB

PROJECT TITLE: College Student Perspectives of Food Insecurity during the COVID-

19 Pandemic: A Photo-Elicitation Qualitative Study

PROTOCOL #: IRB-2020-378 SUBMISSION TYPE: Initial

ACTION: Approved

DECISION DATE: March 9, 2021

ADMINISTRATIVE CHECK-IN DATE: March 9, 2022

EXPEDITED REVIEW CATEGORY: 7. Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies.

Restart 2020 (COVID-19 update): The IRB has released specific guidelines for easing or transitioning existing IRB-approved studies or any new study subject to IRB oversight to in-person data collection. Please be advised, before ANY in-person data collection can begin, you must have IRB approval specifically for the conduct of this type of research. Please see the IRB response page for COVID-19 here.

ATTENTION RESEARCHERS! Have IRB questions and want to meet? Here's my scheduling link. Go ahead and choose a time/date that works for you.

Greetings,

The above-referenced submission has been reviewed by the IRB and it has been Approved. This study received expedited review, and the IRB determined that a renewal submission is needed, but only in the form of an administrative check-in submission. You will receive an email notification on the anniversary of this study approval, which will be on March 9, 2022. This study approval is based on an appropriate risk/benefit ratio and a project design wherein the risks have been minimized. All research must be conducted in accordance with this approved submission.

Since Cayuse IRB does not currently possess the ability to provide a "stamp of

approval" on any recruitment or consent documentation, it is the strong recommendation of this office to please include the following approval language in the footer of those recruitment and consent documents: IRB-2020-378/March 9, 2021/March 9, 2022.

Modifications: Please note that any revision to previously approved materials must be approved by this committee prior to initiation. Please submit a Modification Submission through Cayuse IRB for this procedure.

Incidents: All UNANTICIPATED PROBLEMS involving risks to subjects or others and SERIOUS and UNEXPECTED adverse events must be reported promptly to this office. Please submit an Incident Submission through Cayuse IRB for this procedure. All Department of Health and Human Services and sponsor reporting requirements should also be followed.

Study Administrative Check-In: Based on the risks, this project does require a renewal in the form of an Administrative Check-In procedure. This means you are required to administratively check in with the IRB on an annual basis. March 9, 2022 is the anniversary of the review of your protocol. To get started with your next Administrative Check-In procedure, you will submit a Renewal Submission through Cayuse IRB. A reminder email will be sent to you on the anniversary of your most recent approval of College Student Perspectives of Food Insecurity during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Photo-Elicitation Qualitative Study.

Please note that all research records should be retained for a minimum of three years after the completion of the project. If you have any questions, please contact the Sharla Miles at 936-294-4875 or irb@shsu.edu. Please include your protocol number in all correspondence with this committee.

Sincerely,

Chase Young, Ph.D. Chair, IRB Hannah R. Gerber, Ph.D. Co-Chair, IRB

VITA

KATHLEEN CROWLEY GILBERT

Student medical application advisement

Sam Houston State University

EDUCATION

Ed.D. Higher Education Leadership	2021
Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas M.A. Health Education	2015
Stephen F. Austin State University, Nacogdoches, Texas B.S. Health Sciences Minor: Biology	2008
AWARDS	
College of Health Sciences - Staff Excellence Staff Council Staff Award SERA Graduate Student Paper Award	2020 2020 2019
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE	
College of Health Sciences – Sam Houston State University Administrative Associate II Advisor to the Food Pantry College Assessment College Program Development	2018 – Present
 Communications Coordinator Coordinator of College Events Marketing and Media Coordinator for the College Web Coordinator for the College 	2016 – 2018
 Internship Coordinator Developed and maintain MOU's with various internship locations. Developed online instruction for course 	2016 – 2016
Administrative Associate I • Marketing of various degree programs	2014 – 2016

Correctional Management Institute of Texas

Program Specialist

2011 - 2014

- Develop corrections trainings
- Provide program support: develop and maintain budgets
- Secretariat for the Texas Probation Association

TEACHING EXPERIENCE

Adjunct Professor

2015 - 2017

- HLTH 3390: Family Life & Sex Education
- HLTH 1360: Foundation Health Promotion & Health Careers

GRANTS

College of Health Sciences – Sam Houston State University

- \$25,000 PI Powell Foundation funding for Community and College Food Insecurity Initiatives, 2021
- \$20,000 PI Joint Admissions Medical Program (JAMP) 2017
- \$20,000 PI Joint Admission Medical Program (JAMP), 2016
- \$150,000 Co-PI Collegiate Hispanic and African American Mentoring Program (CHAAMP), 2016

PEER REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

Walling, M., Van De Walker, D., Gilbert, K., Olmstead, M., & Lane, F. (2020). Student experiences in an online first-year seminar paired with remedial mathematics. *Journal of College Orientation, Transition, and Retention*, 27(1). https://doi.org/10.24926/jcotr.v27i1.2442

PRESENTATIONS

"What happens if I can't pay?": Interdepartmental Perspectives on Supporting International Students Facing Financial Insecurity During COVID-19

Co-Presenter

Universality of Global Education Conference

2021

2019

Student Experiences in an Online First-Year Seminar Paired with remedial Mathematics

Co-Presenter

Southwest Education Research Association Conference

OTHER COMPETENCIES

The Grapevine Newsletter

Editor in Chief 2014

Texas Probation Association Journal

Co-Editor **2011-2014**